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Chapter 33 

French and Indian War 

The French and Indian War (1754–1763) pitted the colonies of 

British America against those of New France, each side 

supported by military units from the parent country and by 

Native American allies. At the start of the war, the French 

colonies had a population of roughly 60,000 settlers, compared 

with 2 million in the British colonies. The outnumbered French 

particularly depended on the natives.  

The European nations declared a wider war upon one another 

overseas in 1756, two years into the French and Indian War, 

and many view the French and Indian War as being merely the 

American theater of the worldwide Seven Years' War of 1756–

63; however, the French and Indian War is viewed in the 

United States as a singular conflict which was not associated 

with any European war. French Canadians call it Guerre de la 

Conquête ('War of the Conquest').  

The British colonists were supported at various times by the 

Iroquois, Catawba, and Cherokee tribes, and the French 

colonists were supported by Wabanaki Confederacy member 

tribes Abenaki and Mi'kmaq, and the Algonquin, Lenape, 

Ojibwa, Ottawa, Shawnee, and Wyandot tribes. Fighting took 

place primarily along the frontiers between New France and the 

British colonies, from the Province of Virginia in the south to 

Newfoundland in the north. It began with a dispute over 

control of the confluence of the Allegheny River and 

Monongahela River called the Forks of the Ohio, and the site of 

the French Fort Duquesne at the location that later became 
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Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. The dispute erupted into violence in 

the Battle of Jumonville Glen in May 1754, during which 

Virginia militiamen under the command of 22-year-old George 

Washington ambushed a French patrol.  

In 1755, six colonial governors met with General Edward 

Braddock, the newly arrived British Army commander, and 

planned a four-way attack on the French. None succeeded, and 

the main effort by Braddock proved a disaster; he lost the 

Battle of the Monongahela on July 9, 1755, and died a few 

days later. British operations failed in the frontier areas of the 

Province of Pennsylvania and the Province of New York during 

1755–57 due to a combination of poor management, internal 

divisions, effective Canadian scouts, French regular forces, 

and Native warrior allies. In 1755, the British captured Fort 

Beauséjour on the border separating Nova Scotia from Acadia, 

and they ordered the expulsion of the Acadians (1755–64) soon 

afterwards. Orders for the deportation were given by 

Commander-in-Chief William Shirley without direction from 

Great Britain. The Acadians were expelled, both those captured 

in arms and those who had sworn the loyalty oath to the King. 

Natives likewise were driven off the land to make way for 

settlers from New England.  

The British colonial government fell in the region of Nova 

Scotia after several disastrous campaigns in 1757, including a 

failed expedition against Louisbourg and the Siege of Fort 

William Henry; this last was followed by the Natives torturing 

and massacring their colonial victims. William Pitt came to 

power and significantly increased British military resources in 

the colonies at a time when France was unwilling to risk large 

convoys to aid the limited forces that they had in New France, 
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preferring to concentrate their forces against Prussia and its 

allies who were now engaged in the Seven Years' War in 

Europe. The conflict in Ohio ended in 1758 with the British–

American victory in the Ohio Country. Between 1758 and 1760, 

the British military launched a campaign to capture French 

Canada. They succeeded in capturing territory in surrounding 

colonies and ultimately the city of Quebec (1759). The following 

year the British were victorious in the Montreal Campaign in 

which the French ceded Canada in accordance with the Treaty 

of Paris (1763).  

France also ceded its territory east of the Mississippi to Great 

Britain, as well as French Louisiana west of the Mississippi 

River to its ally Spain in compensation for Spain's loss to 

Britain of Spanish Florida. (Spain had ceded Florida to Britain 

in exchange for the return of Havana, Cuba.) France's colonial 

presence north of the Caribbean was reduced to the islands of 

Saint Pierre and Miquelon, confirming Great Britain's position 

as the dominant colonial power in northern America.  

Nomenclature 

In British America, wars were often named after the sitting 

British monarch, such as King William's War or Queen Anne's 

War. There had already been a King George's War in the 1740s 

during the reign of King George II, so British colonists named 

this conflict after their opponents, and it became known as the 

French and Indian War. This continues as the standard name 

for the war in the United States, although Indians fought on 

both sides of the conflict. It also led into the Seven Years' War 

overseas, a much larger conflict between France and Great 

Britain that did not involve the American colonies; some 
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historians make a connection between the French and Indian 

War and the Seven Years' War overseas, but most residents of 

the United States consider them as two separate conflicts—

only one of which involved the American colonies, and 

American historians generally use the traditional name. Less 

frequently used names for the war include the Fourth 

Intercolonial War and the Great War for the Empire.  

In Europe, the French and Indian War is conflated into the 

Seven Years' War and not given a separate name. "Seven Years" 

refers to events in Europe, from the official declaration of war 

in 1756—two years after the French and Indian War had 

started—to the signing of the peace treaty in 1763. The French 

and Indian War in America, by contrast, was largely concluded 

in six years from the Battle of Jumonville Glen in 1754 to the 

capture of Montreal in 1760.  

Canadians conflate both the European and American conflicts 

into the Seven Years' War (Guerre de Sept Ans). French 

Canadians also use the term "War of Conquest" (Guerre de la 

Conquête), since it is the war in which New France was 

conquered by the British and became part of the British 

Empire. In Quebec, this term was promoted by popular 

historians Jacques Lacoursière and Denis Vaugeois, who 

borrowed from the ideas of Maurice Séguin in considering this 

war as a dramatic tipping point of French Canadian identity 

and nationhood.  

Background 

At this time, North America east of the Mississippi River was 

largely claimed by either Great Britain or France. Large areas 
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had no colonial settlements. The French population numbered 

about 75,000 and was heavily concentrated along the St. 

Lawrence River valley, with some also in Acadia (present-day 

New Brunswick and parts of Nova Scotia), including Île Royale 

(Cape Breton Island). Fewer lived in New Orleans; Biloxi, 

Mississippi; Mobile, Alabama; and small settlements in the 

Illinois Country, hugging the east side of the Mississippi River 

and its tributaries. French fur traders and trappers traveled 

throughout the St. Lawrence and Mississippi watersheds, did 

business with local Indian tribes, and often married Indian 

women. Traders married daughters of chiefs, creating high-

ranking unions.  

British settlers outnumbered the French 20 to 1 with a 

population of about 1.5 million ranged along the Atlantic coast 

of the continent from Nova Scotia and the Colony of 

Newfoundland in the north to the Province of Georgia in the 

south. Many of the older colonies' land claims extended 

arbitrarily far to the west, as the extent of the continent was 

unknown at the time when their provincial charters were 

granted. Their population centers were along the coast, but the 

settlements were growing into the interior. The British 

captured Nova Scotia from France in 1713, which still had a 

significant French-speaking population. Britain also claimed 

Rupert's Land where the Hudson's Bay Company traded for 

furs with local Indian tribes.  

Between the French and British colonists, large areas were 

dominated by Indian tribes. To the north, the Mi'kmaq and the 

Abenakis were engaged in Father Le Loutre's War and still held 

sway in parts of Nova Scotia, Acadia, and the eastern portions 

of the province of Canada, as well as much of Maine. The 
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Iroquois Confederation dominated much of upstate New York 

and the Ohio Country, although Ohio also included 

Algonquian-speaking populations of Delaware and Shawnee, as 

well as Iroquoian-speaking Mingos. These tribes were formally 

under Iroquois rule and were limited by them in their authority 

to make agreements. The Iroquois Confederation initially held 

a stance of neutrality to ensure continued trade with both 

French and British. Though maintaining this stance proved 

difficult as the Iroquois Confederation tribes sided and 

supported French or British causes depending on which side 

provided the most beneficial trade.  

The Southeast interior was dominated by Siouan-speaking 

Catawbas, Muskogee-speaking Creeks and Choctaw, and the 

Iroquoian-speaking Cherokee tribes. When war broke out, the 

French colonists used their trading connections to recruit 

fighters from tribes in western portions of the Great Lakes 

region, which was not directly subject to the conflict between 

the French and British; these included the Hurons, 

Mississaugas, Ojibwas, Winnebagos, and Potawatomi.  

The British colonists were supported in the war by the Iroquois 

Six Nations and also by the Cherokees, until differences 

sparked the Anglo-Cherokee War in 1758. In 1758, the 

Province of Pennsylvania successfully negotiated the Treaty of 

Easton in which a number of tribes in the Ohio Country 

promised neutrality in exchange for land concessions and other 

considerations. Most of the other northern tribes sided with 

the French, their primary trading partner and supplier of arms. 

The Creeks and Cherokees were subject to diplomatic efforts by 

both the French and British to gain either their support or 

neutrality in the conflict.  
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At this time, Spain claimed only the province of Florida in 

eastern America. It controlled Cuba and other territories in the 

West Indies that became military objectives in the Seven Years' 

War. Florida's European population was a few hundred, 

concentrated in St. Augustine.  

There were no French regular army troops stationed in America 

at the onset of war. New France was defended by about 3,000 

troupes de la marine, companies of colonial regulars (some of 

whom had significant woodland combat experience). The 

colonial government recruited militia support when needed. 

The British had few troops. Most of the British colonies 

mustered local militia companies to deal with Indian threats, 

generally ill trained and available only for short periods, but 

they did not have any standing forces. Virginia, by contrast, 

had a large frontier with several companies of British regulars.  

When hostilities began, the British colonial governments 

preferred operating independently of one another and of the 

government in London. This situation complicated negotiations 

with Indian tribes, whose territories often encompassed land 

claimed by multiple colonies. As the war progressed, the 

leaders of the British Army establishment tried to impose 

constraints and demands on the colonial administrations.  

Céloron's expedition 

New France's Governor-General Roland-Michel Barrin de La 

Galissonière was concerned about the incursion and expanding 

influence in the Ohio Country of British colonial traders such 

as George Croghan. In June 1747, he ordered Pierre-Joseph 
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Céloron to lead a military expedition through the area. Its 

objectives were:  

• to reaffirm to New France's Indian allies that their 

trading arrangements with colonists were exclusive 

to those authorized by New France 

• to confirm Indian assistance in asserting and 

maintaining the French claim to the territories which 

French explorers had claimed 

• to discourage any alliances between Britain and local 

Indian tribes 

• to impress the Indians with a French show of force 

against British colonial settler incursion, 

unauthorized trading expeditions, and general 

trespass against French claims 

Céloron's expedition force consisted of about 200 Troupes de la 

marine and 30 Indians, and they covered about 3,000 miles 

(4,800 km) between June and November 1749. They went up 

the St. Lawrence, continued along the northern shore of Lake 

Ontario, crossed the portage at Niagara, and followed the 

southern shore of Lake Erie. At the Chautauqua Portage near 

Barcelona, New York, the expedition moved inland to the 

Allegheny River, which it followed to the site of Pittsburgh. 

There Céloron buried lead plates engraved with the French 

claim to the Ohio Country. Whenever he encountered British 

colonial merchants or fur-traders, he informed them of the 

French claims on the territory and told them to leave.  

Céloron's expedition arrived at Logstown where the Indians in 

the area informed him that they owned the Ohio Country and 

that they would trade with the British colonists regardless of 
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the French. He continued south until his expedition reached 

the confluence of the Ohio and the Miami rivers, which lay just 

south of the village of Pickawillany, the home of the Miami 

chief known as "Old Briton". Céloron threatened Old Briton 

with severe consequences if he continued to trade with British 

colonists, but Old Briton ignored the warning. Céloron 

returned disappointedly to Montreal in November 1749.  

Céloron wrote an extensively detailed report. "All I can say is 

that the Natives of these localities are very badly disposed 

towards the French," he wrote, "and are entirely devoted to the 

English. I don't know in what way they could be brought back." 

Even before his return to Montreal, reports on the situation in 

the Ohio Country were making their way to London and Paris, 

each side proposing that action be taken. Massachusetts 

governor William Shirley was particularly forceful, stating that 

British colonists would not be safe as long as the French were 

present.  

Negotiations 

The War of the Austrian Succession ended in 1748 with the 

signing of the Treaty of Aix-la-Chapelle, which was primarily 

focused on resolving issues in Europe. The issues of conflicting 

territorial claims between British and French colonies were 

turned over to a commission, but it reached no decision. 

Frontier areas were claimed by both sides, from Nova Scotia 

and Acadia in the north to the Ohio Country in the south. The 

disputes also extended into the Atlantic Ocean, where both 

powers wanted access to the rich fisheries of the Grand Banks 

off Newfoundland.  
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In 1749, the British government gave land to the Ohio 

Company of Virginia for the purpose of developing trade and 

settlements in the Ohio Country. The grant required that it 

settle 100 families in the territory and construct a fort for their 

protection. But the territory was also claimed by Pennsylvania, 

and both colonies began pushing for action to improve their 

respective claims.  

In 1750, Christopher Gist explored the Ohio territory, acting 

on behalf of both Virginia and the company, and he opened 

negotiations with the Indian tribes at Logstown. He completed 

the 1752 Treaty of Logstown in which the local Indians agreed 

to terms through their "Half-King" Tanacharison and an 

Iroquois representative. These terms included permission to 

build a strong house at the mouth of the Monongahela River on 

the modern site of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania.  

Escalation in Ohio Country 

Governor-General of New France Marquis de la Jonquière died 

on March 17, 1752, and he was temporarily replaced by 

Charles le Moyne de Longueuil. His permanent replacement 

was to be the Marquis Duquesne, but he did not arrive in New 

France until 1752 to take over the post. The continuing British 

activity in the Ohio territories prompted Longueuil to dispatch 

another expedition to the area under the command of Charles 

Michel de Langlade, an officer in the Troupes de la Marine. 

Langlade was given 300 men, including French-Canadians and 

warriors of the Ottawa tribe. His objective was to punish the 

Miami people of Pickawillany for not following Céloron's orders 

to cease trading with the British. On June 21, the French war 

party attacked the trading center at Pickawillany, capturing 
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three traders and killing 14 Miami Indians, including Old 

Briton. He was reportedly ritually cannibalized by some 

Indians in the expedition party.  

Construction of French fortifications 

In the spring of 1753, Paul Marin de la Malgue was given 

command of a 2,000-man force of Troupes de la Marine and 

Indians. His orders were to protect the King's land in the Ohio 

Valley from the British. Marin followed the route that Céloron 

had mapped out four years earlier. Céloron, however, had 

limited the record of French claims to the burial of lead plates, 

whereas Marin constructed and garrisoned forts. He first 

constructed Fort Presque Isle on Lake Erie's south shore near 

Erie, Pennsylvania, and he had a road built to the headwaters 

of LeBoeuf Creek. He then constructed a second fort at Fort Le 

Boeuf in Waterford, Pennsylvania, designed to guard the 

headwaters of LeBoeuf Creek. As he moved south, he drove off 

or captured British traders, alarming both the British and the 

Iroquois. Tanaghrisson was a chief of the Mingo Indians, who 

were remnants of Iroquois and other tribes who had been 

driven west by colonial expansion. He intensely disliked the 

French whom he accused of killing and eating his father. He 

traveled to Fort Le Boeuf and threatened the French with 

military action, which Marin contemptuously dismissed.  

The Iroquois sent runners to the manor of William Johnson in 

upstate New York, who was the British Superintendent for 

Indian Affairs in the New York region and beyond. Johnson was 

known to the Iroquois as Warraghiggey, meaning "he who does 

great things." He spoke their languages and had become a 

respected honorary member of the Iroquois Confederacy in the 
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area, and he was made a colonel of the Iroquois in 1746; he 

was later commissioned as a colonel of the Western New York 

Militia.  

The Indian representatives and Johnson met with Governor 

George Clinton and officials from some of the other American 

colonies at Albany, New York. Mohawk Chief Hendrick was the 

speaker of their tribal council, and he insisted that the British 

abide by their obligations and block French expansion. Clinton 

did not respond to his satisfaction, and Hendrick said that the 

"Covenant Chain" was broken, a long-standing friendly 

relationship between the Iroquois Confederacy and the British 

Crown.  

Virginia's response 

Governor Robert Dinwiddie of Virginia was an investor in the 

Ohio Company, which stood to lose money if the French held 

their claim. He ordered 21-year-old Major George Washington 

(whose brother was another Ohio Company investor) of the 

Virginia Regiment to warn the French to leave Virginia territory 

in October 1753. Washington left with a small party, picking 

up Jacob Van Braam as an interpreter, Christopher Gist (a 

company surveyor working in the area), and a few Mingos led 

by Tanaghrisson. On December 12, Washington and his men 

reached Fort Le Boeuf.  

Jacques Legardeur de Saint-Pierre succeeded Marin as 

commander of the French forces after Marin died on October 

29, and he invited Washington to dine with him. Over dinner, 

Washington presented Saint-Pierre with the letter from 

Dinwiddie demanding an immediate French withdrawal from 
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the Ohio Country. Saint-Pierre said, "As to the Summons you 

send me to retire, I do not think myself obliged to obey it." He 

told Washington that France's claim to the region was superior 

to that of the British, since René-Robert Cavelier, Sieur de La 

Salle had explored the Ohio Country nearly a century earlier.  

Washington's party left Fort Le Boeuf early on December 16 

and arrived in Williamsburg on January 16, 1754. He stated in 

his report, "The French had swept south", detailing the steps 

which they had taken to fortify the area, and their intention to 

fortify the confluence of the Allegheny and Monongahela rivers.  

Course of war 

Even before Washington returned, Dinwiddie had sent a 

company of 40 men under William Trent to that point where 

they began construction of a small stockaded fort in the early 

months of 1754. Governor Duquesne sent additional French 

forces under Claude-Pierre Pécaudy de Contrecœur to relieve 

Saint-Pierre during the same period, and Contrecœur led 500 

men south from Fort Venango on April 5, 1754. These forces 

arrived at the fort on April 16, but Contrecœur generously 

allowed Trent's small company to withdraw. He purchased their 

construction tools to continue building what became Fort 

Duquesne.  

Early engagements 

Dinwiddie had ordered Washington to lead a larger force to 

assist Trent in his work, and Washington learned of Trent's 

retreat while he was en route. Mingo sachem Tanaghrisson had 

promised support to the British, so Washington continued 
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toward Fort Duquesne and met with him. He then learned of a 

French scouting party in the area from a warrior sent by 

Tanaghrisson, so he added Tanaghrisson's dozen Mingo 

warriors to his own party. Washington's combined force of 52 

ambushed 40 Canadiens (French colonists of New France) on 

the morning of May 28 in what became known as the Battle of 

Jumonville Glen. They killed many of the Canadians, including 

their commanding officer Joseph Coulon de Jumonville, whose 

head was reportedly split open by Tanaghrisson with a 

tomahawk. Historian Fred Anderson suggests that 

Tanaghrisson was acting to gain the support of the British and 

to regain authority over his own people. They had been 

inclined to support the French, with whom they had long 

trading relationships. One of Tanaghrisson's men told 

Contrecoeur that Jumonville had been killed by British musket 

fire. Historians generally consider the Battle of Jumonville 

Glen as the opening battle of the French and Indian War in 

North America, and the start of hostilities in the Ohio valley.  

Following the battle, Washington pulled back several miles and 

established Fort Necessity, which the Canadians attacked 

under the command of Jumonville's brother at the Battle of 

Fort Necessity on July 3. Washington surrendered and 

negotiated a withdrawal under arms. One of his men reported 

that the Canadian force was accompanied by Shawnee, 

Delaware, and Mingo warriors—just those whom Tanaghrisson 

was seeking to influence.  

News of the two battles reached England in August. After 

several months of negotiations, the government of the Duke of 

Newcastle decided to send an army expedition the following 

year to dislodge the French. They chose Major General Edward 
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Braddock to lead the expedition. Word of the British military 

plans leaked to France well before Braddock's departure for 

North America. In response, King Louis XV dispatched six 

regiments to New France under the command of Baron Dieskau 

in 1755. The British sent out their fleet in February 1755, 

intending to blockade French ports, but the French fleet had 

already sailed. Admiral Edward Hawke detached a fast 

squadron to North America in an attempt to intercept them.  

In a second British action, Admiral Edward Boscawen fired on 

the French ship Alcide on June 8, 1755, capturing her and two 

troop ships. The British harassed French shipping throughout 

1755, seizing ships and capturing seamen. These actions 

contributed to the eventual formal declarations of war in 

spring 1756.  

An early important political response to the opening of 

hostilities was the convening of the Albany Congress in June 

and July, 1754. The goal of the congress was to formalize a 

unified front in trade and negotiations with various Indians, 

since allegiance of the various tribes and nations was seen to 

be pivotal in the war that was unfolding. The plan that the 

delegates agreed to was neither ratified by the colonial 

legislatures nor approved of by the Crown. Nevertheless, the 

format of the congress and many specifics of the plan became 

the prototype for confederation during the War of 

Independence.  

British campaigns, 1755 

• The British formed an aggressive plan of operations 

for 1755. General Braddock was to lead the 
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expedition to Fort Duquesne, while Massachusetts 

governor William Shirley was given the task of 

fortifying Fort Oswego and attacking Fort Niagara. 

Sir William Johnson was to capture Fort St. Frédéric 

at Crown Point, New York, and Lieutenant Colonel 

Robert Monckton was to capture Fort Beauséjour to 

the east on the frontier between Nova Scotia and 

Acadia. 

Braddock led about 1,500 army troops and provincial militia 

on the Braddock expedition in June 1755 to take Fort 

Duquesne, with George Washington as one of his aides. The 

expedition was a disaster.  

It was attacked by French regulars, Canadian Militiamen, and 

Indian warriors ambushing them from hiding places up in trees 

and behind logs, and Braddock called for a retreat. He was 

killed and approximately 1,000 British soldiers were killed or 

injured. The remaining 500 British troops retreated to Virginia, 

led by Washington. Washington and Thomas Gage played key 

roles in organizing the retreat—two future opponents in the 

American Revolutionary War.  

The British government initiated a plan to increase their 

military capability in preparation for war following news of 

Braddock's defeat and the start of parliament's session in 

November 1755. Among the early legislative measures were the 

Recruiting Act 1756, the Commissions to Foreign Protestants 

Act 1756 for the Royal American Regiment, the Navigation Act 

1756, and the Continuance of Acts 1756. England passed the 

Naval Prize Act 1756 following the proclamation of war on May 

17 to allow the capture of ships and establish privateering.  
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The French acquired a copy of the British war plans, including 

the activities of Shirley and Johnson. Shirley's efforts to fortify 

Oswego were bogged down in logistical difficulties, exacerbated 

by his inexperience in managing large expeditions. In 

conjunction, he was made aware that the French were massing 

for an attack on Fort Oswego in his absence when he planned 

to attack Fort Niagara. As a response, he left garrisons at 

Oswego, Fort Bull, and Fort Williams, the last two located on 

the Oneida Carry between the Mohawk River and Wood Creek 

at Rome, New York. Supplies were cached at Fort Bull for use 

in the projected attack on Niagara.  

Johnson's expedition was better organized than Shirley's, 

which was noticed by New France's governor the Marquis de 

Vaudreuil. Vaudreuil had been concerned about the extended 

supply line to the forts on the Ohio, and he had sent Baron 

Dieskau to lead the defenses at Frontenac against Shirley's 

expected attack. Vaudreuil saw Johnson as the larger threat 

and sent Dieskau to Fort St. Frédéric to meet that threat. 

Dieskau planned to attack the British encampment at Fort 

Edward at the upper end of navigation on the Hudson River, 

but Johnson had strongly fortified it, and Dieskau's Indian 

support was reluctant to attack.  

The two forces finally met in the bloody Battle of Lake George 

between Fort Edward and Fort William Henry. The battle ended 

inconclusively, with both sides withdrawing from the field. 

Johnson's advance stopped at Fort William Henry, and the 

French withdrew to Ticonderoga Point, where they began the 

construction of Fort Carillon (later renamed Fort Ticonderoga 

after the British captured it in 1759).  
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Colonel Monckton captured Fort Beauséjour in June 1755 in 

the sole British success that year, cutting off the French 

Fortress Louisbourg from land-based reinforcements.  

To cut vital supplies to Louisbourg, Nova Scotia's Governor 

Charles Lawrence ordered the deportation of the French-

speaking Acadian population from the area. Monckton's forces, 

including companies of Rogers' Rangers, forcibly removed 

thousands of Acadians, chasing down many who resisted and 

sometimes committing atrocities. Cutting off supplies to 

Louisbourg led to its demise. The Acadian resistance was 

sometimes quite stiff, in concert with Indian allies including 

the Mi'kmaq, with ongoing frontier raids against Dartmouth 

and Lunenburg, among others. The only clashes of any size 

were at Petitcodiac in 1755 and at Bloody Creek near 

Annapolis Royal in 1757, other than the campaigns to expel 

the Acadians ranging around the Bay of Fundy, on the 

Petitcodiac and St. John rivers, and Île Saint-Jean.  

French victories, 1756–1757 

• Following the death of Braddock, William Shirley 

assumed command of British forces in North 

America, and he laid out his plans for 1756 at a 

meeting in Albany in December 1755. He proposed 

renewing the efforts to capture Niagara, Crown Point, 

and Duquesne, with attacks on Fort Frontenac on 

the north shore of Lake Ontario and an expedition 

through the wilderness of the Maine district and 

down the Chaudière River to attack the city of 

Quebec. His plan, however, got bogged down by 

disagreements and disputes with others, including 
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William Johnson and New York's Governor Sir 

Charles Hardy, and consequently gained little 

support.  

Newcastle replaced him in January 1756 with Lord Loudoun, 

with Major General James Abercrombie as his second in 

command. Neither of these men had as much campaign 

experience as the trio of officers whom France sent to North 

America. French regular army reinforcements arrived in New 

France in May 1756, led by Major General Louis-Joseph de 

Montcalm and seconded by the Chevalier de Lévis and Colonel 

François-Charles de Bourlamaque, all experienced veterans 

from the War of the Austrian Succession. On May 18, 1756, 

Britain formally declared war on France, which expanded the 

war into Europe and came to be known as the Seven Years' 

War.  

Governor Vaudreuil had ambitions to become the French 

commander in chief, in addition to his role as governor, and he 

acted during the winter of 1756 before those reinforcements 

arrived. Scouts had reported the weakness of the British 

supply chain, so he ordered an attack against the forts which 

Shirley had erected at the Oneida Carry. In the Battle of Fort 

Bull, French forces destroyed the fort and large quantities of 

supplies, including 45,000 pounds of gunpowder. They set 

back any British hopes for campaigns on Lake Ontario and 

endangered the Oswego garrison, already short on supplies. 

French forces in the Ohio valley also continued to intrigue with 

Indians throughout the area, encouraging them to raid frontier 

settlements. This led to ongoing alarms along the western 

frontiers, with streams of refugees returning east to get away 

from the action.  
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The new British command was not in place until July. 

Abercrombie arrived in Albany but refused to take any 

significant actions until Loudoun approved them, and 

Montcalm took bold action against his inertia. He built on 

Vaudreuil's work harassing the Oswego garrison and executed 

a strategic feint by moving his headquarters to Ticonderoga, as 

if to presage another attack along Lake George. With 

Abercrombie pinned down at Albany, Montcalm slipped away 

and led the successful attack on Oswego in August. In the 

aftermath, Montcalm and the Indians under his command 

disagreed about the disposition of prisoners' personal effects. 

The Europeans did not consider them prizes and prevented the 

Indians from stripping the prisoners of their valuables, which 

angered the Indians.  

Loudoun was a capable administrator but a cautious field 

commander, and he planned one major operation for 1757: an 

attack on New France's capital of Quebec. He left a sizable 

force at Fort William Henry to distract Montcalm and began 

organizing for the expedition to Quebec. He was then ordered 

to attack Louisbourg first by William Pitt, the Secretary of 

State responsible for the colonies. The expedition was beset by 

delays of all kinds but was finally ready to sail from Halifax, 

Nova Scotia, in early August. In the meantime, French ships 

had escaped the British blockade of the French coast, and a 

fleet awaited Loudoun at Louisbourg which outnumbered the 

British fleet. Faced with this strength, Loudoun returned to 

New York amid news that a massacre had occurred at Fort 

William Henry.  

French irregular forces (Canadian scouts and Indians) 

harassed Fort William Henry throughout the first half of 1757. 
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In January, they ambushed British rangers near Ticonderoga. 

In February, they launched a raid against the position across 

the frozen Lake George, destroying storehouses and buildings 

outside the main fortification. In early August, Montcalm and 

7,000 troops besieged the fort, which capitulated with an 

agreement to withdraw under parole. When the withdrawal 

began, some of Montcalm's Indian allies attacked the British 

column because they were angry about the lost opportunity for 

loot, killing and capturing several hundred men, women, 

children, and slaves. The aftermath of the siege may have 

contributed to the transmission of smallpox into remote Indian 

populations, as some Indians were reported to have traveled 

from beyond the Mississippi to participate in the campaign and 

returned afterward. Modern writer William Nester believes that 

the Indians might have been exposed to European carriers, 

although no proof exists.  

British conquest, 1758–1760 

Vaudreuil and Montcalm were minimally resupplied in 1758, as 

the British blockade of the French coastline limited French 

shipping. The situation in New France was further exacerbated 

by a poor harvest in 1757, a difficult winter, and the allegedly 

corrupt machinations of François Bigot, the intendant of the 

territory. His schemes to supply the colony inflated prices and 

were believed by Montcalm to line his pockets and those of his 

associates. A massive outbreak of smallpox among western 

Indian tribes led many of them to stay away from trading in 

1758. The disease probably spread through the crowded 

conditions at William Henry after the battle; yet the Indians 

blamed the French for bringing "bad medicine" as well as 

denying them prizes at Fort William Henry.  
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Montcalm focused his meager resources on the defense of the 

St. Lawrence, with primary defenses at Carillon, Quebec, and 

Louisbourg, while Vaudreuil argued unsuccessfully for a 

continuation of the raiding tactics that had worked quite 

effectively in previous years. The British failures in North 

America combined with other failures in the European theater 

and led to Newcastle's fall from power along with the Duke of 

Cumberland, his principal military advisor.  

Newcastle and Pitt joined in an uneasy coalition in which Pitt 

dominated the military planning. He embarked on a plan for 

the 1758 campaign that was largely developed by Loudoun. He 

had been replaced by Abercrombie as commander in chief after 

the failures of 1757. Pitt's plan called for three major offensive 

actions involving large numbers of regular troops supported by 

the provincial militias, aimed at capturing the heartlands of 

New France. Two of the expeditions were successful, with Fort 

Duquesne and Louisbourg falling to sizable British forces.  

1758 

• The Forbes Expedition was a British campaign in 

September–October 1758, with 6,000 troops led by 

General John Forbes sent to drive out the French 

from the contested Ohio Country. The French 

withdrew from Fort Duquesne and left the British in 

control of the Ohio River Valley. The great French 

fortress at Louisbourg in Nova Scotia was captured 

after a siege. 

The third invasion was stopped with the improbable French 

victory in the Battle of Carillon, in which 3,600 Frenchmen 
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defeated Abercrombie's force of 18,000 regulars, militia, and 

Indian allies outside the fort which the French called Carillon 

and the British called Ticonderoga. Abercrombie saved 

something from the disaster when he sent John Bradstreet on 

an expedition that successfully destroyed Fort Frontenac, 

including caches of supplies destined for New France's western 

forts and furs destined for Europe. Abercrombie was recalled 

and replaced by Jeffery Amherst, victor at Louisbourg.  

The French had generally poor results in 1758 in most theaters 

of the war. The new foreign minister was the duc de Choiseul, 

and he decided to focus on an invasion of Britain to draw 

British resources away from North America and the European 

mainland.  

The invasion failed both militarily and politically, as Pitt again 

planned significant campaigns against New France and sent 

funds to Britain's mainland ally of Prussia, while the French 

Navy failed in the 1759 naval battles at Lagos and Quiberon 

Bay. In one piece of good fortune, some French supply ships 

did manage to depart France and elude the British blockade of 

the French coast.  

1759–1760 

The British proceeded to wage a campaign in the northwest 

frontier of Canada in an effort to cut off the French frontier 

forts to the west and south. They captured Ticonderoga and 

Fort Niagara, and they defeated the French at the Thousand 

Islands in the summer of 1759. In September 1759, James 

Wolfe defeated Montcalm in the Battle of the Plains of Abraham 
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which claimed the lives of both commanders. After the battle, 

the French capitulated the city to the British.  

In April 1760, François Gaston de Lévis led French forces to 

launch an attack to retake Quebec. Although he won the Battle 

of Sainte-Foy, Lévis' subsequent siege of Quebec ended in 

defeat when British ships arrived to relieve the garrison. After 

Lévis had retreated he was given another blow when a British 

naval victory at Restigouche brought the loss of French ships 

meant to resupply his army. In July Jeffrey Amherst then led 

British forces numbering around 18,000 men in a three 

pronged attack on Montreal. After eliminating French positions 

along the way all three forces met up and surrounded Montreal 

in September. Many Canadians deserted or surrendered their 

arms to British forces while the Native allies of the French 

sought peace and neutrality. De Lévis and the Marquis de 

Vaudreuil reluctantly signed the Articles of Capitulation of 

Montreal on September 8 which effectively completed the 

British conquest of New France.  

Sporadic engagements, 1760–1763 

Most of the fighting ended in America in 1760, although it 

continued in Europe between France and Britain. The notable 

exception was the French seizure of St. John's, Newfoundland. 

General Amherst heard of this surprise action and immediately 

dispatched troops under his nephew William Amherst, who 

regained control of Newfoundland after the Battle of Signal Hill 

in September 1762. Many of the British troops who were 

stationed in America were reassigned to participate in further 

British actions in the West Indies, including the capture of 

Spanish Havana when Spain belatedly entered the conflict on 



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 5 

841 

the side of France, and a British expedition against French 

Martinique in 1762 led by Major General Robert Monckton.  

Peace 

Governor Vaudreuil in Montreal negotiated a capitulation with 

General Amherst in September 1760. Amherst granted his 

requests that any French residents who chose to remain in the 

colony would be given freedom to continue worshiping in their 

Roman Catholic tradition, to own property, and to remain 

undisturbed in their homes. The British provided medical 

treatment for the sick and wounded French soldiers, and 

French regular troops were returned to France aboard British 

ships with an agreement that they were not to serve again in 

the present war.  

General Amherst also oversaw the transition of French forts to 

British control in the western lands. The policies which he 

introduced in those lands disturbed large numbers of Indians 

and contributed to Pontiac's Rebellion in 1763. This series of 

attacks on frontier forts and settlements required the 

continued deployment of British troops, and it was not 

resolved until 1766.  

The war in North America officially ended with the signing of 

the Treaty of Paris on 10 February 1763, and war in the 

European theater was settled by the Treaty of Hubertusburg on 

15 February 1763. The British offered France the choice of 

surrendering either its continental North American possessions 

east of the Mississippi or the Caribbean islands of Guadeloupe 

and Martinique, which had been occupied by the British. 

France chose to cede the former but was able to negotiate the 
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retention of Saint Pierre and Miquelon, two small islands in 

the Gulf of St. Lawrence, along with fishing rights in the area. 

They viewed the economic value of the Caribbean islands' 

sugar cane to be greater and easier to defend than the furs 

from the continent. French philosopher Voltaire referred to 

Canada disparagingly as nothing more than a few acres of 

snow. The British, however, were happy to take New France, as 

defence of their North American colonies would no longer be an 

issue; they also had ample places from which to obtain sugar. 

Spain traded Florida to Britain in order to regain Cuba, but 

they also gained Louisiana from France, including New 

Orleans, in compensation for their losses. Great Britain and 

Spain also agreed that navigation on the Mississippi River was 

to be open to vessels of all nations.  

Consequences 

The war changed economic, political, governmental, and social 

relations among the three European powers, their colonies, and 

the people who inhabited those territories. France and Britain 

both suffered financially because of the war, with significant 

long-term consequences.  

Britain gained control of French Canada and Acadia, colonies 

containing approximately 80,000 primarily French-speaking 

Roman Catholic residents. The deportation of Acadians 

beginning in 1755 made land available to immigrants from 

Europe and migrants from the colonies to the south. The 

British resettled many Acadians throughout its American 

provinces, but many went to France and some went to New 

Orleans, which they expected to remain French. Some were 

sent to colonize places as diverse as French Guiana and the 
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Falkland Islands, but these efforts were unsuccessful. The 

Louisiana population contributed to founding the Cajun 

population. (The French word "Acadien" changed to "Cadien" 

then to "Cajun".)  

King George III issued the Royal Proclamation of 1763 on 

October 7, 1763, which outlined the division and 

administration of the newly conquered territory, and it 

continues to govern relations to some extent between the 

government of Canada and the First Nations. Included in its 

provisions was the reservation of lands west of the Appalachian 

Mountains to its Indian population, a demarcation that was 

only a temporary impediment to a rising tide of westward-

bound settlers. The proclamation also contained provisions 

that prevented civic participation by the Roman Catholic 

Canadians 

The Quebec Act of 1774 addressed issues brought forth by 

Roman Catholic French Canadians from the 1763 

proclamation, and it transferred the Indian Reserve into the 

Province of Quebec. The Act maintained French Civil law, 

including the seigneurial system, a medieval code removed 

from France within a generation by the French Revolution. The 

Quebec Act was a major concern for the largely Protestant 

Thirteen Colonies over the advance of "popery". It is typically 

associated with other Intolerable Acts, legislation that 

eventually led to the American Revolutionary War. The Quebec 

Act served as the constitutional document for the Province of 

Quebec until it was superseded by the Constitutional Act 1791.  

The Seven Years' War nearly doubled Great Britain's national 

debt. The Crown sought sources of revenue to pay it off and 
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attempted to impose new taxes on its colonies. These attempts 

were met with increasingly stiff resistance, until troops were 

called in to enforce the Crown's authority, and they ultimately 

led to the start of the American Revolutionary War. France 

attached comparatively little value to its American possessions, 

apart from the highly profitable sugar-producing Antilles 

islands which it retained. Minister Choiseul considered that he 

had made a good deal at the Treaty of Paris, and Voltaire wrote 

that Louis XV had lost "a few acres of snow". However, the 

military defeat and the financial burden of the war weakened 

the French monarchy and contributed to the advent of the 

French Revolution in 1789.  

The elimination of French power in America meant the 

disappearance of a strong ally for some Indian tribes. The Ohio 

Country was now more available to colonial settlement due to 

the construction of military roads by Braddock and Forbes. The 

Spanish takeover of the Louisiana territory was not completed 

until 1769, and it had modest repercussions. The British 

takeover of Spanish Florida resulted in the westward migration 

of Indian tribes who did not want to do business with them. 

This migration also caused a rise in tensions between the 

Choctaw and the Creek, historic enemies who were competing 

for land. The change of control in Florida also prompted most 

of its Spanish Catholic population to leave. Most went to Cuba, 

although some Christianized Yamasee were resettled to the 

coast of Mexico.  

France returned to America in 1778 with the establishment of 

a Franco-American alliance against Great Britain in the 

American Revolutionary War, in what historian Alfred A. Cave 

describes as French "revenge for Montcalm's death".  



Chapter 34 

Seven Years' War 

The Seven Years' War (1756–1763) was a global conflict, "a 

struggle for global primacy between Britain and France", which 

also had a major effect on the Spanish Empire. In Europe, the 

conflict arose from issues left unresolved by the War of the 

Austrian Succession (1740–1748), with Prussia seeking greater 

dominance.  

Long-standing colonial rivalries pitting Britain against France 

and Spain in North America and the Caribbean islands were 

fought on a grand scale with consequential results. In Europe, 

the war broke out over territorial disputes between Prussia and 

Austria, which wanted to regain Silesia after it was captured 

by Prussia in the previous war. Britain, France and Spain 

fought both in Europe and overseas with land-based armies 

and naval forces, while Prussia sought territorial expansion in 

Europe and consolidation of its power.  

In a realignment of traditional alliances, known as the 

Diplomatic Revolution of 1756, Prussia became part of a 

coalition led by Britain, which also included long-time 

Prussian competitor Hanover. At the same time, Austria ended 

centuries of conflict by allying with France, along with Saxony, 

Sweden and Russia. Spain aligned formally with France in 

1762. Spain unsuccessfully attempted to invade Britain's ally 

Portugal, attacking with their forces facing British troops in 

Iberia. Smaller German states either joined the Seven Years' 

War or supplied mercenaries to the parties involved in the 

conflict.  
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Anglo-French conflict over their colonies in North America had 

begun in 1754 in what became known in the United States as 

the French and Indian War, a nine-year war that ended 

France's presence as a land power. It was "the most important 

event to occur in eighteenth-century North America". Spain 

entered the war in 1761, joining France in the Third Family 

Compact between the two Bourbon monarchies. The alliance 

with France was a disaster for Spain, with the loss to Britain 

of two major ports, Havana in the Caribbean and Manila in the 

Philippines, returned in the 1763 Treaty of Paris between 

France, Spain and Great Britain. In Europe the large-scale 

conflict that drew in most of the European powers was 

centered on Austria's desire to recover Silesia from Prussia. 

The Treaty of Hubertusburg ended the war between Saxony, 

Austria and Prussia, in 1763. Britain began its rise as the 

world's predominant colonial and naval power. For a time 

France's supremacy in Europe was halted until after the 

French Revolution and the emergence of Napoleon Bonaparte. 

Prussia confirmed its status as a great power, challenging 

Austria for dominance within the German states, thus altering 

the European balance of power.  

Summary 

What came to be known as the Seven Years' War (1756–1763) 

began as a conflict between Great Britain and France in 1754, 

when the British sought to expand into territory claimed by the 

French in North America. The war came to be known as the 

French and Indian War, with both the British and the French 

and their respective Native American allies fighting for control 

of territory. Hostilities were heightened when a British unit led 
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by a 22-year-old Lt. Colonel George Washington ambushed a 

small French force at the Battle of Jumonville Glen on 28 May 

1754. The conflict exploded across the colonial boundaries and 

extended to Britain's seizure of hundreds of French merchant 

ships at sea.  

Prussia, a rising power, struggled with Austria for dominance 

within and outside the Holy Roman Empire in central Europe. 

In 1756, the four greatest powers "switched partners" so that 

Great Britain and Prussia were allied against France and 

Austria. Realizing that war was imminent, Prussia pre-

emptively struck Saxony and quickly overran it. The result 

caused uproar across Europe.  

Because of Austria's alliance with France to recapture Silesia, 

which had been lost in the War of the Austrian Succession, 

Prussia formed an alliance with Britain. Reluctantly, by 

following the Imperial diet of the Holy Roman Empire, which 

declared war on Prussia on 17 January 1757, most of the 

states of the empire joined Austria's cause. The Anglo-Prussian 

alliance was joined by a few smaller German states within the 

empire (most notably the Electorate of Hanover but also 

Brunswick and Hesse-Kassel). Sweden, seeking to regain 

Pomerania (most of which had been lost to Prussia in previous 

wars) joined the coalition, seeing its chance when all the major 

continental powers of Europe opposed Prussia. Spain, bound 

by the Pacte de Famille, intervened on behalf of France and 

together they launched an unsuccessful invasion of Portugal in 

1762. The Russian Empire was originally aligned with Austria, 

fearing Prussia's ambition on the Polish–Lithuanian 

Commonwealth, but switched sides upon the succession of 

Tsar Peter III in 1762.  
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Many middle and small powers in Europe, as in the previous 

wars, tried steering away from the escalating conflict, even 

though they had interests in the conflict or with the 

belligerents. Denmark–Norway, for instance, was close to being 

dragged into the war on France's side when Peter III became 

Russian emperor and switched sides; Dano-Norwegian and 

Russian armies were close to ending up in battle, but the 

Russian emperor was deposed before war formally broke out. 

The Dutch Republic, a long-time British ally, kept its 

neutrality intact, fearing the odds against Britain and Prussia 

fighting the great powers of Europe, and even tried to prevent 

Britain's domination in India. Naples-Sicily and Savoy, 

although sided with the Franco-Spanish alliance, declined to 

join the coalition under fear of British naval power. The 

taxation needed for war caused the Russian people 

considerable hardship, being added to the taxation of salt and 

alcohol begun by Empress Elizabeth in 1759 to complete her 

addition to the Winter Palace. Like Sweden, Russia concluded a 

separate peace with Prussia.  

The war ended with two separate treaties dealing with the two 

different theaters of war. The Treaty of Paris between France, 

Spain and Great Britain ended the war in North America and 

for overseas territories taken in the conflict. The 1763 Treaty 

of Hubertusburg ended the war between Saxony, Austria and 

Prussia.  

The war was successful for Great Britain, which gained the 

bulk of New France in North America, Spanish Florida, some 

individual Caribbean islands in the West Indies, the colony of 

Senegal on the West African coast, and superiority over the 

French trading outposts on the Indian subcontinent. The 
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Native American tribes were excluded from the settlement; a 

subsequent conflict, known as Pontiac's War, which was a 

small scale war between the indigenous tribe known as the 

Odawas and the British, where the Odawas claimed seven of 

the ten forts created or taken by the British to show them that 

they need to distribute land equally amongst their allies, was 

also unsuccessful in returning them to their pre-war status. In 

Europe, the war began disastrously for Prussia, but with a 

combination of good luck and successful strategy, King 

Frederick the Great managed to retrieve the Prussian position 

and retain the status quo ante bellum. Prussia solidified its 

position as a newer European great power. Although Austria 

failed to retrieve the territory of Silesia from Prussia (its 

original goal), its military prowess was also noted by the other 

powers. The involvement of Portugal and Sweden did not return 

them to their former status as great powers. France was 

deprived of many of its colonies and had saddled itself with 

heavy war debts that its inefficient financial system could 

barely handle. Spain lost Florida but gained French Louisiana 

and regained control of its colonies, e.g., Cuba and the 

Philippines, which had been captured by the British during the 

war.  

The Seven Years' War was perhaps the first global war, taking 

place almost 160 years before World War I, known as the Great 

War before the outbreak of World War II, and globally 

influenced many later major events. Winston Churchill 

described the conflict as the "first world war". The war 

restructured not only the European political order, but also 

affected events all around the world, paving the way for the 

beginning of later British world supremacy in the 19th century, 

the rise of Prussia in Germany (eventually replacing Austria as 
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the leading German state), the beginning of tensions in British 

North America, as well as a clear sign of France's revolutionary 

turmoil. It was characterized in Europe by sieges and the arson 

of towns as well as open battles with heavy losses.  

Nomenclature 

In the historiography of some countries, the war is named after 

combatants in its respective theatres. In the present-day 

United States—at the time, the southern English-speaking 

British colonies in North America—the conflict is known as the 

French and Indian War (1754–1763). In English-speaking 

Canada—the balance of Britain's former North American 

colonies—it is called the Seven Years' War (1756–1763). In 

French-speaking Canada, it is known as La guerre de la 

Conquête (the War of the Conquest).  

Swedish historiography uses the name Pommerskakriget (The 

Pomeranian War), as the Sweden–Prussia conflict between 

1757 and 1762 was limited to Pomerania in northern central 

Germany. The Third Silesian War involved Prussia and Austria 

(1756–1763). On the Indian subcontinent, the conflict is called 

the Third Carnatic War (1757–1763).  

The war was described by Winston Churchill as the first "world 

war", although this label was also given to various earlier 

conflicts like the Eighty Years' War, the Thirty Years' War, the 

War of the Spanish Succession and the War of the Austrian 

Succession, and to later conflicts like the Napoleonic Wars. 

The term "Second Hundred Years' War" has been used in order 

to describe the almost continuous level of worldwide conflict 



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 5 

851 

between France and Great Britain during the entire 18th 

century, reminiscent of the Hundred Years' War of the 14th 

and 15th centuries.  

Background 

In North America 

The boundary between British and French possessions in North 

America was largely undefined in the 1750s. France had long 

claimed the entire Mississippi River basin. This was disputed 

by Britain. In the early 1750s the French began constructing a 

chain of forts in the Ohio River Valley to assert their claim and 

shield the Native American population from increasing British 

influence.  

The British settlers along the coast were upset that French 

troops would now be close to the western borders of their 

colonies. They felt the French would encourage their tribal 

allies among the North American natives to attack them. Also, 

the British settlers wanted access to the fertile land of the 

Ohio River Valley for the new settlers that were flooding into 

the British colonies seeking farm land.  

The most important French fort planned was intended to 

occupy a position at "the Forks" where the Allegheny and 

Monongahela Rivers meet to form the Ohio River (present-day 

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania). Peaceful British attempts to halt 

this fort construction were unsuccessful, and the French 

proceeded to build the fort they named Fort Duquesne. British 

colonial militia from Virginia were then sent to drive them out. 

Led by George Washington, they ambushed a small French 
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force at Jumonville Glen on 28 May 1754 killing ten, including 

commander Jumonville. The French retaliated by attacking 

Washington's army at Fort Necessity on 3 July 1754 and forced 

Washington to surrender. These were the first engagements of 

what would become the worldwide Seven Years' War.  

News of this arrived in Europe, where Britain and France 

unsuccessfully attempted to negotiate a solution. The two 

nations eventually dispatched regular troops to North America 

to enforce their claims. The first British action was the assault 

on Acadia on 16 June 1755 in the Battle of Fort Beauséjour, 

which was immediately followed by their expulsion of the 

Acadians.  

In July British Major General Edward Braddock led about 

2,000 army troops and provincial militia on an expedition to 

retake Fort Duquesne, but the expedition ended in disastrous 

defeat. In further action, Admiral Edward Boscawen fired on 

the French ship Alcide on 8 June 1755, capturing it and two 

troop ships. In September 1755, British colonial and French 

troops met in the inconclusive Battle of Lake George.  

The British also harassed French shipping beginning in August 

1755, seizing hundreds of ships and capturing thousands of 

merchant seamen while the two nations were nominally at 

peace.  

Incensed, France prepared to attack Hanover, whose prince-

elector was also the King of Great Britain and Menorca. Britain 

concluded a treaty whereby Prussia agreed to protect Hanover. 

In response France concluded an alliance with its long-time 

enemy Austria, an event known as the Diplomatic Revolution.  



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 5 

853 

In Europe 

In the War of the Austrian Succession, which lasted from 1740 

to 1748, King Frederick II of Prussia, known as Frederick the 

Great, seized the prosperous province of Silesia from Austria. 

Empress Maria Theresa of Austria had signed the Treaty of Aix-

la-Chapelle in 1748 in order to gain time to rebuild her 

military forces and forge new alliances.  

The War of the Austrian Succession had seen the belligerents 

aligned on a time-honoured basis. France's traditional 

enemies, Great Britain and Austria, had coalesced just as they 

had done against Louis XIV. Prussia, the leading anti-Austrian 

state in Germany, had been supported by France. Neither 

group, however, found much reason to be satisfied with its 

partnership: British subsidies to Austria produced nothing of 

much help to the British, while the British military effort had 

not saved Silesia for Austria. Prussia, having secured Silesia, 

came to terms with Austria in disregard of French interests. 

Even so, France concluded a defensive alliance with Prussia in 

1747, and the maintenance of the Anglo-Austrian alignment 

after 1748 was deemed essential by the Duke of Newcastle, 

British secretary of state in the ministry of his brother Henry 

Pelham. The collapse of that system and the aligning of France 

with Austria and of Great Britain with Prussia constituted 

what is known as the "diplomatic revolution" or the "reversal of 

alliances".  

In 1756 Austria was making military preparations for war with 

Prussia and pursuing an alliance with Russia for this purpose. 

On 2 June 1756, Austria and Russia concluded a defensive 

alliance that covered their own territory and Poland against 
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attack by Prussia or the Ottoman Empire. They also agreed to 

a secret clause that promised the restoration of Silesia and the 

countship of Glatz (now Kłodzko, Poland) to Austria in the 

event of hostilities with Prussia. Their real desire, however, 

was to destroy Frederick's power altogether, reducing his sway 

to his electorate of Brandenburg and giving East Prussia to 

Poland, an exchange that would be accompanied by the cession 

of the Polish Duchy of Courland to Russia. Alexey Bestuzhev-

Ryumin, grand chancellor of Russia under Empress Elizabeth, 

was hostile to both France and Prussia, but he could not 

persuade Austrian statesman Wenzel Anton von Kaunitz to 

commit to offensive designs against Prussia so long as Prussia 

was able to rely on French support.  

The Hanoverian King George II of Great Britain was 

passionately devoted to his family's continental holdings, but 

his commitments in Germany were counterbalanced by the 

demands of the British colonies overseas. If war against France 

for colonial expansion was to be resumed, then Hanover had to 

be secured against Franco-Prussian attack. France was very 

much interested in colonial expansion and was willing to 

exploit the vulnerability of Hanover in war against Great 

Britain, but it had no desire to divert forces to Central Europe 

for Prussia's interest.  

French policy was, moreover, complicated by the existence of 

the Secret du Roi—a system of private diplomacy conducted by 

King Louis XV. Unbeknownst to his foreign minister, Louis had 

established a network of agents throughout Europe with the 

goal of pursuing personal political objectives that were often at 

odds with France's publicly stated policies. Louis's goals for le 

Secret du roi included the Polish crown for his kinsman Louis 
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François de Bourbon, Prince of Conti, and the maintenance of 

Poland, Sweden and Turkey as French allies in opposition to 

Russian and Austrian interests.  

Frederick saw Saxony and Polish west Prussia as potential 

fields for expansion, but could not expect French support if he 

started an aggressive war for them. If he joined the French 

against the British in the hope of annexing Hanover, he might 

fall victim to an Austro-Russian attack. The hereditary elector 

of Saxony, Augustus III, was also elective King of Poland as 

Augustus III, but the two territories were physically separated 

by Brandenburg and Silesia. Neither state could pose as a 

great power. Saxony was merely a buffer between Prussia and 

Austrian Bohemia, whereas Poland, despite its union with the 

ancient lands of Lithuania, was prey to pro-French and pro-

Russian factions. A Prussian scheme for compensating 

Frederick Augustus with Bohemia in exchange for Saxony 

obviously presupposed further spoliation of Austria.  

In the attempt to satisfy Austria at the time, Britain gave their 

electoral vote in Hanover for the candidacy of Maria Theresa's 

son, Joseph II, as the Holy Roman Emperor, much to the 

dismay of Frederick and Prussia. Not only that, Britain would 

soon join the Austro-Russian alliance, but complications arose. 

Britain's basic framework for the alliance itself was to protect 

Hanover's interests against France. At the same time, Kaunitz 

kept approaching the French in the hope of establishing just 

such an alliance with Austria. Not only that, France had no 

intention to ally with Russia, who, years earlier, had meddled 

in France's affairs during Austria's succession war. France 

also saw the dismemberment of Prussia as threatening to the 

stability of Central Europe.  
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Years later, Kaunitz kept trying to establish France's alliance 

with Austria. He tried as hard as he could to avoid Austrian 

entanglement in Hanover's political affairs, and was even 

willing to trade Austrian Netherlands for France's aid in 

recapturing Silesia.  

Frustrated by this decision and by the Dutch Republic's 

insistence on neutrality, Britain soon turned to Russia. On 30 

September 1755, Britain pledged financial aid to Russia in 

order to station 50,000 troops on the Livonian-Lithuanian 

border, so they could defend Britain's interests in Hanover 

immediately. Besthuzev, assuming the preparation was 

directed against Prussia, was more than happy to obey the 

request of the British. Unbeknownst to the other powers, King 

George II also made overtures to the Prussian king, Frederick, 

who, fearing the Austro-Russian intentions, was also desirous 

of a rapprochement with Britain. On 16 January 1756, the 

Convention of Westminster was signed, whereby Britain and 

Prussia promised to aid one another; the parties hoped to 

achieve lasting peace and stability in Europe.  

The carefully coded word in the agreement proved no less 

catalytic for the other European powers. The results were 

absolute chaos. Empress Elizabeth of Russia was outraged at 

the duplicity of Britain's position. Not only that, but France 

was enraged and terrified, by the sudden betrayal of its only 

ally, Prussia. Austria, particularly Kaunitz, used this situation 

to their utmost advantage. Now-isolated France was forced to 

accede to the Austro-Russian alliance or face ruin. Thereafter, 

on 1 May 1756, the First Treaty of Versailles was signed, in 

which both nations pledged 24,000 troops to defend each other 

in the case of an attack. This diplomatic revolution proved to 
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be an important cause of the war; although both treaties were 

ostensibly defensive in nature, the actions of both coalitions 

made the war virtually inevitable.  

Methods and technologies 

European warfare in the early modern period was characterised 

by the widespread adoption of firearms in combination with 

more traditional bladed weapons. Eighteenth-century European 

armies were built around units of massed infantry armed with 

smoothbore flintlock muskets and bayonets. Cavalrymen were 

equipped with sabres and pistols or carbines; light cavalry 

were used principally for reconnaissance, screening and 

tactical communications, while heavy cavalry were used as 

tactical reserves and deployed for shock attacks. Smoothbore 

artillery provided fire support and played the leading role in 

siege warfare. Strategic warfare in this period centredaround 

control of key fortifications positioned so as to command the 

surrounding regions and roads, with lengthy sieges a common 

feature of armed conflict. Decisive field battles were relatively 

rare.  

The Seven Years' War, like most European wars of the 

eighteenth century, was fought as a so-called cabinet war in 

which disciplined regular armies were equipped and supplied 

by the state to conduct warfare on behalf of the sovereign's 

interests. Occupied enemy territories were regularly taxed and 

extorted for funds, but large-scale atrocities against civilian 

populations were rare compared with conflicts in the previous 

century. Military logistics was the decisive factor in many 

wars, as armies had grown too large to support themselves on 

prolonged campaigns by foraging and plunder alone. Military 
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supplies were stored in centralised magazines and distributed 

by baggage trains that were highly vulnerable to enemy raids. 

Armies were generally unable to sustain combat operations 

during winter and normally established winter quarters in the 

cold season, resuming their campaigns with the return of 

spring.  

Strategies 

• For much of the eighteenth century, France 

approached its wars in the same way. It would let 

colonies defend themselves or would offer only 

minimal help (sending them limited numbers of 

troops or inexperienced soldiers), anticipating that 

fights for the colonies would most likely be lost 

anyway. This strategy was to a degree forced upon 

France: geography, coupled with the superiority of 

the British navy, made it difficult for the French 

navy to provide significant supplies and support to 

overseas colonies. Similarly, several long land 

borders made an effective domestic army imperative 

for any French ruler. Given these military 

necessities, the French government, unsurprisingly, 

based its strategy overwhelmingly on the army in 

Europe: it would keep most of its army on the 

continent, hoping for victories closer to home. The 

plan was to fight to the end of hostilities and then, 

in treaty negotiations, to trade territorial 

acquisitions in Europe to regain lost overseas 

possessions (as had happened in, e.g., the Treaty of 

Saint-Germain-en-Laye (1632)). This approach did 
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not serve France well in the war, as the colonies 

were indeed lost, and although much of the 

European war went well, by its end France had few 

counterbalancing European successes. 

The British—by inclination as well as for practical reasons—

had tended to avoid large-scale commitments of troops on the 

continent. They sought to offset the disadvantage of this in 

Europe by allying themselves with one or more continental 

powers whose interests were antithetical to those of their 

enemies, particularly France.  

By subsidising the armies of continental allies, Britain could 

turn London's enormous financial power to military advantage. 

In the Seven Years' War, the British chose as their principal 

partner the most brilliant general of the day, Frederick the 

Great of Prussia, then the rising power in central Europe, and 

paid Frederick substantial subsidies for his campaigns. This 

was accomplished in the diplomatic revolution of 1756, in 

which Britain ended its long-standing alliance with Austria in 

favour of Prussia, leaving Austria to side with France. In 

marked contrast to France, Britain strove to prosecute the war 

actively in the colonies, taking full advantage of its naval 

power. The British pursued a dual strategy—naval blockade 

and bombardment of enemy ports, and rapid movement of 

troops by sea. They harassed enemy shipping and attacked 

enemy colonies, frequently using colonists from nearby British 

colonies in the effort.  

The Russians and the Austrians were determined to reduce the 

power of Prussia, the new threat on their doorstep, and Austria 

was anxious to regain Silesia, lost to Prussia in the War of the 
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Austrian Succession. Along with France, Russia and Austria 

agreed in 1756 to mutual defence and an attack by Austria and 

Russia on Prussia, subsidized by France.  

Europe 

William Pitt the Elder, who entered the cabinet in 1756, had a 

grand vision for the war that made it entirely different from 

previous wars with France. As prime minister, Pitt committed 

Britain to a grand strategy of seizing the entire French Empire, 

especially its possessions in North America and India. Britain's 

main weapon was the Royal Navy, which could control the seas 

and bring as many invasion troops as were needed. He also 

planned to use colonial forces from the thirteen American 

colonies, working under the command of British regulars, to 

invade New France. In order to tie the French army down he 

subsidized his European allies. Pitt was head of the 

government from 1756 to 1761, and even after that the British 

continued his strategy. It proved completely successful. Pitt 

had a clear appreciation of the enormous value of imperial 

possessions, and realized the vulnerability of the French 

Empire.  

1756 

The British prime minister, the Duke of Newcastle, was 

optimistic that the new series of alliances could prevent war 

from breaking out in Europe. However, a large French force 

was assembled at Toulon, and the French opened the campaign 

against the British with an attack on Menorca in the 

Mediterranean. A British attempt at relief was foiled at the 
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Battle of Minorca, and the island was captured on 28 June (for 

which Admiral Byng was court-martialed and executed). Britain 

formally declared war on France on 17 May, nearly two years 

after fighting had broken out in the Ohio Country.  

Frederick II of Prussia had received reports of the clashes in 

North America and had formed an alliance with Great Britain. 

On 29 August 1756, he led Prussian troops across the border 

of Saxony, one of the small German states in league with 

Austria.  

He intended this as a bold pre-emption of an anticipated 

Austro-French invasion of Silesia. He had three goals in his 

new war on Austria. First, he would seize Saxony and eliminate 

it as a threat to Prussia, then use the Saxon army and treasury 

to aid the Prussian war effort. His second goal was to advance 

into Bohemia, where he might set up winter quarters at 

Austria's expense. Thirdly, he wanted to invade Moravia from 

Silesia, seize the fortress at Olmütz, and advance on Vienna to 

force an end to the war.  

Accordingly, leaving Field Marshal Count Kurt von Schwerin in 

Silesia with 25,000 soldiers to guard against incursions from 

Moravia and Hungary, and leaving Field Marshal Hans von 

Lehwaldt in East Prussia to guard against Russian invasion 

from the east, Frederick set off with his army for Saxony.  

The Prussian army marched in three columns. On the right was 

a column of about 15,000 men under the command of Prince 

Ferdinand of Brunswick. On the left was a column of 18,000 

men under the command of the Duke of Brunswick-Bevern. In 

the centre was Frederick II, himself with Field Marshal James 

Keith commanding a corps of 30,000 troops. Ferdinand of 



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 5 

862 

Brunswick was to close in on the town of Chemnitz. The Duke 

of Brunswick-Bevern was to traverse Lusatia to close in on 

Bautzen. Meanwhile, Frederick and Keith would make for 

Dresden.  

The Saxon and Austrian armies were unprepared, and their 

forces were scattered. Frederick occupied Dresden with little or 

no opposition from the Saxons.  

At the Battle of Lobositz on 1 October 1756, Frederick 

stumbled into one of the embarrassments of his career. 

Severely underestimating a reformed Austrian army under 

General Maximilian Ulysses Browne, he found himself 

outmanoeuvred and outgunned, and at one point in the 

confusion even ordered his troops to fire on retreating Prussian 

cavalry. Frederick actually fled the field of battle, leaving Field 

Marshall Keith in command. Browne, however, also left the 

field, in a vain attempt to meet up with an isolated Saxon army 

holed up in the fortress at Pirna. As the Prussians technically 

remained in control of the field of battle, Frederick, in a 

masterful coverup, claimed Lobositz as a Prussian victory. The 

Prussians then occupied Saxony; after the Siege of Pirna, the 

Saxon army surrendered in October 1756, and was forcibly 

incorporated into the Prussian army. The attack on neutral 

Saxony caused outrage across Europe and led to the 

strengthening of the anti-Prussian coalition. The Austrians had 

succeeded in partially occupying Silesia and, more importantly, 

denying Frederick winter quarters in Bohemia. Frederick had 

proven to be overly confident to the point of arrogance and his 

errors were very costly for Prussia's smaller army. This led him 

to remark that he did not fight the same Austrians as he had 

during the previous war.  



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 5 

863 

Britain had been surprised by the sudden Prussian offensive 

but now began shipping supplies and £670,000 (equivalent to 

£100.4 million in 2020) to its new ally. A combined force of 

allied German states was organised by the British to protect 

Hanover from French invasion, under the command of the 

Duke of Cumberland. The British attempted to persuade the 

Dutch Republic to join the alliance, but the request was 

rejected, as the Dutch wished to remain fully neutral. Despite 

the huge disparity in numbers, the year had been successful 

for the Prussian-led forces on the continent, in contrast to the 

British campaigns in North America.  

1757 

On 18 April 1757, Frederick II again took the initiative by 

marching into the Kingdom of Bohemia, hoping to inflict a 

decisive defeat on Austrian forces. After winning the bloody 

Battle of Prague on 6 May 1757, in which both forces suffered 

major casualties, the Prussians forced the Austrians back into 

the fortifications of Prague. The Prussian army then laid siege 

to the city. In response, Austrian commander Leopold von 

Daun collected a force of 30,000 men to come to the relief of 

Prague. Following the battle at Prague, Frederick took 5,000 

troops from the siege at Prague and sent them to reinforce the 

19,000-man army under the Duke of Brunswick-Bevern at 

Kolín in Bohemia. Von Daun arrived too late to participate in 

the battle of Prague, but picked up 16,000 men who had 

escaped from the battle. With this army he slowly moved to 

relieve Prague. The Prussian army was too weak to 

simultaneously besiege Prague and keep von Daunaway, and 

Frederick was forced to attack prepared positions. The 

resulting Battle of Kolín was a sharp defeat for Frederick, his 
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first. His losses further forced him to lift the siege and 

withdraw from Bohemia altogether.  

Later that summer, the Russians under Field Marshal 

StepanFyodorovichApraksin besieged Memel with 75,000 

troops. Memel had one of the strongest fortresses in Prussia. 

However, after five days of artillery bombardment the Russian 

army was able to storm it. The Russians then used Memel as a 

base to invade East Prussia and defeated a smaller Prussian 

force in the fiercely contested Battle of Gross-Jägersdorf on 30 

August 1757. In the words of the American historian Daniel 

Marston, Gross-Jägersdorf left the Prussians with "a newfound 

respect for the fighting capabilities of the Russians that was 

reinforced in the later battles of Zorndorf and Kunersdorf". 

However, the Russians were not yet able to take Königsberg 

after using up their supplies of cannonballs at Memel and 

Gross-Jägersdorf and retreated soon afterwards.  

• Logistics was a recurring problem for the Russians 

throughout the war. The Russians lacked a 

quartermaster's department capable of keeping 

armies operating in Central Europe properly supplied 

over the primitive mud roads of eastern Europe. The 

tendency of Russian armies to break off operations 

after fighting a major battle, even when they were 

not defeated, was less about their casualties and 

more about their supply lines; after expending much 

of their munitions in a battle, Russian generals did 

not wish to risk another battle knowing resupply 

would be a long time coming. This long-standing 

weakness was evident in the Russian-Ottoman War 

of 1735–1739, where Russian battle victories led to 



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 5 

865 

only modest war gains due to problems supplying 

their armies. The Russian quartermasters 

department had not improved, so the same problems 

reoccurred in Prussia. Still, the Imperial Russian 

Army was a new threat to Prussia. Not only was 

Frederick forced to break off his invasion of 

Bohemia, he was now forced to withdraw further into 

Prussian-controlled territory. His defeats on the 

battlefield brought still more opportunistic nations 

into the war. Sweden declared war on Prussia and 

invaded Pomerania with 17,000 men. Sweden felt 

this small army was all that was needed to occupy 

Pomerania and felt the Swedish army would not need 

to engage with the Prussians because the Prussians 

were occupied on so many other fronts.  

Things were looking grim for Prussia now, with the Austrians 

mobilising to attack Prussian-controlled soil and a combined 

French and Reichsarmee army under Prince Soubise 

approaching from the west. The Reichsarmee was a collection 

of armies from the smaller German states that had banded 

together to heed the appeal of the Holy Roman Emperor Franz I 

of Austria against Frederick. However, in November and 

December 1757, the whole situation in Germany was reversed. 

First, Frederick devastated Soubise's forces at the Battle of 

Rossbach on 5 November 1757 and then routed a vastly 

superior Austrian force at the Battle of Leuthen on 5 December 

1757. Rossbach was the only battle between the French and 

the Prussians during the entire war. At Rossbach, the 

Prussians lost about 548 men killed while the Franco-

Reichsarmee force under Soubise lost about 10,000 killed. 

Frederick always called Leuthen his greatest victory, an 
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assessment shared by many at the time as the Austrian Army 

was considered to be a highly professional force. With these 

victories, Frederick once again established himself as Europe's 

premier general and his men as Europe's most accomplished 

soldiers. However, Frederick missed an opportunity to 

completely destroy the Austrian army at Leuthen; although 

depleted, it escaped back into Bohemia. He hoped the two 

smashing victories would bring Maria Theresa to the peace 

table, but she was determined not to negotiate until she had 

re-taken Silesia. Maria Theresa also improved the Austrians' 

command after Leuthen by replacing her incompetent brother-

in-law, Charles of Lorraine, with von Daun, who was now a 

field marshal.  

This problem was compounded when the main Hanoverian 

army under Cumberland, which include Hesse-Kassel and 

Brunswick troops, was defeated at the Battle of Hastenbeck 

and forced to surrender entirely at the Convention of 

Klosterzeven following a French Invasion of Hanover. The 

convention removed Hanover from the war, leaving the western 

approach to Prussian territory extremely vulnerable. Frederick 

sent urgent requests to Britain for more substantial 

assistance, as he was now without any outside military 

support for his forces in Germany.  

Calculating that no further Russian advance was likely until 

1758, Frederick moved the bulk of his eastern forces to 

Pomerania under the command of Marshal Lehwaldt, where 

they were to repel the Swedish invasion. In short order, the 

Prussian army drove the Swedes back, occupied most of 

Swedish Pomerania, and blockaded its capital Stralsund. 

George II of Great Britain, on the advice of his British 
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ministers after the battle of Rossbach, revoked the Convention 

of Klosterzeven, and Hanover reentered the war. Over the 

winter the new commander of the Hanoverian forces, Duke 

Ferdinand of Brunswick (until immediately before a 

commander in the Prussian Army), regrouped his army and 

launched a series of offensives that drove the French back 

across the River Rhine. Ferdinand's forces kept Prussia's 

western flank secure for the rest of the war. The British had 

suffered further defeats in North America, particularly at Fort 

William Henry. At home, however, stability had been 

established. Since 1756, successive governments led by 

Newcastle and Pitt had fallen. In August 1757, the two men 

agreed to a political partnership and formed a coalition 

government that gave new, firmer direction to the war effort. 

The new strategy emphasised both Newcastle's commitment to 

British involvement on the continent, particularly in defence of 

its German possessions, and Pitt's determination to use naval 

power to seize French colonies around the globe. This "dual 

strategy" would dominate British policy for the next five years.  

Between 10 and 17 October 1757, a Hungarian general, Count 

AndrásHadik, serving in the Austrian army, executed what may 

be the most famous hussar action in history. When the 

Prussian king, Frederick, was marching south with his 

powerful armies, the Hungarian general unexpectedly swung 

his force of 5,000, mostly hussars, around the Prussians and 

occupied part of their capital, Berlin, for one night. The city 

was spared for a negotiated ransom of 200,000 thalers. When 

Frederick heard about this humiliating occupation, he 

immediately sent a larger force to free the city. Hadik, however, 

left the city with his hussars and safely reached the Austrian 
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lines. Subsequently, Hadik was promoted to the rank of 

marshal in the Austrian Army.  

1758 

• In early 1758, Frederick launched an invasion of 

Moravia and laid siege to Olmütz (now Olomouc, 

Czech Republic). Following an Austrian victory at the 

Battle of Domstadtl that wiped out a supply convoy 

destined for Olmütz, Frederick broke off the siege 

and withdrew from Moravia. It marked the end of his 

final attempt to launch a major invasion of Austrian 

territory. In January 1758, the Russians invaded 

East Prussia, where the province, almost denuded of 

troops, put up little opposition. East Prussia had 

been occupied by Russian forces over the winter and 

would remain under their control until 1762, 

although it was far less strategically valuable to 

Prussia than Brandenburg or Silesia. In any case, 

Frederick did not see the Russians as an immediate 

threat and instead entertained hopes of first fighting 

a decisive battle against Austria that would knock 

them out of the war.  

In April 1758, the British concluded the Anglo-Prussian 

Convention with Frederick in which they committed to pay him 

an annual subsidy of £670,000. Britain also dispatched 9,000 

troops to reinforce Ferdinand's Hanoverian army, the first 

British troop commitment on the continent and a reversal in 

the policy of Pitt. Ferdinand's Hanoverian army, supplemented 

by some Prussian troops, had succeeded in driving the French 

from Hanover and Westphalia and re-captured the port of 
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Emden in March 1758 before crossing the Rhine with his own 

forces, which caused alarm in France. Despite Ferdinand's 

victory over the French at the Battle of Krefeld and the brief 

occupation of Düsseldorf, he was compelled by the successful 

manoeuvering of larger French forces to withdraw across the 

Rhine.  

By this point Frederick was increasingly concerned by the 

Russian advance from the east and marched to counter it. Just 

east of the Oder in Brandenburg-Neumark, at the Battle of 

Zorndorf (now Sarbinowo, Poland), a Prussian army of 35,000 

men under Frederick on 25 August 1758, fought a Russian 

army of 43,000 commanded by Count William Fermor. Both 

sides suffered heavy casualties—the Prussians 12,800, the 

Russians 18,000—but the Russians withdrew, and Frederick 

claimed victory. The American historian Daniel Marston 

described Zorndorf as a "draw" as both sides were too 

exhausted and had taken such losses that neither wished to 

fight another battle with the other. In the undecided Battle of 

Tornow on 25 September, a Swedish army repulsed six 

assaults by a Prussian army but did not push on Berlin 

following the Battle of Fehrbellin.  

The war was continuing indecisively when on 14 October 

Marshal Daun's Austrians surprised the main Prussian army at 

the Battle of Hochkirch in Saxony. Frederick lost much of his 

artillery but retreated in good order, helped by dense woods. 

The Austrians had ultimately made little progress in the 

campaign in Saxony despite Hochkirch and had failed to 

achieve a decisive breakthrough. After a thwarted attempt to 

take Dresden, Daun'stroops were forced to withdraw to 

Austrian territory for the winter, so that Saxony remained 
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under Prussian occupation. At the same time, the Russians 

failed in an attempt to take Kolberg in Pomerania (now 

Kołobrzeg, Poland) from the Prussians.  

In France, 1758 had been disappointing, and in the wake of 

this a new chief minister, the Duc de Choiseul, was appointed. 

Choiseul planned to end the war in 1759 by making strong 

attacks on Britain and Hanover.  

1759–60 

• Prussia suffered several defeats in 1759. At the 

Battle of Kay, or Paltzig, the Russian Count Saltykov 

with 47,000 Russians defeated 26,000 Prussians 

commanded by General Carl Heinrich von Wedel. 

Though the Hanoverians defeated an army of 60,000 

French at Minden, Austrian general Daun forced the 

surrender of an entire Prussian corps of 13,000 in 

the Battle of Maxen. Frederick himself lost half his 

army in the Battle of Kunersdorf (now Kunowice, 

Poland), the worst defeat in his military career and 

one that drove him to the brink of abdication and 

thoughts of suicide. The disaster resulted partly 

from his misjudgment of the Russians, who had 

already demonstrated their strength at Zorndorf and 

at Gross-Jägersdorf (now Motornoye, Russia), and 

partly from good cooperation between the Russian 

and Austrian forces. However, disagreements with 

the Austrians over logistics and supplies resulted in 

the Russians withdrawing east yet again after 

Kunersdorf, ultimately enabling Frederick to re-

group his shattered forces.  
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The French planned to invade the British Isles during 1759 by 

accumulating troops near the mouth of the Loire and 

concentrating their Brest and Toulon fleets. However, two sea 

defeats prevented this. In August, the Mediterranean fleet 

under Jean-François de La Clue-Sabran was scattered by a 

larger British fleet under Edward Boscawen at the Battle of 

Lagos. In the Battle of Quiberon Bay on 20 November, the 

British admiral Edward Hawke with 23 ships of the line caught 

the French Brest fleet with 21 ships of the line under Marshal 

de Conflans and sank, captured, or forced many of them 

aground, putting an end to the French plans.  

The year 1760 brought yet more Prussian disasters. The 

general Fouqué was defeated by the Austrians in the Battle of 

Landshut. The French captured Marburg in Hesse and the 

Swedes part of Pomerania. The Hanoverians were victorious 

over the French at the Battle of Warburg, their continued 

success preventing France from sending troops to aid the 

Austrians against Prussia in the east.  

Despite this, the Austrians, under the command of General 

Laudon, captured Glatz (now Kłodzko, Poland) in Silesia. In the 

Battle of Liegnitz Frederick scored a strong victory despite 

being outnumbered three to one. The Russians under General 

Saltykov and Austrians under General Lacy briefly occupied 

his capital, Berlin, in October, but could not hold it for long. 

Still, the loss of Berlin to the Russians and Austrians was a 

great blow to Frederick's prestige as many pointed out that the 

Prussians had no hope of occupying temporarily or otherwise 

St. Petersburg or Vienna. In November 1760 Frederick was 

once more victorious, defeating the able Daun in the Battle of 
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Torgau, but he suffered very heavy casualties, and the 

Austrians retreated in good order.  

Meanwhile, after the battle of Kunersdorf, the Russian army 

was mostly inactive due mostly to their tenuous supply lines. 

Russian logistics were so poor that in October 1759, an 

agreement was signed under which the Austrians undertook to 

supply the Russians as the quartermaster's department of the 

Russian Army was badly strained by the demands of Russian 

armies operating so far from home.  

As it was, the requirement that the Austrian quartermaster's 

department supply both the Austrian and Russian armies 

proved beyond its capacity, and in practice, the Russians 

received little in the way of supplies from the Austrians. At 

Liegnitz (now Legnica, Poland), the Russians arrived too late to 

participate in the battle.  

They made two attempts to storm the fortress of Kolberg, but 

neither succeeded. The tenacious resistance of Kolberg allowed 

Frederick to focus on the Austrians instead of having to split 

his forces.  

1761–62 

Prussia began the 1761 campaign with just 100,000 available 

troops, many of them new recruits, and its situation seemed 

desperate. However, the Austrian and Russian forces were also 

heavily depleted and could not launch a major offensive.  

In February 1761 Duke Ferdinand of Brunswick surprised 

French troops at Langensalza and then advanced to besiege 

Cassel in March. He was forced to lift the siege and retreat 
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after French forces regrouped and captured several thousand 

of his men at the Battle of Grünberg. At the Battle of 

Villinghausen, forces under Ferdinand defeated a 92,000-man 

French army.  

On the eastern front, progress was very slow. The Russian 

army was heavily dependent upon its main magazines in 

Poland, and the Prussian army launched several successful 

raids against them. One of them, led by general Platen in 

September resulted in the loss of 2,000 Russians, mostly 

captured, and the destruction of 5,000 wagons. Deprived of 

men, the Prussians had to resort to this new sort of warfare, 

raiding, to delay the advance of their enemies. Frederick's 

army, though depleted, was left unmolested at its headquarters 

in Brunzelwitz, as both the Austrians and the Russians were 

hesitant to attack it. Nonetheless, at the end of 1761, Prussia 

suffered two critical setbacks. The Russians under 

ZakharChernyshev and PyotrRumyantsev stormed Kolberg in 

Pomerania, while the Austrians captured Schweidnitz. The loss 

of Kolberg cost Prussia its last port on the Baltic Sea. A major 

problem for the Russians throughout the war had always been 

their weak logistics, which prevented their generals from 

following up their victories, and now with the fall of Kolberg, 

the Russians could at long last supply their armies in Central 

Europe via the sea. The fact that the Russians could now 

supply their armies over the sea, which was considerably faster 

and safer (Prussian cavalry could not intercept Russian ships 

in the Baltic) than over the land threatened to swing the 

balance of power decisively against Prussia, as Frederick could 

not spare any troops to protect his capital. In Britain, it was 

speculated that a total Prussian collapse was now imminent.  
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Britain now threatened to withdraw its subsidies if Frederick 

did not consider offering concessions to secure peace. As the 

Prussian armies had dwindled to just 60,000 men and with 

Berlin itself about to come under siege, the survival of both 

Prussia and its king was severely threatened. Then on 5 

January 1762 the Russian Empress Elizabeth died. Her 

Prussophile successor, Peter III, at once ended the Russian 

occupation of East Prussia and Pomerania (see: the Treaty of 

Saint Petersburg (1762)) and mediated Frederick's truce with 

Sweden. He also placed a corps of his own troops under 

Frederick's command. Frederick was then able to muster a 

larger army, of 120,000 men, and concentrate it against 

Austria. He drove them from much of Silesia after recapturing 

Schweidnitz, while his brother Henry won a victory in Saxony 

in the Battle of Freiberg (29 October 1762). At the same time, 

his Brunswick allies captured the key town of Göttingen and 

compounded this by taking Cassel.  

Two new countries entered the war in 1762. Britain declared 

war against Spain on 4 January 1762; Spain reacted by issuing 

its own declaration of war against Britain on 18 January. 

Portugal followed by joining the war on Britain's side. Spain, 

aided by the French, launched an invasion of Portugal and 

succeeded in capturing Almeida. The arrival of British 

reinforcements stalled a further Spanish advance, and in the 

Battle of Valencia de Alcántara British-Portuguese forces 

overran a major Spanish supply base. The invaders were 

stopped on the heights in front of Abrantes (called the pass to 

Lisbon) where the Anglo-Portuguese were entrenched. 

Eventually the Anglo-Portuguese army, aided by guerrillas and 

practicing a scorched earth strategy, chased the greatly 

reduced Franco-Spanish army back to Spain, recovering almost 
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all the lost towns, among them the Spanish headquarters in 

Castelo Branco full of wounded and sick that had been left 

behind.  

Meanwhile, the long British naval blockade of French ports had 

sapped the morale of the French populace. Morale declined 

further when news of defeat in the Battle of Signal Hill in 

Newfoundland reached Paris. After Russia's about-face, 

Sweden's withdrawal and Prussia's two victories against 

Austria, Louis XV became convinced that Austria would be 

unable to re-conquer Silesia (the condition for which France 

would receive the Austrian Netherlands) without financial and 

material subsidies, which Louis was no longer willing to 

provide. He therefore made peace with Frederick and evacuated 

Prussia's Rhineland territories, ending France's involvement in 

the war in Germany.  

1763 

By 1763, the war in central Europe was essentially a stalemate 

between Prussia and Austria. Prussia had retaken nearly all of 

Silesia from the Austrians after Frederick's narrow victory over 

Daun at the Battle of Burkersdorf. After his brother Henry's 

1762 victory at the Battle of Freiberg, Frederick held most of 

Saxony but not its capital, Dresden. His financial situation 

was not dire, but his kingdom was devastated and his army 

severely weakened. His manpower had dramatically decreased, 

and he had lost so many effective officers and generals that an 

offensive against Dresden seemed impossible. British subsidies 

had been stopped by the new prime minister, Lord Bute, and 

the Russian emperor had been overthrown by his wife, 

Catherine, who ended Russia's alliance with Prussia and 
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withdrew from the war. Austria, however, like most 

participants, was facing a severe financial crisis and had to 

decrease the size of its army, which greatly affected its 

offensive power. Indeed, after having effectively sustained a 

long war, its administration was in disarray. By that time, it 

still held Dresden, the southeastern parts of Saxony, and the 

county of Glatz in southern Silesia, but the prospect of victory 

was dim without Russian support, and Maria Theresa had 

largely given up her hopes of re-conquering Silesia; her 

Chancellor, husband and eldest son were all urging her to 

make peace, while Daun was hesitant to attack Frederick. In 

1763 a peace settlement was reached at the Treaty of 

Hubertusburg, in which Glatz was returned to Prussia in 

exchange for the Prussian evacuation of Saxony. This ended 

the war in central Europe.  

The stalemate had really been reached by 1759–1760, and 

Prussia and Austria were nearly out of money. The materials of 

both sides had been largely consumed. Frederick was no longer 

receiving subsidies from Britain; the Golden Cavalry of St. 

George had produced nearly 13 million dollars (equivalent). He 

had melted and coined most of the church silver, had 

ransacked the palaces of his kingdom and coined that silver, 

and reduced his purchasing power by mixing it with copper. 

His banks' capital was exhausted, and he had pawned nearly 

everything of value from his own estate. While Frederick still 

had a significant amount of money left from the prior British 

subsidies, he hoped to use it to restore his kingdom's 

prosperity in peacetime; in any case, Prussia's population was 

so depleted that he could not sustain another long campaign. 

Similarly, Maria Theresa had reached the limit of her 

resources. She had pawned her jewels in 1758; in 1760, she 
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approved a public subscription for support and urged her 

public to bring their silver to the mint. French subsidies were 

no longer provided. Although she had many young men still to 

draft, she could not conscript them and did not dare to resort 

to impressment, as Frederick had done. She had even 

dismissed some men because it was too expensive to feed them.  

British amphibious "descents" 

• Great Britain planned a "descent" (an amphibious 

demonstration or raid) on Rochefort, a joint 

operation to overrun the town and burn shipping in 

the Charente. The expedition set out on 8 September 

1757, Sir John Mordaunt commanding the troops 

and Sir Edward Hawke the fleet. On 23 September 

the Isle d'Aix was taken, but military staff dithered 

and lost so much time that Rochefort became 

unassailable. The expedition abandoned the Isle 

d'Aix, returning to Great Britain on 1 October.  

Despite the debatable strategic success and the operational 

failure of the descent on Rochefort, William Pitt—who saw 

purpose in this type of asymmetric enterprise—prepared to 

continue such operations. An army was assembled under the 

command of Charles Spencer, 3rd Duke of Marlborough; he 

was aided by Lord George Sackville. The naval squadron and 

transports for the expedition were commanded by Richard 

Howe. The army landed on 5 June 1758 at Cancalle Bay, 

proceeded to St. Malo, and, finding that it would take 

prolonged siege to capture it, instead attacked the nearby port 

of St. Servan. It burned shipping in the harbor, roughly 80 

French privateers and merchantmen, as well as four warships 
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which were under construction. The force then re-embarked 

under threat of the arrival of French relief forces. An attack on 

Havre de Grace was called off, and the fleet sailed on to 

Cherbourg; the weather being bad and provisions low, that too 

was abandoned, and the expedition returned having damaged 

French privateering and provided further strategic 

demonstration against the French coast.  

Pitt now prepared to send troops into Germany; and both 

Marlborough and Sackville, disgusted by what they perceived 

as the futility of the "descents", obtained commissions in that 

army. The elderly General Bligh was appointed to command a 

new "descent", escorted by Howe. The campaign began 

propitiously with the Raid on Cherbourg. Covered by naval 

bombardment, the army drove off the French force detailed to 

oppose their landing, captured Cherbourg, and destroyed its 

fortifications, docks and shipping.  

The troops were reembarked and moved to the Bay of 

St. Lunaire in Brittany where, on 3 September, they were 

landed to operate against St. Malo; however, this action proved 

impractical.  

Worsening weather forced the two armies to separate: the ships 

sailed for the safer anchorage of St. Cast, while the army 

proceeded overland.  

The tardiness of Bligh in moving his forces allowed a French 

force of 10,000 from Brest to catch up with him and open fire 

on the reembarkation troops. At the battle of Saint Cast a rear-

guard of 1,400 under Dury held off the French while the rest of 

the army embarked. They could not be saved; 750, including 

Dury, were killed and the rest captured.  
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Overseas empires 

The colonial conflict mainly between France and Britain took 

place in India, North America, Europe, the Caribbean isles, the 

Philippines, and coastal Africa. Over the course of the war, 

Great Britain gained enormous areas of land and influence at 

the expense of the French and the Spanish Empire.  

Great Britain lost Menorca in the Mediterranean to the French 

in 1756 but captured the French colonies in Senegal in 1758. 

More importantly, the British defeated the French in its 

defense of New France in 1759, with the fall of Quebec. The 

buffer that French North America had provided to New Spain, 

the Spanish Empire's most important overseas holding, was 

now lost. Spain had entered the war in 1761 following the 

Third Family Compact (15 August 1761) with France. The 

British Royal Navy took the French Caribbean sugar colonies of 

Guadeloupe in 1759 and Martinique in 1762 as well as the 

Spanish Empire's main port in the Caribbean, Havana in Cuba, 

and its main Asian port of Manila in the Philippines, both 

major Spanish colonial cities. British attempts at expansion 

into the hinterlands of Cuba and the Philippines met with stiff 

resistance. In the Philippines, the British were confined to 

Manila until their agreed upon withdrawal at the war's end.  

North America 

During the war, the Six Nations of The Iroquois Confederacy 

were allied with the British. Native Americans of the 

Laurentian valley—the Algonquin, the Abenaki, the Huron and 

others, were allied with the French. Although the Algonquin 
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tribes living north of the Great Lakes and along the St. 

Lawrence River were not directly concerned with the fate of the 

Ohio River Valley tribes, they had been victims of the Iroquois 

Confederation which included the Seneca, Mohawk, Oneida, 

Onondaga, Cayuga and Tuscarora tribes of central New York. 

The Iroquois had encroached on Algonquin territory and 

pushed the Algonquins west beyond Lake Michigan and to the 

shore of the St. Lawrence. The Algonquin tribes were interested 

in fighting against the Iroquois. Throughout New England, New 

York and the north-west, Native American tribes formed 

differing alliances with the major belligerents.  

In 1756 and 1757 the French captured forts Oswego and 

William Henry from the British. The latter victory was marred 

when France's native allies broke the terms of capitulation and 

attacked the retreating British column, which was under 

French guard, slaughtering and scalping soldiers and taking 

captive many men, women and children while the French 

refused to protect their captives. French naval deployments in 

1757 also successfully defended the key Fortress of Louisbourg 

on Cape Breton Island called Ile du Roi by the French, securing 

the seaward approaches to Quebec.  

British Prime Minister William Pitt's focus on the colonies for 

the 1758 campaign paid off with the taking of Louisbourg after 

French reinforcements were blocked by British naval victory in 

the Battle of Cartagena and in the successful capture of Fort 

Duquesne and Fort Frontenac. The British also continued the 

process of deporting the Acadian population with a wave of 

major operations against Île Saint-Jean (present-day Prince 

Edward Island), and the St. John River and the Petitcodiac 

River valleys. The celebration of these successes was dampened 
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by their embarrassing defeat in the Battle of Carillon 

(Ticonderoga), in which 4,000 French troops repulsed 16,000 

British. When the British led by generals James Abercrombie 

and George Howe attacked, they believed that the French led 

by general Marquis de Montcalm were defended only by a small 

abatis which could be taken easily given the British force's 

significant numerical advantage. The British offensive which 

was supposed to advance in tight columns and overwhelm the 

French defenders fell into confusion and scattered, leaving 

large spaces in their ranks. When the French Chevalier de 

Levis sent 1,000 soldiers to reinforce Montcalm's struggling 

troops, the British were pinned down in the brush by intense 

French musket fire and they were forced to retreat.  

All of Britain's campaigns against New France succeeded in 

1759, part of what became known as an Annus Mirabilis. Fort 

Niagara and Fort Carillon on 8 July 1759 fell to sizable British 

forces, cutting off French frontier forts further west. Starting 

in June 1759, the British under James Wolfe and James 

Murray set up camp on the Ile d'Orleans across the St. 

Lawrence River from Quebec, enabling them to commence the 

3-month siege that ensued. The French under the Marquis de 

Montcalm anticipated a British assault to the east of Quebec 

so he ordered his soldiers to fortify the region of Beauport. On 

31 July the British attacked with 4,000 soldiers but the French 

positioned high up on the cliffs overlooking the Montmorency 

Falls forced the British forces to withdraw to the Ile d'Orleans. 

While Wolfe and Murray planned a second offensive, British 

rangers raided French settlements along the St. Lawrence, 

destroying food supplies, ammunition and other goods in an 

attempt to vanquish the French through starvation.  
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On 13 September 1759, General James Wolfe led 5,000 troops 

up a goat path to the Plains of Abraham, 1 mile west of Quebec 

City. He had positioned his army between Montcalm's forces an 

hour's march to the east and Bougainville's regiments to the 

west, which could be mobilised within 3 hours. Instead of 

waiting for a coordinated attack with Bougainville, Montcalm 

attacked immediately. When his 3,500 troops advanced, their 

lines became scattered in a disorderly formation.  

Many French soldiers fired before they were within range of 

striking the British. Wolfe organised his troops in two lines 

stretching 1 mile across the Plains of Abraham. They were 

ordered to load their Brown Bess muskets with two bullets to 

obtain maximum power and hold their fire until the French 

soldiers came within 40 paces of the British ranks. When 

Montcalm's army was within range of the British, their volley 

was powerful and nearly all bullets hit their targets, 

devastating the French ranks.  

The French fled the Plains of Abraham in a state of utter 

confusion while they were pursued by members of the Scottish 

Fraser regiment and other British forces. Despite being cut 

down by musket fire from the Canadians and their indigenous 

allies, the British vastly outnumbered these opponents and 

won the Battle of the Plains of Abraham. General Wolfe was 

mortally wounded in the chest early in the battle so the 

command fell to James Murray, who would become the 

lieutenant governor of Quebec after the war. The Marquis de 

Montcalm was also severely wounded later in the battle and 

died the following day. The French abandoned the city and 

French Canadians led by the Chevalier de Levis staged a 

counteroffensive on the Plains of Abraham in the spring of 
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1760, with initial success at the Battle of Sainte-Foy. During 

the subsequent siege of Quebec, however, Lévis was unable to 

retake the city, largely because of British naval superiority 

following the Battle of Neuville and the Battle of Restigouche, 

which allowed the British to be resupplied but not the French. 

The French forces retreated to Montreal in the summer of 

1760, and after a two-month campaign by overwhelming 

British forces, they surrendered on 8 September, essentially 

ending the French Empire in North America.  

Seeing French and Indian defeat, in 1760 the Six Nations of 

The Iroquois Confederacy resigned from the war and negotiated 

the Treaty of Kahnawake with the British. Among its conditions 

was their unrestricted travel between Canada and New York, as 

the nations had extensive trade between Montreal and Albany 

as well as populations living throughout the area.  

In 1762, towards the end of the war, French forces attacked 

St. John's, Newfoundland. If successful, the expedition would 

have strengthened France's hand at the negotiating table. 

Although they took St. John's and raided nearby settlements, 

the French forces were eventually defeated by British troops at 

the Battle of Signal Hill. This was the final battle of the war in 

North America, and it forced the French to surrender to 

Lieutenant Colonel William Amherst. The victorious British 

now controlled all of eastern North America.  

The history of the Seven Years' War in North America, 

particularly the expulsion of the Acadians, the siege of Quebec, 

the death of Wolfe, and the Battle of Fort William Henry 

generated a vast number of ballads, broadsides, images, and 

novels (see Longfellow's Evangeline, Benjamin West's The Death 
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of General Wolfe, James Fenimore Cooper's The Last of the 

Mohicans), maps and other printed materials, which testify to 

how this event held the imagination of the British and North 

American public long after Wolfe's death in 1759.  

South America 

In South America (1763), the Portuguese conquered most of the 

Rio Negro valley, and repelled a Spanish attack on Mato Grosso 

(in the Guaporé River).  

Between September 1762 and April 1763, Spanish forces led by 

don Pedro Antonio de Cevallos, Governor of Buenos Aires (and 

later first Viceroy of the Rio de la Plata) undertook a campaign 

against the Portuguese in the Banda Oriental, now Uruguay 

and south Brazil. The Spanish conquered the Portuguese 

settlement of Colonia do Sacramento and Rio Grande de São 

Pedro and forced the Portuguese to surrender and retreat.  

Under the Treaty of Paris (1763), Spain had to return to 

Portugal the settlement of Colonia do Sacramento, while the 

vast and rich territory of the so-called "Continent of S. Peter" 

(the present-day Brazilian state of Rio Grande do Sul) would be 

retaken from the Spanish army during the undeclared Hispano-

Portuguese war of 1763–1777.  

As consequence of the war the Valdivian Fort System, a 

Spanish defensive complex in southern Chile, was updated and 

reinforced from 1764 onwards. Other vulnerable localities of 

colonial Chile such as Chiloé Archipelago, Concepción, Juan 

Fernández Islands and Valparaíso were also made ready for an 

eventual English attack. The war contributed also to a decision 

to improve communications between Buenos Aires and Lima 
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resulting in the establishment of a series of mountain shelters 

in the high Andes called Casuchasdel Rey.  

India 

In India, the outbreak of the Seven Years' War in Europe 

renewed the long running conflict between the French and the 

British trading companies for influence on the subcontinent. 

The French allied themselves with the Mughal Empire to resist 

British expansion. The war began in Southern India but spread 

into Bengal, where British forces under Robert Clive 

recaptured Calcutta from the NawabSirajud-Daulah, a French 

ally, and ousted him from his throne at the Battle of Plassey in 

1757. In the same year, the British also captured 

Chandernagar, the French settlement in Bengal.  

In the south, although the French captured Cuddalore, their 

siege of Madras failed, while the British commander Sir Eyre 

Coote decisively defeated the Comte de Lally at the Battle of 

Wandiwash in 1760 and overran the French territory of the 

Northern Circars. The French capital in India, Pondicherry, fell 

to the British in 1761; together with the fall of the lesser 

French settlements of Karikal and Mahé this effectively 

eliminated French power in India.  

West Africa 

In 1758, at the urging of an American merchant, Thomas 

Cumming, Pitt dispatched an expedition to take the French 

settlement at Saint-Louis, Senegal. The British captured 

Senegal with ease in May 1758 and brought home large 

amounts of captured goods. This success convinced Pitt to 
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launch two further expeditions to take the island of Gorée and 

the French trading post on the Gambia. The loss of these 

valuable colonies further weakened the French economy.  

Outcomes 

The Anglo-French hostilities were ended in 1763 by the Treaty 

of Paris, which involved a complex series of land exchanges, 

the most important being France's cession to Spain of 

Louisiana, and to Great Britain the rest of New France. Britain 

returned to France the islands of St. Pierre and Miquelon, 

which had been ceded to Britain in 1714 under the Treaty of 

Utrecht, to assist with French fishing rights. Faced with the 

choice of regaining either New France or its Caribbean island 

colonies of Guadeloupe and Martinique, France chose the latter 

to retain these lucrative sources of sugar, writing off New 

France as an unproductive, costly territory. France also 

returned Menorca to the British. Spain lost control of Florida 

to Great Britain, but it received from the French the 

Îled'Orléans and all of the former French holdings west of the 

Mississippi River. The exchanges suited the British as well, as 

their own Caribbean islands already supplied ample sugar, 

and, with the acquisition of New France and Florida, they now 

controlled all of North America east of the Mississippi.  

In India, the British retained the Northern Circars, but 

returned all the French trading ports. The treaty, however, 

required that the fortifications of these settlements be 

destroyed and never rebuilt, while only minimal garrisons 

could be maintained there, thus rendering them worthless as 

military bases. Combined with the loss of France's ally in 

Bengal and the defection of Hyderabad to the British as a 
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result of the war, this effectively brought French power in 

India to an end, making way for British hegemony and eventual 

control of the subcontinent. France's navy was crippled by the 

war. Only after an ambitious rebuilding program in 

combination with Spain was France again able to challenge 

Britain's command of the sea.  

Bute's settlement with France was mild compared with what 

Pitt's would have been. He had hoped for a lasting peace with 

France, and he was afraid that if he took too much, the whole 

of Europe would unite in envious hostility against Great 

Britain. Choiseul, however, had no intention of making a 

permanent peace, and, when France went to war with Great 

Britain during the American Revolution, the British found no 

support among the European powers. France's defeat caused 

the French to embark upon major military reforms, with 

particular attention being paid to the artillery. The origins of 

the famed French artillery that played a prominent role in the 

wars of the French Revolution and beyond can to be traced to 

military reforms that started in 1763.  

The Treaty of Hubertusburg, between Austria, Prussia and 

Saxony, was signed on 15 February 1763, at a hunting lodge 

between Dresden and Leipzig. Negotiations had started there 

on 31 December 1762. Frederick, who had considered ceding 

East Prussia to Russia if Peter III helped him secure Saxony, 

finally insisted on excluding Russia (in fact, no longer a 

belligerent) from the negotiations. At the same time, he refused 

to evacuate Saxony until its elector had renounced any claim 

to reparation. The Austrians wanted at least to retain Glatz, 

which they had in fact reconquered, but Frederick would not 

allow it. The treaty simply restored the status quo of 1748, 
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with Silesia and Glatz reverting to Frederick and Saxony to its 

own elector. The only concession that Prussia made to Austria 

was to consent to the election of Archduke Joseph as Holy 

Roman emperor. Saxony emerged from the war weakened and 

bankrupt; despite losing no territory, Saxony had essentially 

been a battleground between Prussia and Austria throughout 

the conflict, with many of its towns and cities (including the 

capital of Dresden) damaged by bombardment and looting.  

Austria was not able to retake Silesia or make any significant 

territorial gain. However, it did prevent Prussia from invading 

parts of Saxony. More significantly, its military performance 

proved far better than during the War of the Austrian 

Succession and seemed to vindicate Maria Theresa's 

administrative and military reforms. Hence, Austria's prestige 

was restored in great part and the empire secured its position 

as a major player in the European system. Also, by promising 

to vote for Joseph II in the Imperial elections, Frederick II 

accepted the Habsburg preeminence in the Holy Roman 

Empire. The survival of Prussia as a first-rate power and the 

enhanced prestige of its king and its army, however, was 

potentially damaging in the long run to Austria's influence in 

Germany.  

Not only that, Austria now found herself estranged with the 

new developments within the empire itself. Beside the rise of 

Prussia, Augustus III, although ineffective, could muster an 

army not only from Saxony, but also Poland, since he was also 

the King of Poland as well as Elector of Saxony. Bavaria's 

growing power and independence was also apparent as it 

asserted more control on the deployment of its army, and 

managed to disengage from the war at its own will. Most 
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importantly, with the now belligerent Hanover united 

personally under George III of Great Britain, It amassed a 

considerable power, and even brought Britain in on future 

conflicts. This power dynamic was important to the future and 

the latter conflicts of the Reich. The war also proved that Maria 

Theresa's reforms were still insufficient to compete with 

Prussia: unlike its enemy, the Austrians were almost bankrupt 

at the end of war. Hence, she dedicated the next two decades 

to the consolidation of her administration.  

Prussia emerged from the war as a great power whose 

importance could no longer be challenged. Frederick the 

Great's personal reputation was enormously enhanced, as his 

debt to fortune (Russia's volte-face after Elizabeth's death) and 

to British financial support were soon forgotten, while the 

memory of his energy and his military genius was strenuously 

kept alive. Though depicted as a key moment in Prussia's rise 

to greatness, the war weakened Prussia. Prussia's lands and 

population were devastated, though Frederick's extensive 

agrarian reforms and encouragement of immigration soon 

solved both these problems. Unfortunately for Prussia, its army 

had taken heavy losses (particularly the officer corps), and in 

the war's aftermath, Frederick could not afford to rebuild the 

Prussian Army to what it was before the war. In the War of the 

Bavarian Succession, the Prussians fought poorly despite being 

led by Frederick in person. During the war with France in 

1792–95, the Prussian Army did not fare well against 

revolutionary France, and in 1806, the Prussians were 

annihilated by the French at the Battle of Jena. It was only 

after 1806 when Prussian government brought in reforms to 

recover from the disaster of Jena that Prussia's rise to 

greatness later in the 19th century was realized. However, 



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 5 

890 

none of this had happened yet, and after 1763, various nations 

all sent officers to Prussia to learn the secrets of Prussia's 

military power. After the Seven Years' War, Prussia become one 

of the most imitated powers in Europe.  

Russia, on the other hand, made one great invisible gain from 

the war: the elimination of French influence in Poland. The 

First Partition of Poland (1772) was to be a Russo-Prussian 

transaction, with Austria only reluctantly involved and with 

France simply ignored. Though the war had ended in a draw, 

the performance of the Imperial Russian Army against Prussia 

had improved Russia's reputation as a factor in European 

politics, as many had not expected the Russians to hold their 

own against the Prussians in campaigns fought on Prussian 

soil. The American historian David Stone observed that 

Russian soldiers proved capable of going head-on against the 

Prussians, inflicting and taking one bloody volley after another 

"without flinching", and though the quality of Russian 

generalship was quite variable, the Russians were never 

decisively defeated once in the war. The Russians defeated the 

Prussians several times in the war, but the Russians lacked 

the necessary logistical capability to follow up their victories 

with lasting gains, and in this sense, the salvation of the 

House of Hohenzollern was due more to Russian weakness with 

respect to logistics than to Prussian strength on the 

battlefield. Still, the fact that the Russians proved capable of 

defeating in battle the army of a "first-rate" European power on 

its own soil despite the often indifferent quality of their 

generals improved Russia's standing in Europe. A lasting 

legacy of the war was that it awakened the Russians to their 

logistic weaknesses, and led to major reforms of the Imperial 

Russian Army's quartermaster department. The supply system 
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that allowed the Russians to advance into the Balkans during 

the war with the Ottomans in 1787–92, Marshal Alexander 

Suvorov to campaign effectively in Italy and Switzerland in 

1798–99, and for the Russians to fight across Germany and 

France in 1813–14 to take Paris was created directly in 

response to the logistic problems experienced by the Russians 

in the Seven Years' War.  

The British government was close to bankruptcy, and Britain 

now faced the delicate task of pacifying its new French-

Canadian subjects as well as the many American Indian tribes 

who had supported France. In 1763, Pontiac's War broke out 

as a group of Indian tribes in the Great Lakes region and the 

Northwest (the modern American Midwest) said to have been 

led by the Ottawa chief Pontiac (whose role as the leader of the 

confederation seems to have been exaggerated by the British), 

unhappy with the eclipse of French power, rebelled against 

British rule. The Indians had long established congenial and 

friendly relations with the French fur traders, and the Anglo-

American fur traders who had replaced the French had engaged 

in business practices that enraged the Indians, who 

complained about being cheated when they sold their furs. 

Moreover, the Indians feared that with the coming of British 

rule might lead to white settlers displacing them off their land, 

whereas it was known that the French had only come as fur 

traders. Pontiac's War was a major conflict in which the British 

temporarily lost control of the Great Lakes-Northwest regions 

to the Indians. By the middle of 1763, the only forts the British 

held in the region were Fort Detroit (modern Detroit, 

Michigan), Fort Niagara (modern Youngstown, New York) and 

Fort Pitt (modern Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania) with the rest all 

being lost to the Indians. It was only with the British victory at 
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the Battle of Bushy Run that prevented a complete collapse of 

British power in the Great Lakes region. King George III's 

Proclamation of 1763, which forbade white settlement beyond 

the crest of the Appalachians, was intended to appease the 

Indians but led to considerable outrage in the Thirteen 

Colonies, whose inhabitants were eager to acquire native 

lands. The Quebec Act of 1774, similarly intended to win over 

the loyalty of French Canadians, also spurred resentment 

among American colonists. The Act protected Catholic religion 

and French language, which enraged the Americans, but the 

Québécois remained loyal to the British Crown during the 

American Revolution and did not rebel.  

The war also brought to an end the "Old System" of alliances in 

Europe, In the years after the war, under the direction of Lord 

Sandwich, the British attempted to re-establish this system. 

But after her surprising grand success against a coalition of 

great powers, European states such as Austria, the Dutch 

Republic, Sweden, Denmark-Norway, the Ottoman Empire and 

Russia, now saw Britain as a greater threat than France and 

did not join with it, while the Prussians were angered by what 

they considered a British betrayal in 1762. Consequently, 

when the American War of Independence turned into a global 

war between 1778 and 1783, Britain found itself opposed by a 

strong coalition of European powers, and lacking any 

substantial ally.  

Cultural references 

• The novel The Luck of Barry Lyndon (1844) by 

William Makepeace Thackeray is set against the 
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Seven Years' War. This is a quote about the war from 

the novel: 

It would require a greater philosopher and historian than I am 

to explain the causes of the famous Seven Years' War in which 

Europe was engaged; and, indeed, its origin has always 

appeared to me to be so complicated, and the books written 

about it so amazingly hard to understand, that I have seldom 

been much wiser at the end of a chapter than at the beginning, 

and so shall not trouble my reader with any personal 

disquisitions concerning the matter. 

• Stanley Kubrick's film Barry Lyndon (1975) is based 

on the Thackeray novel. 

• The events in the early chapters of Voltaire's 

Candide are based on the Seven Years' War; 

according to Jean Starobinski, ("Voltaire's Double-

Barreled Musket", in Blessings in Disguise 

(California, 1993). p. 85), all the atrocities described 

in Chapter 3 are true to life. When Candide was 

written, Voltaire had been opposed to militarism; the 

book's themes of disillusionment and suffering 

underscore this position 

• The board games Friedrich and, more recently, 

Prussia's Defiant Stand and Clash of Monarchs are 

based on the events of the Seven Years' War. 

• The Grand strategy wargameRise of Prussia covers 

the European campaigns of the Seven Years' War 

• The novel The Last of the Mohicans (1826) by James 

Fenimore Cooper, and its subsequent adaptations, 

are set in the North American theatre of the Seven 

Years' War. 
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• The Partisan in War (1789), a treatise on light 

infantry tactics written by Colonel Andreas 

Emmerich, is based on his experiences in the Seven 

Years' War. 

• The Seven Years' War is the central theme of G. E. 

Lessing's 1767 play Minna von Barnhelm or the 

Soldiers' Happiness. 

• Numerous towns and other places now in United 

States were named after Frederick the Great to 

commemorate the victorious conclusion of the war, 

including Frederick, Maryland, and King of Prussia, 

Pennsylvania. 

• The fourth scenario of the second act in the RTS Age 

of Empires III is about this military conflict, with the 

player fighting alongside the French against the 

British. 

• In Ubisoft's video game Assassin's Creed III, early 

missions in the main story/campaign centredaround 

the Assassin/Templar HaythamKenway are set 

during the North American campaigns of the French 

and Indian War. Additionally Assassin's Creed 

Rogue, released in 2014, is set within the timescale 

of the Seven Years' War. 

• Several installments of Diana Gabaldon's fictional 

Lord John series (itself an offshoot of the Outlander 

series) describe a homosexual officer's experiences in 

Germany and France during the Seven Years' War. In 

particular, the short story "Lord John and the 

Succubus" occurs just before the Battle of Rossbach, 

and the novel Lord John and the Brotherhood of the 

Blade centers around the Battle of Krefeld. 



Chapter 35 

Battle of Jumonville Glen 

The Battle of Jumonville Glen, also known as the Jumonville 

affair, was the opening battle of the French and Indian War, 

fought on May 28, 1754, near present-day Hopwood and 

Uniontown in Fayette County, Pennsylvania. A company of 

colonial militia from Virginia under the command of Lieutenant 

Colonel George Washington, and a small number of Mingo 

warriors led by Tanacharison (also known as "Half King"), 

ambushed a force of 35 Canadiens under the command of 

Joseph Coulon de Villiers de Jumonville.  

A larger French Canadien force had driven off a small crew 

attempting to construct a British fort under the auspices of the 

Ohio Company at present-day Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, land 

claimed by the French. A British colonial force led by George 

Washington was sent to protect the fort under construction. 

The French Canadians sent Jumonville to warn Washington 

about encroaching on French-claimed territory. Washington 

was alerted to Jumonville's presence by Tanacharison, and 

they joined forces to ambush the Canadien camp. Washington's 

force killed Jumonville and some of his men in the ambush, 

and captured most of the others. The exact circumstances of 

Jumonville's death are a subject of historical controversy and 

debate.  

Since Britain and France were not then at war, the event had 

international repercussions, and was a contributing factor in 

the start of the Seven Years' War in 1756. After the action, 

Washington retreated to Fort Necessity, where Canadien forces 
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from Fort Duquesne compelled his surrender. The terms of 

Washington's surrender included a statement (written in 

French, a language Washington did not read) admitting that 

Jumonville was assassinated. This document and others were 

used by the French and Canadiens to level accusations that 

Washington had ordered Jumonville's slaying.  

Background 

Throughout the 1740s and early 1750s, British and Canadien 

traders had increasingly come into contact in the Ohio 

Country, including the upper watershed of the Ohio River in 

what is now western Pennsylvania. Authorities in New France 

became more aggressive in their efforts to expel British traders 

and colonists from this area, and in 1753 began construction 

of a series of fortifications in the area.  

The French action drew the attention of not just the British, 

but also the Indian tribes of the area. Despite good Franco-

Indian relations, British traders had become highly successful 

in convincing the Indians to trade with them in preference to 

the Canadiens, and the planned large-scale advance was not 

well received by all. In particular, Tanacharison, a Mingo chief 

also known as the "Half King", became decidedly anti-French 

as a consequence. In a meeting with Paul Marin de la Malgue, 

commander of the French and Canadien construction force, the 

latter reportedly lost his temper, and shouted at the Indian 

chief, "I tell you, down the river I will go. If the river is blocked 

up, I have the forces to burst it open and tread under my feet 

all that oppose me. I despise all the stupid things you have 

said." He then threw down some wampum that Tanacharison 

had offered as a good will gesture. Marin died not long after, 
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and command of the operations was turned over to Jacques 

Legardeur de Saint-Pierre.  

Virginia Royal Governor Robert Dinwiddie sent militia Major 

George Washington to the Ohio Country (a territory that was 

claimed by several of the British colonies, including Virginia) 

as an emissary in December 1753, to tell the French to leave. 

Saint-Pierre politely informed Washington that he was there 

pursuant to orders, that Washington's letter should have been 

addressed to his commanding officer in Canada, and that he 

had no intention of leaving.  

Washington returned to Williamsburg and informed Governor 

Dinwiddie that the French refused to leave. Dinwiddie 

commissioned Washington a lieutenant colonel, and ordered 

him to begin raising a militia regiment to hold the Forks of the 

Ohio, a site Washington had identified as a fine location for a 

fortress. The governor also issued a captain's commission to 

Ohio Company employee William Trent, with instructions to 

raise a small force and immediately begin construction of the 

fort. Dinwiddie issued these instructions on his own authority, 

without even asking for funding from the Virginia House of 

Burgesses until after the fact. Trent's company arrived on site 

in February 1754, and began construction of a storehouse and 

stockade with the assistance of Tanacharison and the Mingos. 

That same month a force of 800 Canadien militia and French 

troupes de la marine departed Montreal for the Ohio River 

valley under the command of the Canadien Claude-Pierre 

Pécaudy de Contrecœur, who took over command from Saint-

Pierre. When Contrecœur learned of Trent's activity, he led a 

force of about 500 men (troupes de la marine, militia, and 

Indians) to drive them off (rumors reaching Trent's men put its 
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size at 1,000). On April 16, Contrecœur's force arrived at the 

forks; the next day, Trent's force of 36 men, led by Ensign 

Edward Ward in Trent's absence, agreed to leave the site. The 

French then began construction of the fort they called Fort 

Duquesne.  

Prelude 

In March 1754, Governor Dinwiddie ordered Washington back 

to the frontier with instructions to "act on the [defensive], but 

in Case any Attempts are made to obstruct the Works or 

interrupt our [settlements] by any Persons whatsoever, You are 

to restrain all such Offenders, & in Case of resistance to make 

Prisoners of or kill & destroy them". Historian Fred Anderson 

describes Dinwiddie's instructions, which were issued without 

the knowledge or direction of the British government in 

London, as "an invitation to start a war". Washington was 

ordered to gather up as many supplies and paid volunteers as 

he could along the way. By the time he left for the frontier on 

April 2, he had recruited fewer than 160 men.  

Along their march through the forests of the frontier, 

Washington was joined by more men at Winchester. At this 

point he learned from Captain Trent of the French advance. 

Trent also brought a message from Tanacharison, who 

promised warriors to assist the British. To keep Tanacharison's 

support, Washington decided not to turn back, choosing 

instead to advance. He reached a place known as the Great 

Meadows (now in Fayette County, Pennsylvania), about 37 

miles (60 km) south of the forks, began construction of a small 

fort and awaited further news or instructions.  
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Contrecœur operated under orders that forbade attacks by his 

force unless they were provoked. On May 23, he sent Joseph 

Coulon de Villiers de Jumonville with 35 soldiers (principally 

Canadien recruits, but also including French recruits and 

officers) to see if Washington had entered French territory, and 

with a summons to order Washington's troops out; this 

summons was similar in nature to the one Washington had 

delivered to them four months earlier.  

On May 27, Washington was informed by Christopher Gist, a 

settler who had accompanied him on the 1753 expedition, that 

a Canadien party numbering about 50 was in the area. In 

response, Washington sent 75 men with Gist to find them. That 

evening, Washington received a message from Tanacharison, 

informing him that he had found the Canadien camp, and that 

the two of them should meet. Despite the fact that he had just 

sent another group in pursuit of the Canadiens, Washington 

went with a detachment of 40 men to meet with Tanacharison. 

The Mingo leader had with him 12 warriors, two of whom were 

boys. After discussing the matter, the two leaders agreed to 

make an attack on the Canadiens. The attackers took up 

positions behind rocks around the Canadien camp, counting 

not more than 40 Canadiens.  

Battle 

Exactly what happened next has been a subject of controversy 

and debate. The few primary accounts of the affair agree on a 

number of facts, and disagree on others. They agree that the 

battle lasted about 15 minutes, that Jumonville was killed, and 

that most of his party were either killed or taken prisoner. 

According to Canadian records, most of the dead were 
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Canadiens: Desroussel and Caron from Québec City, Charles 

Bois from Pointe-Claire, Jérôme from La Prairie, L'Enfant from 

Montréal, Paris from Mille-Isles, Languedoc and Martin from 

Boucherville, and LaBatterie from Trois-Rivières.  

Washington's accounts of the battle exist in several versions; 

they are consistent with each other, but the details are 

compressed, according to historian Fred Anderson, with intent 

to obscure post-battle atrocities. He wrote in his diary, "We 

were advanced pretty near to them ... when they discovered us; 

whereupon I ordered my company to fire ... [Wagonner's] 

Company ... received the whole Fire of the French, during the 

greatest Part of the Action, which only lasted a Quarter of an 

Hour, before the Enemy was routed. We killed Mr. de 

Jumonville, the commander ... also nine others; we wounded 

one, and made Twenty-one Prisoners".  

Contrecœur prepared an official report of the action that was 

based on two sources. Most of it came from a Canadien named 

Monceau who escaped the action but apparently did not 

witness Jumonville's slaying:  

• [Jumonville's party] saw themselves surrounded by 

the English on one side and the Indians on the 

Other. The English gave them two volleys, but the 

Indians did not fire. Mr. de Jumonville, by his 

interpreter, told them to desist, that he had 

something to tell them. Upon which they ceased 

firing. Then Mr. de Jumonville ordered the Summons 

which I had sent them to retire, to be read ... 

Monceau saw all our Frenchmen coming up close to 

Mr. de Jumonville, whilst they were reading the 
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Summons ... during which Time, said Monceau made 

the best of his Way to us". 

Contrecœur's second source was an Indian from 

Tanacharison's camp, who reported that "Mr. de Jumonville 

was killed by a Musket-Shot in the Head, whilst they were 

reading the Summons". The same Indian claimed that the 

Indians then rushed in to prevent the British from slaughtering 

the Frenchmen.  

A third account was made by a private named John Shaw who 

was in Washington's regiment, but not present at the affair. 

His account, based on detailed accounts from others who were 

present, was made in a sworn statement on August 21; the 

details on Tanacharison's role in the affair are confirmed in a 

newspaper account printed on June 27. In his account, the 

French were surrounded while some still slept. Alerted by a 

noise, one of the Frenchmen  

• fired a Gun upon which Col. Washington gave the 

Word for all his Men to fire. Several of them being 

killed, the rest betook themselves to flight, but our 

Indians haveing gone round the French ... they fled 

back to the English and delivered up their Arms ... 

Some Time after[,] the Indians came up[,] the Half 

King took his Tomahawk and split the Head of the 

French Captain haveing first asked if he was an 

Englishman and haveing been told he was a French 

Man. He then took his Brains and washed his Hands 

with them and then scalped him. All this ... [Shaw] 

has heard and never heard it contradicted but knows 

nothing of it from his own Knowledge". 
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Shaw's narrative is substantially correct on a number of other 

details, including the size and composition of both forces. 

Shaw also claimed to have seen and counted the dead, 

numbering 13 or 14.  

Historian Anderson documents a fourth account, by a deserter 

from the British–Indian camp named Denis Kaninguen; 

Anderson speculates that he was one of Tanacharison's 

followers. His report to the French commanders echoed that of 

Shaw: "notwithstanding the discharge of musket fire that 

[Washington] had made upon him, he [Washington] intended to 

read [the summons] and had withdrawn himself to his people, 

whom he had [previously] ordered to fire upon the 

French[.T]hat [Tanacharison], a savage, came up to [the 

wounded Jumonville] and had said, "Tun'es pas encore mort, 

mon père!" [Thou art not yet dead, my father!] and struck 

several hatchet blows with which he killed him." Anderson 

notes that Kaninguen apparently understood what 

Tanacharison said, and understood it to be a ritual slaying. 

Kaninguen reported that 30 men were taken prisoner, and 10 

to 12 had been killed. The Virginians suffered only one killed 

and two or three wounded.  

Aftermath 

Washington wrote a letter to his brother after the battle, in 

which he said "I can with truth assure you, I heard bullets 

whistle and believe me, there was something charming in the 

sound." Following the battle, Washington returned to the Great 

Meadows and pushed onward the construction of a fort, which 

was called Fort Necessity. The dead were left on the field or 
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buried in shallow graves, where they were later found by the 

French.  

On June 28, 1754, a combined force of 600 French, Canadien 

and Indian soldiers under the command of Jumonville's 

brother, Louis Coulon de Villiers, left Fort Duquesne. On July 

3, they captured Fort Necessity in the Battle of the Great 

Meadows, forcing Washington to negotiate a withdrawal under 

arms. The capitulation document Washington signed, which 

was written in French (a language Washington did not know 

how to read, and which may have been poorly translated for 

him), included language claiming that Jumonville and his men 

were assassinated.  

Escalation 

When news of the two battles reached England in August, the 

government of the Duke of Newcastle, after several months of 

negotiations, sent an army expedition the following year to 

dislodge the French. Major General Edward Braddock was 

chosen to lead the expedition. He was defeated at the Battle of 

the Monongahela, and the French remained in control of Fort 

Duquesne until 1758, when an expedition under General John 

Forbes finally succeeded in taking the fort.  

Word of the British military plans leaked to France well before 

Braddock's departure for North America, and King Louis XV 

dispatched a much larger body of troops to Canada in 1755. 

Although they arrived too late to participate in Braddock's 

defeat, the French troop presence led to a string of French 

victories in the following years. In a second British act of 

aggression, Admiral Edward Boscawen fired on the French ship 
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Alcide in a naval action on June 8, 1755, capturing her and 

two troop ships carrying some of those troops. Military matters 

escalated on both North American soil and at sea until France 

and Britain declared war on each other in spring 1756, 

marking the formal start of the Seven Years' War.  

Propaganda and analysis 

Because of the inconsistent nature of the record of the action, 

contemporary and historical coverage of it has been easily 

colored by preferences for one account over another. Francis 

Parkman, for example, accepted Washington's account, and 

was highly dismissive of the accounts by Monceau and the 

Indian.  

French authorities assembled a dossier of documents to 

counter British accounts of the affair.  

Entitled "Mémoirecontenant le précis des faits, avec 

leurspiècesjustificatives, pour servir de réponse aux 

'Observations' envoyées par les Ministresd'Angleterre, dans les 

cours de l'Europe", a copy was intercepted in 1756, translated, 

and published as "A memorial containing a summary view of 

facts, with their authorities, in answer to observations sent by 

the English ministry to the courts of Europe". It used 

Washington's capitulation statement and other documents, 

including extracts of Washington's journal taken at Fort 

Necessity, to suggest that Washington had actually ordered the 

assassination of Jumonville. But not all Frenchmen agreed 

with the story: the Chevalier de Lévis called it a "pretended 

assassination". The French story contrasted with that of the 

British account. Based on Washington's report, the British 
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suggested that Jumonville, rather than being engaged on a 

diplomatic mission, was spying on them. Jumonville's orders 

included specific instructions to notify Contrecœur if the 

summons was read, so that additional forces might be sent if 

needed.  

Historian Fred Anderson theorizes about the reasons for 

Tanacharison's action in the killing, and provides a possible 

explanation for why one of Tanacharison's men reports the 

event as a British killing of a Frenchman. Tanacharison had 

lost influence over some of the local tribes (specifically the 

Delawares), and may have thought that conflict between the 

British and French would bring them back under his influence 

as allies of the British. According to Parkman, after the 

Indians scalped the French, they sent a scalp to the Delawares, 

in essence offering them the opportunity to "take up the 

hatchet" with the British and against the French.  

Legacy 

A portion of the battlefield, along with the Great Meadows 

where Fort Necessity was located, has been preserved as a part 

of Fort Necessity National Battlefield. Jumonville's name has 

been given to a Christian retreat center near the site. The non-

profit Braddock Road Preservation Association, named for the 

road General Braddock constructed to reach Fort Duquesne, 

sponsors research and promotes the French and Indian War 

history of the area.  

  



Chapter 36 

Albany Congress 

The Albany Congress (June 19 – July 11, 1754), also known as 

the Albany Convention of 1754, was a meeting of 

representatives sent by the legislatures of seven of the thirteen 

British colonies in British America: Connecticut, Maryland, 

Massachusetts, New Hampshire, New York, Pennsylvania, and 

Rhode Island. Northernmost Newfoundland and Nova Scotia 

were not in attendance. Representatives met daily at the City 

Hall (Dutch: Stadt Huys) in Albany from June 19 to July 11, 

1754, to discuss better relations with the Native American 

tribes and common defensive measures against the French 

threat from Canada in the opening stage of the French and 

Indian War, the North American front of the Seven Years' War 

between Great Britain and France.  

Delegates did not have the goal of creating an American nation; 

rather, they were colonists with the more limited mission of 

pursuing a treaty with the Mohawks and other major Iroquois 

tribes. This was the first time that American colonists had met 

together, and it provided a model that came into use in setting 

up the Stamp Act Congress in 1765, as well as the First 

Continental Congress in 1774, which were preludes to the 

American Revolution.  

Overview 

The Albany Congress was the first time in the 18th century 

that American colonial representatives met to discuss some 
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manner of formal union. In the 17th century, some New 

England colonies had formed a loose association called the New 

England Confederation, principally for purposes of defense, as 

raiding was frequent by French and allied Indian tribes. In the 

1680s, the British government created the Dominion of New 

England as a unifying government over the colonies between 

the Delaware River and Penobscot Bay, but it was dissolved in 

1689. Jacob Leisler summoned an intercolonial congress which 

met in New York on May 1, 1690 to plan concerted action 

against the French and Indians, but he attracted only the 

colonies as far south as Maryland.  

History 

The Albany delegates spent most of their time debating 

Benjamin Franklin's Albany Plan of union to create a unified 

level of colonial government. The delegates voted approval of a 

plan that called for a union of 11 colonies, with a president 

appointed by the British Crown. Each colonial assembly would 

send 2 to 7 delegates to a "grand council," which would have 

legislative powers. The Union would have jurisdiction over 

Indian affairs.  

The plan was rejected by the colonies' legislatures, which were 

protective of their independent charters, and by the Colonial 

Office, which wanted a military command. Many elements of 

the plan were later the basis for the American government 

established by the Articles of Confederation of 1777 and the 

Constitution of 1787. Franklin speculated in 1789 that the 

colonies might not have separated from England so soon if the 

1754 plan had been adopted:  
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On Reflection it now seems probable, that if the foregoing Plan 

or some thing like it, had been adopted and carried into 

Execution, the subsequent Separation of the Colonies from the 

Mother Country might not so soon have happened, nor the 

Mischiefs suffered on both sides have occurred, perhaps during 

another Century. For the Colonies, if so united, would have 

really been, as they then thought themselves, sufficient to 

their own Defence, and being trusted with it, as by the Plan, 

an Army from Britain, for that purpose would have been 

unnecessary: The Pretences for framing the Stamp-Act would 

not then have existed, nor the other Projects for drawing a 

Revenue from America to Britain by Acts of Parliament, which 

were the Cause of the Breach, and attended with such terrible 

Expence of Blood and Treasure: so that the different Parts of 

the Empire might still have remained in Peace and Union. 

The Congress and its Albany Plan have achieved iconic status 

as presaging the formation of the United States of America in 

1776. It is often illustrated with Franklin's famous snake 

cartoon Join, or Die.  

Plan of Union 

Benjamin Franklin's plan to unite the colonies exceeded the 

scope of the congress, which had been called to plan a defense 

against the French and Indian threat. The original plan was 

heavily debated by all who attended the conference, including 

the young Philadelphia lawyer Benjamin Chew. Numerous 

modifications were also proposed by Thomas Hutchinson, who 

later became Governor of Massachusetts. The delegates passed 

the plan unanimously. They submitted it with their 

recommendations, but the legislatures of the seven colonies 
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rejected it, as it would have removed some of their existing 

powers. The plan was never sent to the Crown for approval, 

although it was submitted to the British Board of Trade, which 

also rejected it.  

The Plan of Union proposed to include all the British North 

American colonies, although none of the colonies south of 

Maryland sent representatives to the Albany Congress. (Note 

that the "Lower Counties on the Delaware" were then 

administered by Pennsylvania, and Georgia Colony was slow to 

start.)  

The plan called for a single executive (President-General) to be 

appointed by the King, who would be responsible for relations 

with the Indians, military preparedness, and execution of laws 

regulating various trade and financial activities.  

It called for a Grand Council to be selected by the colonial 

legislatures, with the number of delegates to be apportioned 

according to the taxes paid by each colony. The colonial 

assemblies rejected the plan, although delegates forming the 

government after the Revolution incorporated some features in 

the Articles of Confederation and the Constitution.  

Participants 

Twenty-one representatives attended the Congress from New 

York, Pennsylvania, Maryland, Massachusetts, Rhode Island, 

Connecticut, and New Hampshire. New York Governor James 

DeLancey was host governor and Chairman. Peter Wraxall 

served as Secretary to the Congress.  
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Delegates included:  

• Connecticut: William Pitkin‡, Oliver Wolcott, Elisha 

Williams 

• Maryland: Abraham Barnes, Benjamin Tasker Jr.‡ 

• Massachusetts: Thomas Hutchinson‡, Oliver 

Partridge 

• New Hampshire: MeshechWeare, Theodore Atkinson‡ 

• New York: James DeLancey, William Johnson‡, Philip 

Livingston, William Smith‡ 

• Pennsylvania: Secretary Benjamin Chew, John Penn, 

Richard Peters, Isaac Norris, and Benjamin Franklin. 

Conrad Weiser and Benjamin Franklin's son William‡ 

attended as extra staff. 

• Rhode Island: Martin Howard, Stephen Hopkins‡ 

• ‡ Indicates Members of the committee of the Plan of 

Union  

  



Chapter 37

Columbia University 

Columbia University (also known as Columbia, and officially as 

Columbia University in the City of New York) is a private Ivy 

League research university in New York City. Established in 

1754 as King's College on the grounds of Trinity Church in 

Manhattan, Columbia is the oldest institution of higher 

education in New York and the fifth-oldest institution of higher 

learning in the United States. It is one of nine colonial colleges 

founded prior to the Declaration of Independence, seven of 

which belong to the Ivy League. Columbia is ranked among the 

top universities in the world by major education publications.  

Columbia was established by royal charter under George II of 

Great Britain. It was renamed Columbia College in 1784 

following the American Revolution, and in 1787 was placed 

under a private board of trustees headed by former students 

Alexander Hamilton and John Jay. In 1896, the campus was 

moved to its current location in Morningside Heights and 

renamed Columbia University.  

Columbia scientists and scholars have played a pivotal role in 

scientific breakthroughs including brain-computer interface; 

the laser and maser; nuclear magnetic resonance; the first 

nuclear pile; the first nuclear fission reaction in the Americas; 

the first evidence for plate tectonics and continental drift; and 

much of the initial research and planning for the Manhattan 

Project during World War II. Columbia is organized into twenty 

schools, including four undergraduate schools and 16 graduate 

schools. The university's research efforts include the Lamont–
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Doherty Earth Observatory, the Goddard Institute for Space 

Studies, and accelerator laboratories with major technology 

firms such as IBM. Columbia is a founding member of the 

Association of American Universities and was the first school 

in the United States to grant the MD degree. With over 14.5 

million volumes, Columbia University Library is the third-

largest private research library in the United States.  

The university's endowment stands at $11.26 billion in 2020, 

among the largest of any academic institution. As of 

October 2020, Columbia's alumni, faculty, and staff have 

included: seven Founding Fathers of the United States; four 

U.S. presidents; 29 foreign heads of state; ten justices of the 

United States Supreme Court, one of whom currently serves; 

96 Nobel laureates; five Fields Medalists; 122 National 

Academy of Sciences members; 53 living billionaires; 18 

Olympic medalists; 33 Academy Award winners; and 125 

Pulitzer Prize recipients.  

History 

The history of Columbia University began before it was 

founded in 1754 in New York City as King's College, by royal 

charter of King George II of Great Britain. It is the oldest 

institution of higher learning in the state of New York, and the 

fifth oldest in the United States.  

Founding of King's College 

The period leading up to the school's founding was marked by 

controversy, with various groups competing to determine its 
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location and religious affiliation. Advocates of New York City 

met with success on the first point, while the Church of 

England prevailed on the latter. However, all constituencies 

agreed to commit themselves to principles of religious liberty 

in establishing the policies of the College.  

Although the City of New York had come under the control of 

the English in 1674, no serious discussions as to the founding 

of a university began until the early eighteenth-century. This 

delay is often attributed to the multitude of languages and 

religions practiced in the province, which made the founding of 

a seat of learning difficult. Colleges during the colonial period 

were regarded as a religious, no less a scientific and literary 

institution.  

The large gap between the founding of New York province and 

the opening of its first college stands in contrast to 

institutions such as Harvard University, which was created 

only six years after the founding of Boston, Massachusetts, a 

colony with a more homogenous Puritan population. 

Discussions regarding the founding of a college in the Province 

of New York began as early as 1704, when Colonel Lewis Morris 

wrote to the Society for the Propagation of the Gospel in 

Foreign Parts, the missionary arm of the Church of England, 

persuading the society that New York City was an ideal 

community in which to establish a college. The lands on which 

Morris had initially designed the college to be built, known as 

"King's Farm, were vested to Trinity Church by Lord 

Cornburry, and nothing came of the proposition to form a 

college in the provence until almost fifty years later. The 

founding of Harvard in 1636 and Yale in 1701 had set no 

competitive juices flowing among New York's merchants. But 
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the announcement in the summer of 1745 that New Jersey, 

which had only seven years before secured a government 

separate from New York's and was still considered by New 

Yorkers to be within its cultural catch basin, was about to 

found the College of New Jersey, now Princeton University, 

demanded an immediate response.  

In 1746 an act was passed by the general assembly of New 

York to raise a sum of £2,250 by public lottery for the 

foundation of a new college, despite the fact that the University 

had neither a founding denomination nor a location for its first 

campus. In 1751, the assembly appointed a commission of ten 

New York residents, seven of whom were Church of England 

members, to direct the funds accrued by the state lottery 

towards the foundation of a college. Funds were also provided 

by many of the wealthiest individuals of the period, including 

numerous slave owners and slave traders. In March of the 

following year, the vestrymen of Trinity Church offered the 

commission the six-northernmost acres of its property for the 

foundation of the college, which settled the problem of the 

college's first campus; however, considerable outcry from 

William Livingston and other members of the commission who 

believed that the college should be nonsectarian caused further 

delay in the college's founding. Despite Livingston's objections, 

the commission voted to accept the lands from Trinity Church 

on the condition that the college's affiliation be Church of 

England. The commission chose as the college's first president 

Dr. Samuel Johnson, a preeminent scholar who had received 

his doctorate from The University of Oxford, and had been 

sought in similar capacity to preside over the College of 

Philadelphia, now The University of Pennsylvania.  
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King's College (1754–1784) 

Classes were initially held in July 1754, the delay stemming 

from the inability of the college to secure adequate faculty. Dr. 

Johnson was the only instructor of the college's first class, 

which consisted of a mere eight students. Instruction was held 

in a new schoolhouse adjoining Trinity Church, located on 

what is now lower Broadway in Manhattan. The college was 

officially founded on October 31, 1754, as King's College by 

royal charter of King George II, making it the oldest institution 

of higher learning in the state of New York and the fifth oldest 

in the United States. On June 3 of the following year, the 

Governors of the College adopted a design prepared by Dr. 

Johnson for the seal of King's College, which continues to be 

that of Columbia College with the alteration in name. In 1760, 

King's College moved to its own building at Park Place, near 

the present City Hall, and in 1767 it established the first 

American medical school to grant the M.D. degree.  

Controversy surrounded the founding of the new college in New 

York, as it was a thoroughly Church of England institution 

dominated by the influence of Crown officials in its governing 

body, such as the Archbishop of Canterbury and the Secretary 

of State for the Colonies. Fears of the establishment of a 

Church of England episcopacy and of Crown influence in 

America through King's College were underpinned by its vast 

wealth, far surpassing all other colonial colleges of the period.  

In 1763, Dr. Johnson was succeeded in the presidency by 

Myles Cooper, a graduate of The Queen's College, Oxford, and 

an ardent Tory. In the political controversies which preceded 

The American Revolution, his chief opponent in discussions at 
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the College was an undergraduate of the class of 1777, 

Alexander Hamilton. On one occasion, a mob came to the 

College, bent on doing violence to the president, but Hamilton 

held their attention with a speech, giving Cooper enough time 

to escape. The next year the Revolutionary War broke out and 

the College was turned into a military hospital and barracks.  

The American Revolution and the subsequent war were 

catastrophic for the operation of King's College. It suspended 

instruction for eight years beginning in 1776 with the arrival of 

the Continental Army in the spring of that year. The 

suspension continued through the military occupation of New 

York City by British troops until their departure in 1783. The 

college's library was looted and its sole building requisitioned 

for use as a military hospital first by American and then 

British forces. Although the college had been considered a 

bastion of Tory sentiment, it nevertheless produced many key 

leaders of the Revolutionary generation — individuals later 

instrumental in the college's revival. Among the earliest 

students and trustees of King's College were five "founding 

fathers" of the United States: John Jay, who negotiated the 

Treaty of Paris between the United States and the Kingdom of 

Great Britain, ending the Revolutionary War, and who later 

became the first Chief Justice of the United States; Alexander 

Hamilton, military aide to General George Washington, author 

of most of the Federalist Papers, and the first Secretary of the 

Treasury; Gouverneur Morris, the author of the final draft of 

the United States Constitution; Robert R. Livingston, a member 

of the Committee of Five, that drafted the Declaration of 

Independence; and Egbert Benson who represented New York 

in the Continental Congress and the Annapolis Convention, 

and who was a ratifier of the United States Constitution.  
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Post Revolutionary War Recovery 

(1784–1800) 

Columbia College under the Regents 

King's college had been in a state of abeyance for eight years 

by the time the war ended, with many of the members of the 

college's Board of Governors either absent or killed during the 

revolution. The college turned to the State of New York in order 

to restore its vitality, promising to make whatever changes to 

the schools charter the state might demand. The Legislature 

agreed to assist the college, and on May 1, 1784, it passed "an 

Act for granting certain privileges to the College heretofore 

called King's College." The Act created a Board of Regents to 

oversee the resuscitation of King's, giving them the power to 

hire a college president and appoint professors, but prohibiting 

the College from administering any "religious test-oath" to its 

faculty. Finally, in an effort to demonstrate its support for the 

new Republic, the Legislature stipulated that "the College 

within the City of New York heretofore called King's College be 

forever hereafter called and known by the name of Columbia 

College."  

On May 5, 1784, the Regents held their first meeting, 

instructing Treasurer Brockholst Livingston and Secretary 

Robert Harpur (who was Professor of Mathematics and Natural 

Philosophy at King's) to recover the books, records and any 

other assets that had been dispersed during the war, and 

appointing a committee to supervise the repairs of the college 

building. In addition, the Regents moved quickly to rebuild 
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Columbia's faculty, appointing William Cochran instructor of 

Greek and Latin. In the summer of 1784, after the legislature 

passed the act restoring the college, Major General James 

Clinton, a hero of the revolutionary war, brought his son 

DeWitt Clinton to New York on his way to enroll him as a 

student at the College of New Jersey. When James Duane, the 

Mayor of New York and a member of the Regents, heard that 

the younger Clinton was leaving the state for his education, he 

pleaded with Cochran to offer him admission to the 

reconstituted Columbia. Cochran agreed — partly because 

DeWitt's uncle, George Clinton, the Governor of New York, had 

recently been elected Chancellor of the College by the Regents 

— and DeWitt Clinton became one of nine students admitted to 

Columbia in the year 1784.  

During the period under the Regents, many efforts were made 

to put the University on respectable footing, resolving to 

organize the college into the four faculties of Arts, Divinity, 

Medicine, and Law. A number of different professorships were 

created within each faculty, while the college remained under 

the supervision of the Regents. The staff of the entire 

university - which included numerous aforementioned 

professors, a president, a secretary, and a librarian – operated 

under the yearly budget of £1,200. During this period no 

president was able to be appointed due to the college's 

inadequate funds, which rendered it unable to offer a salary as 

would induce a suitable person to accept the office. Instead, 

the duties of the president's office were held by the schools 

various professors, which led to discord between the school's 

faculty members. The Regents finally became aware of the 

college's defective constitution in February 1787 and appointed 

a revision committee, which was headed by John Jay and 
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Alexander Hamilton. In April of that same year, a new charter 

was adopted for the college, still in use today, granting power 

to a private board of twenty-four Trustees.  

Columbia College 

On May 21, 1787, William Samuel Johnson, the son of Dr. 

Samuel Johnson, was unanimously elected President of 

Columbia College. Prior to serving at the University, Johnson 

had participated in the First Continental Congress and been 

chosen as a delegate to the Constitutional Convention. For a 

period in the 1790s, with New York City as the federal and 

state capital and the country under successive Federalist 

governments, a revived Columbia thrived under the auspices of 

Federalists such as Hamilton and Jay. Both President George 

Washington and Vice President John Adams attended the 

College's commencement on May 6, 1789, as a tribute of honor 

to the many alumni of the school that had been instrumental 

in bringing about the independence of the fledgling United 

States of America.  

During the period of Johnson's presidency, the College's 

campus began to expand, and in 1792 a new library extension 

was built to accommodate the College's growing library with 

the help of a grant from the Legislature of New York State. In 

December 1793, the Professorship of Law was filled by the 

election of James Kent, who gave the first instruction of law at 

any American University and was a forerunner to the 

University's Law School. On July 16, 1800, the seventy-four-

year-old Dr. Johnson resigned his presidency of the College. In 

1801, the Board of Trustees appointed Charles Henry Wharton 

as Dr. Johnson's successor. Wharton was to assume the office 
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of president at the August commencement ceremonies, but he 

did not appear for them, and resigned in the fall.  

College stagnation (1800–1857) 

Despite the College's liberal acceptance of various religious 

and ethnic groups, during the period from 1785–1849 the 

institutional life of the college was a continuous struggle for 

existence, owing to inadequate means and lack of financial 

support.  

The curriculum of the college during the beginning of the 19th 

century was mostly focused on study of the classics. As a 

result, the major prerequisite for admission into the College 

was familiarity with Greek and Latin and a basic 

understanding of mathematics. In 1810, following the advice of 

a committee put together by members of the school, the College 

greatly tightened its admission standards; nonetheless, 

admission of qualified students increased, with 135 students 

matriculating in 1810. In the preceding decade, the average 

size of the graduating class had been seventeen.  

Because the school had no athletic program, student life 

during this period was mainly focused around literary groups 

such as the Philolexian Society, which was founded in 1802. In 

1811, the College's new president William Harris presided over 

what became known as the ""Riotous Commencement" in which 

students violently protested the faculty's decision not to confer 

a degree upon John Stevenson, who had inserted objectionable 

words into his commencement speech.  
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The main building which housed the College was decayed and 

unsightly in appearance; however, the funds of the College 

were augmented somewhat by the growing importance of its 

investments in real estate, although the true value of some of 

these acquisitions would not come to light until over a century 

later. For example, in 1814 the New York Legislature 

responded to the College's appeal for financial assistance by 

giving the school the Elgin Botanic Garden, a twenty-acre tract 

of land that had been privately developed as the nation's first 

botanical garden by physician David Hosack, but which Hosack 

had closed and resold to the state at a loss. The site, which 

had been 3+1 ∕2 miles (5.6 km) outside of the city limits in 

1801, was leased by Columbia to John D. Rockefeller Jr. in the 

1920s for the construction of Rockefeller Center. It was still 

owned by Columbia until 1985, when it was sold for $400 

million.  

In November 1813, the College agreed to combine its medical 

school with The College of Physicians and Surgeons, a new 

school created by the Regents of New York, forming Columbia 

University College of Physicians and Surgeons. During the 

1820s, the College renovated its campus and continued to seek 

grants from the state while it slowly expanded the scope of its 

academic catalog, adding Italian courses in 1825.  

The College's enrollment, structure, and academics stagnated 

for the remaining forty years, with many of the college 

presidents doing little to change the way that the College 

functioned. Adding to the woes of the College during this 

period, in 1831 the school began to face direct competition in 

the form of the University of the City of New York, which was 

later to become New York University. This new university had a 
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more utilitarian curriculum, which stood in contrast to 

Columbia's focus on ancient literature. As a demonstration of 

NYU's popularity, by the second year of its operation it had 

158 students, whereas Columbia College, eighty years after its 

founding, only had 120. Trustees of Columbia attempted to 

block the founding of NYU, issuing pamphlets to dissuade the 

Legislature from opening another university while Columbia 

continued to struggle financially. By July, 1854 the Christian 

Examiner of Boston, in an article entitled "The Recent 

Difficulties at Columbia College", noted that the school was 

"good in classics" yet "weak in sciences", and had "very few 

distinguished graduates".  

When Charles King became Columbia's president in November 

1849, the College was in large amounts of debt, having 

exceeded their annual expenditure by about $2200 for the past 

fifteen years. On his formal inauguration, King spoke on the 

duties and responsibilities of the university staff, and 

espoused the virtues of copying the English university system. 

By this time, the College's investments in New York real estate, 

particularly the Botanical Garden, became a primary source of 

steady income for the school, mainly owing to the city's rapidly 

increasing population.  

Expansion and Madison Avenue 

(1857–1896) 

In 1857, the College moved from Park Place to a primarily 

Gothic Revival campus on 49th Street and Madison Avenue, 

where it remained for the next fifty years. The transition to the 

new campus coincided with a new outlook for the college; 
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during the commencement of that year, College President 

Charles King proclaimed Columbia "a university". During the 

last half of the nineteenth century, under the leadership of 

President F.A.P. Barnard, the institution rapidly assumed the 

shape of a true modern university. Columbia Law School was 

founded in 1858, and in 1864 the School of Mines, the 

country's first such institution and the precursor to today's Fu 

Foundation School of Engineering and Applied Science, was 

established. Barnard College for women, established by the 

eponymous Columbia president, was established in 1889; the 

Columbia University College of Physicians and Surgeons came 

under the aegis of the University in 1891, followed by Teachers 

College, Columbia University in 1893. The Graduate Faculties 

in Political Science, Philosophy, and Pure Science awarded its 

first PhD in 1875. This period also witnessed the inauguration 

of Columbia's participation in intercollegiate sports, with the 

creation of the baseball team in 1867, the organization of the 

football team in 1870, and the creation of a crew team by 

1873. The first intercollegiate Columbia football game was a 6–

3 loss to Rutgers. The Columbia Daily Spectator began 

publication during this period as well, in 1877.  

Morningside Heights (1896–Present) 

In 1896, the trustees officially authorized the use of yet 

another new name, Columbia University, and today the 

institution is officially known as "Columbia University in the 

City of New York." Additionally, the engineering school was 

renamed the "School of Mines, Engineering and Chemistry." At 

the same time, university president Seth Low moved the 

campus again, from 49th Street to its present location, a more 
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spacious (and, at the time, more rural) campus in the 

developing neighborhood of Morningside Heights. The site was 

formerly occupied by the Bloomingdale Lunatic Asylum. One of 

the asylum's buildings, the warden's cottage (later known as 

East Hall and Buell Hall), still stands today.  

The building often depicted as emblematic of Columbia is the 

centerpiece of the Morningside Heights campus, Low Memorial 

Library. Constructed in 1895, the building is still referred to 

as "Low Library" although it has not functioned as a library 

since 1934. It currently houses the offices of the President, 

Provost, the Visitor's Center, and the Trustees' Room and 

Columbia Security. Patterned loosely on the Classical 

Pantheon, it is surmounted by the largest all-granite dome in 

the United States.  

Under the leadership of Low's successor, Nicholas Murray 

Butler, Columbia rapidly became the nation's major institution 

for research, setting the "multiversity" model that later 

universities would adopt. On the Morningside Heights campus, 

Columbia centralized on a single campus the College, the 

School of Law, the Graduate Faculties, the School of Mines 

(predecessor of the Engineering School), and the College of 

Physicians & Surgeons. Butler went on to serve as president of 

Columbia for over four decades and became a giant in 

American public life (as one-time vice presidential candidate 

and a Nobel Laureate). His introduction of "downtown" 

business practices in university administration led to 

innovations in internal reforms such as the centralization of 

academic affairs, the direct appointment of registrars, deans, 

provosts, and secretaries, as well as the formation of a 
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professionalized university bureaucracy, unprecedented among 

American universities at the time.  

In 1893 the Columbia University Press was founded to 

"promote the study of economic, historical, literary, scientific 

and other subjects; and to promote and encourage the 

publication of literary works embodying original research in 

such subjects." Among its publications are The Columbia 

Encyclopedia, first published in 1935, and The Columbia 

Lippincott Gazetteer of the World, first published in 1952. In 

1902, New York newspaper magnate Joseph Pulitzer donated a 

substantial sum to the University for the founding of a school 

to teach journalism. The result was the 1912 opening of the 

Graduate School of Journalism—the only journalism school in 

the Ivy League. Columbia does not, however, offer an 

undergraduate degree in journalism. The school is the 

administrator of the Pulitzer Prize and the duPont-Columbia 

Award in broadcast journalism.  

In 1904 Columbia organized adult education classes into a 

formal program called Extension Teaching (later renamed 

University Extension). Courses in Extension Teaching 

eventually give rise to the Columbia Writing Program, the 

Columbia Business School, and the School of Dentistry.  

In 1928, Seth Low Junior College was established by Columbia 

University in order to mitigate the number of Jewish applicants 

to Columbia College. The college was closed in 1938 due to the 

adverse effects of the Great Depression and its students were 

subsequently taught at Mornington Heights, although they did 

not belong to any college but to the university at large.  
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There was an evening school called University Extension, 

which taught night classes, for a fee, to anyone willing to 

attend. In 1947, the program was reorganized as an 

undergraduate college and designated the School of General 

Studies in response to the return of GIs after World War II. In 

1995, the School of General Studies was again reorganized as a 

full-fledged liberal arts college for non-traditional students 

(those who have had an academic break of one year or more) 

and was fully integrated into Columbia's traditional 

undergraduate curriculum. Within the same year, the Division 

of Special Programs—later the School of Continuing Education, 

and now the School of Professional Studies—was established to 

reprise the former role of University Extension. While the 

School of Professional Studies only offered non-degree 

programs for lifelong learners and high school students in its 

earliest stages, it now offers degree programs in a diverse 

range of professional and inter-disciplinary fields.  

By the late 1930s, a Columbia student could study with the 

likes of Jacques Barzun, Paul Lazarsfeld, Mark Van Doren, 

Lionel Trilling, and I. I. Rabi. The University's graduates 

during this time were equally accomplished—for example, two 

alumni of Columbia's Law School, Charles Evans Hughes and 

Harlan Fiske Stone (who also held the position of Law School 

dean), served successively as Chief Justices of the United 

States. Dwight Eisenhower served as Columbia's president 

from 1948 until he became the President of the United States 

in 1953.  

Research into the atom by faculty members John R. Dunning, 

I. I. Rabi, Enrico Fermi and Polykarp Kusch placed Columbia's 

Physics Department in the international spotlight in the 1940s 
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after the first nuclear pile was built to start what became the 

Manhattan Project. Following the end of World War II, the 

School of International Affairs was founded in 1946, beginning 

by offering the Master of International Affairs. To satisfy an 

increasing desire for skilled public service professionals at 

home and abroad, the School added the Master of Public 

Administration degree in 1977. In 1981, the School was 

renamed the School of International and Public Affairs (SIPA). 

The School introduced an MPA in Environmental Science and 

Policy in 2001 and, in 2004, SIPA inaugurated its first doctoral 

program — the interdisciplinary Ph.D. in Sustainable 

Development.  

During World War II, Columbia, Morningside Heights campus, 

was one of 131 colleges and universities nationally that took 

part in the V-12 Navy College Training Program which offered 

students a path to a Navy commission.  

During the 1960s Columbia experienced large-scale student 

activism centering over the Vietnam War and the demand for 

greater student rights. Many students, led by the Students for 

a Democratic Society and its President Mark Rudd protested 

the University's ties with the defense establishment and its 

controversial plans to build a gym in Morningside Park. The 

fervor on campus reached a climax in the spring of 1968 when 

hundreds of students occupied various buildings on campus. 

The incident forced the resignation of Columbia's then 

President, Grayson Kirk and the establishment of the 

University Senate.  

Columbia College first admitted women in the fall of 1983, 

after a decade of failed negotiations with Barnard College, an 
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all female institution affiliated with the University, to merge 

the two schools. Barnard College still remains affiliated with 

Columbia, and all Barnard graduates are issued diplomas 

authorized by both Columbia University and Barnard College.  

During the late 20th century, the University underwent 

significant academic, structural, and administrative changes 

as it developed into a major research university. For much of 

the 19th century, the University consisted of decentralized and 

separate faculties specializing in Political Science, Philosophy, 

and Pure Science. In 1979, these faculties were merged into 

the Graduate School of Arts and Sciences. In 1991, the 

faculties of Columbia College, the School of General Studies, 

the Graduate School of Arts and Sciences, the School of the 

Arts, and the School of Professional Studies were merged into 

the Faculty of Arts and Sciences, leading to the academic 

integration and centralized governance of these schools. In 

2010, the School of International and Public Affairs, which was 

previously a part of the Faculty of Arts and Sciences, became 

an independent faculty. In 1997, the Columbia Engineering 

School was renamed the Fu Foundation School of Engineering 

and Applied Science, in honor of Chinese businessman Z. Y. 

Fu, who gave Columbia $26 million. The school is popularly 

referred to as "SEAS" or simply "the engineering school."  

Campus 

Morningside Heights 

• The majority of Columbia's graduate and 

undergraduate studies are conducted in Morningside 
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Heights on Seth Low's late-19th century vision of a 

university campus where all disciplines could be 

taught at one location. The campus was designed 

along Beaux-Arts planning principles by the 

architects McKim, Mead & White. Columbia's main 

campus occupies more than six city blocks, or 32 

acres (13 ha), in Morningside Heights, New York 

City, a neighborhood that contains a number of 

academic institutions. The university owns over 

7,800 apartments in Morningside Heights, housing 

faculty, graduate students, and staff. Almost two 

dozen undergraduate dormitories (purpose-built or 

converted) are located on campus or in Morningside 

Heights. Columbia University has an extensive 

tunnel system, more than a century old, with the 

oldest portions predating the present campus. Some 

of these remain accessible to the public, while others 

have been cordoned off. 

The Nicholas Murray Butler Library, known simply as Butler 

Library, is the largest single library in the Columbia University 

Library System, and is one of the largest buildings on the 

campus. Proposed as "South Hall" by the university's former 

president Nicholas Murray Butler as expansion plans for Low 

Memorial Library stalled, the new library was funded by 

Edward Harkness, benefactor of Yale's residential college 

system, and designed by his favorite architect, James Gamble 

Rogers. It was completed in 1934 and renamed for Butler in 

1946. The library design is neo-classical in style. Its facade 

features a row of columns in the Ionic order above which are 

inscribed the names of great writers, philosophers, and 

thinkers, most of whom are read by students engaged in the 
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Core Curriculum of Columbia College. As of 2019, Columbia's 

library system includes over 14.5 million volumes, making it 

the eighth largest library system and fifth largest collegiate 

library system in the United States.  

Several buildings on the Morningside Heights campus are 

listed on the National Register of Historic Places. Low Memorial 

Library, a National Historic Landmark and the centerpiece of 

the campus, is listed for its architectural significance. 

Philosophy Hall is listed as the site of the invention of FM 

radio. Also listed is Pupin Hall, another National Historic 

Landmark, which houses the physics and astronomy 

departments. Here the first experiments on the fission of 

uranium were conducted by Enrico Fermi. The uranium atom 

was split there ten days after the world's first atom-splitting in 

Copenhagen, Denmark. Other buildings listed include Casa 

Italiana, the Delta Psi, Alpha Chapter building of St. Anthony 

Hall, Earl Hall, and the buildings of the affiliated Union 

Theological Seminary.  

A statue by sculptor Daniel Chester French called Alma Mater 

is centered on the front steps of Low Memorial Library. McKim, 

Mead & White invited French to build the sculpture in order to 

harmonize with the larger composition of the court and library 

in the center of the campus. Draped in an academic gown, the 

female figure of Alma Mater wears a crown of laurels and sits 

on a throne. The scroll-like arms of the throne end in lamps, 

representing sapientia and doctrina. A book signifying 

knowledge, balances on her lap, and an owl, the attribute of 

wisdom, is hidden in the folds of her gown. Her right hand 

holds a scepter composed of four sprays of wheat, terminating 

with a crown of King's College which refers to Columbia's 
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origin as a royal charter institution in 1754. A local actress 

named Mary Lawton was said to have posed for parts of the 

sculpture. The statue was dedicated on September 23, 1903, as 

a gift of Mr. & Mrs. Robert Goelet, and was originally covered 

in golden leaf. During the Columbia University protests of 1968 

a bomb damaged the sculpture, but it has since been repaired. 

The small hidden owl on the sculpture is also the subject of 

many Columbia legends, the main legend being that the first 

student in the freshmen class to find the hidden owl on the 

statue will be valedictorian, and that any subsequent Columbia 

male who finds it will marry a Barnard student, given that 

Barnard is a women's college.  

"The Steps", alternatively known as "Low Steps" or the "Urban 

Beach", are a popular meeting area for Columbia students. The 

term refers to the long series of granite steps leading from the 

lower part of campus (South Field) to its upper terrace. With a 

design inspired by the City Beautiful movement, the steps of 

Low Library provides Columbia University and Barnard College 

students, faculty, and staff with a comfortable outdoor 

platform and space for informal gatherings, events, and 

ceremonies. McKim's classical facade epitomizes late 19th-

century new-classical designs, with its columns and portico 

marking the entrance to an important structure. 

Other campuses 

In April 2007, the university purchased more than two-thirds 

of a 17 acres (6.9 ha) site for a new campus in Manhattanville, 

an industrial neighborhood to the north of the Morningside 

Heights campus. Stretching from 125th Street to 133rd Street, 

Columbia Manhattanville houses buildings for Columbia's 
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Business School, School of International and Public Affairs, 

Columbia School of the Arts, and the Jerome L. Greene Center 

for Mind, Brain, and Behavior, where research will occur on 

neurodegenerative diseases such as Parkinson's and 

Alzheimer's. The $7 billion expansion plan included 

demolishing all buildings, except three that are historically 

significant (the Studebaker Building, Prentis Hall, and the 

Nash Building), eliminating the existing light industry and 

storage warehouses, and relocating tenants in 132 apartments. 

Replacing these buildings created 6.8 million square feet 

(630,000 m) of space for the university. Community activist 

groups in West Harlem fought the expansion for reasons 

ranging from property protection and fair exchange for land, to 

residents' rights. Subsequent public hearings drew 

neighborhood opposition. As of December 2008, the State of 

New York's Empire State Development Corporation approved 

use of eminent domain, which, through declaration of 

Manhattanville's "blighted" status, gives governmental bodies 

the right to appropriate private property for public use. On 

May 20, 2009, the New York State Public Authorities Control 

Board approved the Manhanttanville expansion plan.  

NewYork-Presbyterian Hospital is affiliated with the medical 

schools of both Columbia University and Cornell University. 

According to U.S. News & World Report 's "2020–21 Best 

Hospitals Honor Roll and Medical Specialties Rankings", it is 

ranked fourth overall and second among university hospitals. 

Columbia's medical school has a strategic partnership with 

New York State Psychiatric Institute, and is affiliated with 19 

other hospitals in the U.S. and four hospitals overseas. Health-

related schools are located at the Columbia University Medical 

Center, a 20 acres (8.1 ha) campus located in the neighborhood 
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of Washington Heights, fifty blocks uptown. Other teaching 

hospitals affiliated with Columbia through the NewYork-

Presbyterian network include the Payne Whitney Clinic in 

Manhattan, and the Payne Whitney Westchester, a psychiatric 

institute located in White Plains, New York. On the northern 

tip of Manhattan island (in the neighborhood of Inwood), 

Columbia owns 26-acre (11 ha) Baker Field, which includes the 

Lawrence A. Wien Stadium as well as facilities for field sports, 

outdoor track, and tennis. There is a third campus on the west 

bank of the Hudson River, the 157-acre (64 ha) Lamont-

Doherty Earth Observatory and Earth Institute in Palisades, 

New York. A fourth is the 60-acre (24 ha) Nevis Laboratories in 

Irvington, New York for the study of particle and motion 

physics. A satellite site in Paris, France holds classes at Reid 

Hall.  

Sustainability 

In 2006, the university established the Office of Environmental 

Stewardship to initiate, coordinate and implement programs to 

reduce the university's environmental footprint. The U.S. 

Green Building Council selected the university's 

Manhattanville plan for the Leadership in Energy and 

Environmental Design (LEED) Neighborhood Design pilot 

program. The plan commits to incorporating smart growth, new 

urbanism and "green" building design principles. Columbia is 

one of the 2030 Challenge Partners, a group of nine 

universities in the city of New York that have pledged to reduce 

their greenhouse emissions by 30% within the next ten years. 

Columbia University adopts LEED standards for all new 

construction and major renovations. The university requires a 

minimum of Silver, but through its design and review process 
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seeks to achieve higher levels. This is especially challenging for 

lab and research buildings with their intensive energy use; 

however, the university also uses lab design guidelines that 

seek to maximize energy efficiency while protecting the safety 

of researchers.  

Every Thursday and Sunday of the month, Columbia hosts a 

greenmarket where local farmers can sell their produce to 

residents of the city. In addition, from April to November 

Hodgson's farm, a local New York gardening center, joins the 

market bringing a large selection of plants and blooming 

flowers.  

The market is one of the many operated at different points 

throughout the city by the non-profit group GrowNYC. Dining 

services at Columbia spends 36 percent of its food budget on 

local products, in addition to serving sustainably harvested 

seafood and fair trade coffee on campus. Columbia has been 

rated "B+" by the 2011 College Sustainability Report Card for 

its environmental and sustainability initiatives. 

According to the A. W. Kuchler U.S. potential natural 

vegetation types, Columbia University would have a dominant 

vegetation type of Appalachian Oak (104) with a dominant 

vegetation form of Eastern Hardwood Forest (25).  

Transportation 

Columbia Transportation is the bus service of the university, 

operated by Academy Bus Lines. The buses are open to all 

Columbia faculty, students, Dodge Fitness Center members, 

and anyone else who holds a Columbia ID card. In addition, all 

TSC students can ride the buses.  
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Academics 

Undergraduate admissions and financial aid 

Columbia University received 60,551 applications for the class 

of 2025 (entering 2021) and a total of around 2,218 were 

admitted to the two schools for an overall acceptance rate of 

3.66%. Columbia is a racially diverse school, with 

approximately 52% of all students identifying themselves as 

persons of color. Additionally, 50% of all undergraduates 

received grants from Columbia. The average grant size awarded 

to these students is $46,516. In 2015–2016, annual 

undergraduate tuition at Columbia was $50,526 with a total 

cost of attendance of $65,860 (including room and board).  

Annual gifts, fund-raising, and an increase in spending from 

the university's endowment have allowed Columbia to extend 

generous financial aid packages to qualifying students. On 

April 11, 2007, Columbia University announced a $400 million 

donation from media billionaire alumnus John Kluge to be 

used exclusively for undergraduate financial aid. The donation 

is among the largest single gifts to higher education. As of 

2008, undergraduates from families with incomes as high as 

$60,000 a year will have the projected cost of attending the 

university, including room, board, and academic fees, fully 

paid for by the university. That same year, the university 

ended loans for incoming and then-current students who were 

on financial aid, replacing loans that were traditionally part of 

aid packages with grants from the university. However, this 

does not apply to international students, transfer students, 

visiting students, or students in the School of General Studies. 
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In the fall of 2010, admission to Columbia's undergraduate 

colleges Columbia College and the Fu Foundation School of 

Engineering and Applied Science (also known as SEAS or 

Columbia Engineering) began accepting the Common 

Application. The policy change made Columbia one of the last 

major academic institutions and the last Ivy League university 

to switch to the Common Application.  

Scholarships are also given to undergraduate students by the 

admissions committee. Designations include John W. Kluge 

Scholars, John Jay Scholars, C. Prescott Davis Scholars, 

Global Scholars, Egleston Scholars, and Science Research 

Fellows. Named scholars are selected by the admission 

committee from first-year applicants. According to Columbia, 

the first four designated scholars "distinguish themselves for 

their remarkable academic and personal achievements, 

dynamism, intellectual curiosity, the originality and 

independence of their thinking, and the diversity that stems 

from their different cultures and their varied educational 

experiences".  

In 1919, Columbia established a student application process 

characterized by The New York Times as "the first modern 

college application". The application required a photograph of 

the applicant, the maiden name of the applicant's mother, and 

the applicant's religious background.  

Organization 

• Columbia University is an independent, privately 

supported, nonsectarian institution of higher 

education. Its official corporate name is "The 
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Trustees of Columbia University in the City of New 

York". The university's first charter was granted in 

1754 by King George II; however, its modern charter 

was first enacted in 1787 and last amended in 1810 

by the New York State Legislature. The university is 

governed by 24 trustees, customarily including the 

president, who serves ex officio. The trustees 

themselves are responsible for choosing their 

successors. Six of the 24 are nominated from a pool 

of candidates recommended by the Columbia Alumni 

Association. Another six are nominated by the board 

in consultation with the executive committee of the 

University Senate. The remaining 12, including the 

president, are nominated by the trustees themselves 

through their internal processes. The term of office 

for trustees is six years. Generally, they serve for no 

more than two consecutive terms. The trustees 

appoint the president and other senior 

administrative officers of the university, and review 

and confirm faculty appointments as required. They 

determine the university's financial and investment 

policies, authorize the budget, supervise the 

endowment, direct the management of the 

university's real estate and other assets, and 

otherwise oversee the administration and 

management of the university. 

The University Senate was established by the trustees after a 

university-wide referendum in 1969. It succeeded to the 

powers of the University Council, which was created in 1890 as 

a body of faculty, deans, and other administrators to regulate 

inter-Faculty affairs and consider issues of university-wide 
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concern. The University Senate is a unicameral body consisting 

of 107 members drawn from all constituencies of the 

university. These include the president of the university, the 

provost, the deans of Columbia College and the Graduate 

School of Arts and Sciences, all of whom serve ex officio, and 

five additional representatives, appointed by the president, 

from the university's administration. The president serves as 

the Senate's presiding officer. The Senate is charged with 

reviewing the educational policies, physical development, 

budget, and external relations of the university. It oversees the 

welfare and academic freedom of the faculty and the welfare of 

students.  

The president of Columbia University, who is selected by the 

trustees in consultation with the executive committee of the 

University Senate and who serves at the trustees' pleasure, is 

the chief executive officer of the university.  

Assisting the president in administering the university are the 

provost, the senior executive vice president, the executive vice 

president for health and biomedical sciences, several other vice 

presidents, the general counsel, the secretary of the university, 

and the deans of the faculties, all of whom are appointed by 

the trustees on the nomination of the president and serve at 

their pleasure.  

Lee C. Bollinger became the 19th president of Columbia 

University on June 1, 2002. As president of the University of 

Michigan, he played a leading role in the twin Supreme Court 

cases Grutter v. Bollinger and Gratz v. Bollinger, which upheld 

the use of student diversity as a compelling justification for 

affirmative action in higher education.  
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Columbia has three official undergraduate colleges: Columbia 

College, the liberal arts college offering the Bachelor of Arts 

degree; the Fu Foundation School of Engineering and Applied 

Science (also known as SEAS or Columbia Engineering), the 

engineering and applied science school offering the Bachelor of 

Science degree; and the School of General Studies, the liberal 

arts college offering the Bachelor of Arts degree to non-

traditional students undertaking full- or part-time study. 

Barnard College is a women's liberal arts college and an 

academic affiliate in which students receive a Bachelor of Arts 

degree from Columbia University. Their degrees are signed by 

the presidents of Columbia University and Barnard College. 

Barnard students are also eligible to cross-register classes that 

are available through the Barnard Catalogue and alumnae can 

join the Columbia Alumni Association.  

Joint degree programs are available through Union Theological 

Seminary, the Jewish Theological Seminary of America, as well 

as through the Juilliard School. Teachers College and Barnard 

College are faculties of the university; both colleges' presidents 

are deans under the university governance structure. The 

Columbia University Senate includes faculty and student 

representatives from Teachers College and Barnard College who 

serve two-year terms; all senators are accorded full voting 

privileges regarding matters impacting the entire university. 

Teachers College is an affiliated, financially independent 

graduate school with their own Board of Trustees. Pursuant to 

an affiliation agreement, Columbia is given the authority to 

confer "appropriate degrees and diplomas" to the graduates of 

Teachers College. The degrees are signed by presidents of 

Teachers College and Columbia University. Columbia's General 

Studies school also has joint undergraduate programs 
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available through University College London, Sciences Po, City 

University of Hong Kong, Trinity College Dublin, and the 

Juilliard School.  

The university also has several Columbia Global Centers, in 

Amman, Beijing, Istanbul, Mumbai, Nairobi, Paris, Rio de 

Janeiro, Santiago, and Tunis.  

International partnerships 

Columbia students can study abroad for a semester or a year 

at partner institutions such as Sciences Po, École des 

hautesétudesen sciences sociales (EHESS), 

Écolenormalesupérieure (ENS), Panthéon-Sorbonne University, 

King's College London, London School of Economics, and the 

University of Warwick. Select students can study at either the 

University of Oxford or the University of Cambridge for a year 

if approved by both Columbia and either Oxford or Cambridge.  

Rankings 

Columbia University is ranked 3rd overall among U.S. national 

universities and 6th globally for 2021 by U.S. News & World 

Report. QS University Rankings listed Columbia as 5th in the 

United States. Ranked 15th among U.S. colleges for 2020 by 

The Wall Street Journal and Times Higher Education, in recent 

years it has been ranked as high as 2nd. Individual colleges 

and schools were also nationally ranked by U.S. News & World 

Report for its 2021 edition. Columbia Law School was ranked 

4th, the Mailman School of Public Health 4th, the School of 

Social Work tied for 3rd, Columbia Business School 8th, the 

College of Physicians and Surgeons tied for 6th for research 
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(and tied for 31st for primary care), the School of Nursing tied 

for 11th in the master's program and tied for 1st in the 

doctorate nursing program, and the Fu Foundation School of 

Engineering and Applied Science (graduate) was ranked tied for 

14th.  

In 2021, Columbia was ranked 7th in the world (6th in the 

United States) by Academic Ranking of World Universities, 6th 

in the world by U.S. News & World Report, 19th in the world by 

QS World University Rankings, and 17th globally by Times 

Higher Education World University Rankings. It was ranked in 

the first tier of American research universities, along with 

Harvard, MIT, and Stanford, in the 2019 report from the Center 

for Measuring University Performance.  

Columbia's Graduate School of Architecture, Planning and 

Preservation was ranked the 2nd most admired graduate 

program by Architectural Record in 2020.  

In 2015, Columbia University was ranked the first in the state 

by average professor salaries. In 2011, the Mines ParisTech: 

Professional Ranking of World Universities ranked Columbia 

3rd best university for forming CEOs in the US and 12th 

worldwide.  

Research 

Columbia is classified among "R1: Doctoral Universities – Very 

high research activity". Columbia was the first North American 

site where the uranium atom was split. The College of 

Physicians and Surgeons played a central role in developing 

the modern understanding of neuroscience with the publication 

of Principles of Neural Science, described by historian of 



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 5 

942 

science KatjaHuenther as the "neuroscience 'bible' ". The book 

was written by a team of Columbia researchers that included 

Nobel Prize winner Eric Kandel, James H. Schwartz, and 

Thomas Jessell. Columbia was the birthplace of FM radio and 

the laser. The first brain-computer interface capable of 

translating brain signals into speech was developed by 

neuroengineers at Columbia. The MPEG-2 algorithm of 

transmitting high quality audio and video over limited 

bandwidth was developed by Dimitris Anastassiou, a Columbia 

professor of electrical engineering. Biologist Martin Chalfie was 

the first to introduce the use of Green Fluorescent Protein 

(GFP) in labeling cells in intact organisms. Other inventions 

and products related to Columbia include Sequential Lateral 

Solidification (SLS) technology for making LCDs, System 

Management Arts (SMARTS), Session Initiation Protocol (SIP) 

(which is used for audio, video, chat, instant messaging and 

whiteboarding), pharmacopeia, Macromodel (software for 

computational chemistry), a new and better recipe for glass 

concrete, Blue LEDs, and Beamprop (used in photonics).  

Columbia scientists have been credited with about 175 new 

inventions in the health sciences each year. More than 30 

pharmaceutical products based on discoveries and inventions 

made at Columbia reached the market. These include Remicade 

(for arthritis), Reopro (for blood clot complications), Xalatan 

(for glaucoma), Benefix, Latanoprost (a glaucoma treatment), 

shoulder prosthesis, homocysteine (testing for cardiovascular 

disease), and Zolinza (for cancer therapy). Columbia 

Technology Ventures (formerly Science and Technology 

Ventures), as of 2008, manages some 600 patents and more 

than 250 active license agreements. Patent-related deals 

earned Columbia more than $230 million in the 2006 fiscal 
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year, according to the university, more than any university in 

the world. Columbia owns many unique research facilities, 

such as the Columbia Institute for Tele-Information dedicated 

to telecommunications and the Goddard Institute for Space 

Studies, which is an astronomicalobservatory affiliated with 

NASA.  

Military and veteran enrollment 

Columbia is a long-standing participant of the United States 

Department of Veterans Affairs Yellow Ribbon Program, 

allowing eligible veterans to pursue a Columbia undergraduate 

degree regardless of socioeconomic status for over 70 years. As 

a part of the Eisenhower Leader Development Program (ELDP) 

in partnership with the United States Military Academy at West 

Point, Columbia is the only school in the Ivy League to offer a 

graduate degree program in organizational psychology to aid 

military officers in tactical decision making and strategic 

management.  

Awards 

Several prestigious awards are administered by Columbia 

University, most notably the Pulitzer Prize and the Bancroft 

Prize in history. Other prizes, which are awarded by the 

Graduate School of Journalism, include the Alfred I. duPont–

Columbia University Award, the National Magazine Awards, the 

Maria Moors Cabot Prizes, the John Chancellor Award, and the 

Lukas Prizes, which include the J. Anthony Lukas Book Prize 

and Mark Lynton History Prize. The university also administers 

the Louisa Gross Horwitz Prize, which is considered an 

important precursor to the Nobel Prize, 51 of its 101 recipients 
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having gone on to win either a Nobel Prize in Physiology or 

Medicine or Nobel Prize in Chemistry as of October 2018; the 

W. Alden Spencer Award; the Vetlesen Prize, which is known as 

the Nobel Prize of geology; the Japan-U.S. Friendship 

Commission Prize for the Translation of Japanese Literature, 

the oldest such award; the Edwin Howard Armstrong award; 

the Calderone Prize in public health; and the Ditson 

Conductor's Award.  

Student life 

Students 

In 2020, Columbia University's student population was 31,455 

(8,842 students in undergraduate programs and 22,613 in 

postgraduate programs), with 45% of the student population 

identifying themselves as a minority. Twenty-six percent of 

students at Columbia have family incomes below $60,000. 16% 

of students at Columbia receive Federal Pell Grants, which 

mostly go to students whose family incomes are below $40,000. 

Seventeen percent of students are the first member of their 

family to attend a four-year college.  

On-campus housing is guaranteed for all four years as an 

undergraduate. Columbia College and the Fu Foundation 

School of Engineering and Applied Science (also known as 

SEAS or Columbia Engineering) share housing in the on-

campus residence halls. First-year students usually live in one 

of the large residence halls situated around South Lawn: 

Carman Hall, Furnald Hall, Hartley Hall, John Jay Hall, or 

Wallach Hall (originally Livingston Hall). Upperclassmen 
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participate in a room selection process, wherein students can 

pick to live in a mix of either corridor- or apartment-style 

housing with their friends. The Columbia University School of 

General Studies, Barnard College and graduate schools have 

their own apartment-style housing in the surrounding 

neighborhood.  

Columbia University is home to many fraternities, sororities, 

and co-educational Greek organizations. Approximately 10–

15% of undergraduate students are associated with Greek life. 

Many Barnard women also join Columbia sororities. There has 

been a Greek presence on campus since the establishment in 

1836 of the Delta chapter of Alpha Delta Phi. The InterGreek 

Council is the self-governing student organization that 

provides guidelines and support to its member organizations 

within each of the three councils at Columbia, the 

Interfraternity Council, Panhellenic Council, and Multicultural 

Greek Council. The three council presidents bring their 

affiliated chapters together once a month to meet as one Greek 

community. The InterGreek Council meetings provide 

opportunity for member organizations to learn from each other, 

work together and advocate for community needs.  

Publications 

The Columbia Daily Spectator is the nation's second-oldest 

continuously operating daily student newspaper; and The Blue 

and White, a monthly literary magazine established in 1890, 

discusses campus life and local politics in print and on its 

daily blog, dubbed Bwog. The Morningside Post is a student-

run multimedia news publication. Its content: student-written 

investigative news, international affairs analysis, opinion, and 



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 5 

946 

satire. Political publications include The Current, a journal of 

politics, culture and Jewish Affairs; the Columbia Political 

Review, the multi-partisan political magazine of the Columbia 

Political Union; and AdHoc, which denotes itself as the 

"progressive" campus magazine and deals largely with local 

political issues and arts events.  

Columbia Magazine is the alumni magazine of Columbia, 

serving all 340,000+ of the university's alumni. Arts and 

literary publications include The Columbia Review, the nation's 

oldest college literary magazine; Columbia, a nationally 

regarded literary journal; the Columbia Journal of Literary 

Criticism; and The Mobius Strip, an online arts and literary 

magazine. Inside New York is an annual guidebook to New York 

City, written, edited, and published by Columbia 

undergraduates. Through a distribution agreement with 

Columbia University Press, the book is sold at major retailers 

and independent bookstores.  

Columbia is home to numerous undergraduate academic 

publications. The Columbia Undergraduate Science Journal 

prints original science research in its two annual publications. 

The Journal of Politics & Society is a journal of undergraduate 

research in the social sciences; Publius is an undergraduate 

journal of politics established in 2008 and published 

biannually; the Columbia East Asia Review allows 

undergraduates throughout the world to publish original work 

on China, Japan, Korea, Tibet, and Vietnam and is supported 

by the Weatherhead East Asian Institute; The Birch is an 

undergraduate journal of Eastern European and Eurasian 

culture that is the first national student-run journal of its 

kind; the Columbia Economics Review is the undergraduate 
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economic journal on research and policy supported by the 

Columbia Economics Department; and the Columbia Science 

Review is a science magazine that prints general interest 

articles and faculty profiles.  

Humor publications on Columbia's campus include The Fed, a 

triweekly satire and investigative newspaper, and the Jester of 

Columbia. Other publications include The Columbian, the 

undergraduate colleges' annually published yearbook; the 

Gadfly, a biannual journal of popular philosophy produced by 

undergraduates; and Rhapsody in Blue, an undergraduate 

urban studies magazine. Professional journals published by 

academic departments at Columbia University include Current 

Musicology and The Journal of Philosophy. During the spring 

semester, graduate students in the Journalism School publish 

The Bronx Beat, a bi-weekly newspaper covering the South 

Bronx.  

Founded in 1961 under the auspices of Columbia University's 

Graduate School of Journalism, the Columbia Journalism 

Review (CJR) examines day-to-day press performance as well 

as the forces that affect that performance. The magazine is 

published six times a year.  

Broadcasting 

Columbia is home to two pioneers in undergraduate campus 

radio broadcasting, WKCR-FM and CTV. Many undergraduates 

are also involved with Barnard's radio station, WBAR. WKCR, 

the student run radio station that broadcasts to the Tri-state 

area, claims to be the oldest FM radio station in the world, 

owing to the university's affiliation with Major Edwin 
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Armstrong. The station went operational on July 18, 1939, 

from a 400-foot antenna tower in Alpine, New Jersey, 

broadcasting the first FM transmission in the world. Initially, 

WKCR was not a radio station, but an organization concerned 

with the technology of radio communications. As membership 

grew, however, the nascent club turned its efforts to 

broadcasting. Armstrong helped the students in their early 

efforts, donating a microphone and turntables when they 

designed their first makeshift studio in a dorm room. The 

station has its studios on the second floor of Alfred Lerner Hall 

on the Morningside campus with its main transmitter tower at 

4 Times Square in Midtown Manhattan. Columbia Television 

(CTV) is the nation's second oldest student television station 

and the home of CTV News, a weekly live news program 

produced by undergraduate students.  

Debate and Model UN 

The Philolexian Society is a literary and debating club founded 

in 1802, making it the oldest student group at Columbia, as 

well as the third oldest collegiate literary society in the 

country. The society annually administers the Joyce Kilmer 

Memorial Bad Poetry Contest. The Columbia Parliamentary 

Debate Team competes in tournaments around the country as 

part of the American Parliamentary Debate Association, and 

hosts both high school and college tournaments on Columbia's 

campus, as well as public debates on issues affecting the 

university.  

The Columbia International Relations Council and Association 

(CIRCA), oversees Columbia's Model United Nations activities. 

CIRCA hosts college and high school Model UN conferences, 
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hosts speakers influential in international politics to speak on 

campus, and trains students from underprivileged schools in 

New York in Model UN.  

Technology and entrepreneurship 

Columbia is a top supplier of young engineering entrepreneurs 

for New York City. Over the past 20 years, graduates of 

Columbia established over 100 technology companies.  

The Columbia University Organization of Rising Entrepreneurs 

(CORE) was founded in 1999. The student-run group aims to 

foster entrepreneurship on campus. Each year CORE hosts 

dozens of events, including talks, #StartupColumbia, a 

conference and venture competition for $250,000, and 

Ignite@CU, a weekend for undergrads interested in design, 

engineering, and entrepreneurship. Notable speakers include 

Peter Thiel, Jack Dorsey, Alexis Ohanian, Drew Houston, and 

Mark Cuban. As of 2006, CORE had awarded graduate and 

undergraduate students over $100,000 in seed capital.  

CampusNetwork, an on-campus social networking site called 

Campus Network that preceded Facebook, was created and 

popularized by Columbia engineering student Adam Goldberg 

in 2003. Mark Zuckerberg later asked Goldberg to join him in 

Palo Alto to work on Facebook, but Goldberg declined the offer. 

The Fu Foundation School of Engineering and Applied Science 

offers a minor in Technical Entrepreneurship through its 

Center for Technology, Innovation, and Community 

Engagement. SEAS' entrepreneurship activities focus on 

community building initiatives in New York and worldwide, 

made possible through partners such as Microsoft Corporation.  
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On June 14, 2010, Mayor Michael R. Bloomberg launched the 

NYC Media Lab to promote innovations in New York's media 

industry. Situated at the New York University Tandon School of 

Engineering, the lab is a consortium of Columbia University, 

New York University, and New York City Economic Development 

Corporation acting to connect companies with universities in 

new technology research. The Lab is modeled after similar ones 

at MIT and Stanford, and was established with a $250,000 

grant from the New York City Economic Development 

Corporation.  

Athletics 

• A member institution of the National Collegiate 

Athletic Association (NCAA) in Division IFCS, 

Columbia fields varsity teams in 29 sports and is a 

member of the Ivy League. The football Lions play 

home games at the 17,000-seat Robert K. Kraft Field 

at Lawrence A. Wien Stadium. The Baker Athletics 

Complex also includes facilities for baseball, softball, 

soccer, lacrosse, field hockey, tennis, track, and 

rowing, as well as the new Campbell Sports Center, 

which opened in January 2013. The basketball, 

fencing, swimming & diving, volleyball, and wrestling 

programs are based at the Dodge Physical Fitness 

Center on the main campus. 

Former students include Baseball Hall of FamersLou Gehrig 

and Eddie Collins, football Hall of FamerSid Luckman, 

Marcellus Wiley, and world champion women's weightlifter 

Karyn Marshall. On May 17, 1939, fledgling NBC broadcast a 

doubleheader between the Columbia Lions and the Princeton 
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Tigers at Columbia's Baker Field, making it the first televised 

regular athletic event in history. Columbia University athletics 

has a long history, with many accomplishments in athletic 

fields. In 1870, Columbia played against Rutgers University in 

the second intercollegiate rugby football game in the history of 

the sport. Eight years later, Columbia crew won the famed 

Henley Royal Regatta in the first-ever defeat for an English 

crew rowing in English waters. In 1900, Olympian and 

Columbia College student Maxie Long set the first official world 

record in the 400 meters with a time of 47.8 seconds. In 1983, 

Columbia men's soccer went 18–0 and was ranked first in the 

nation, but lost to Indiana 1–0 in double overtime in the NCAA 

championship game; nevertheless, the team went further 

toward the NCAA title than any Ivy League soccer team in 

history. The football program unfortunately is best known for 

its record of futility set during the 1980s: between 1983 and 

1988, the team lost 44 games in a row, which is still the record 

for the NCAA Football Championship Subdivision. The streak 

was broken on October 8, 1988, with a 16–13 victory over 

arch-rival Princeton University. That was the Lions' first 

victory at Wien Stadium, which had been opened during the 

losing streak and was already four years old. A new tradition 

has developed with the Liberty Cup. The Liberty Cup is 

awarded annually to the winner of the football game between 

Fordham and Columbia Universities, two of the only three 

NCAA Division I football teams in New York City.  

World Leaders Forum 

Established in 2003 by university president Lee C. Bollinger, 

the World Leaders Forum at Columbia University provides the 

opportunity for undergraduate and graduate students alike to 
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listen to world leaders in government, religion, industry, 

finance, and academia. The World Leaders Forum is a year-

around event series that strives to provide a platform for 

uninhibited speech among nations and cultures, while 

educating students about problems and progress around the 

globe.  

Past forum speakers include former president of the United 

States Bill Clinton, the prime minister of India Atal Bihari 

Vajpayee, former president of Ghana John Agyekum Kufuor, 

president of Afghanistan Hamid Karzai, prime minister of 

Russia Vladimir Putin, president of the Republic of 

Mozambique Joaquim Alberto Chissano, president of the 

Republic of Bolivia Carlos Diego Mesa Gisbert, president of the 

Republic of Romania Ion Iliescu, president of the Republic of 

Latvia VairaVīķe-Freiberga, the first female president of 

Finland TarjaHalonen, President Yudhoyono of Indonesia, 

President Pervez Musharraf of the Islamic Republic of Pakistan, 

Iraq President Jalal Talabani, the 14th Dalai Lama, president 

of the Islamic Republic of Iran Mahmoud Ahmadinejad, 

financier George Soros, Mayor of New York City Michael R. 

Bloomberg, President Václav Klaus of the Czech Republic, 

President Cristina Fernández de Kirchner of Argentina, former 

Secretary-General of the United Nations Kofi Annan, and Al 

Gore.  

Other 

The Columbia University Orchestra was founded by composer 

Edward MacDowell in 1896, and is the oldest continually 

operating university orchestra in the United States. 

Undergraduate student composers at Columbia may choose to 
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become involved with Columbia New Music, which sponsors 

concerts of music written by undergraduate students from all 

of Columbia's schools. The Notes and Keys, the oldest a 

cappella group at Columbia, was founded in 1909. There are a 

number of performing arts groups at Columbia dedicated to 

producing student theater, including the Columbia Players, 

King's Crown Shakespeare Troupe (KCST), Columbia Musical 

Theater Society (CMTS), NOMADS (New and Original Material 

Authored and Directed by Students), LateNite Theatre, 

Columbia University Performing Arts League (CUPAL), Black 

Theatre Ensemble (BTE), sketch comedy group Chowdah, and 

improvisational troupes Alfred and Fruit Paunch.  

The Columbia Queer Alliance is the central Columbia student 

organization that represents the bisexual, lesbian, gay, 

transgender, and questioning student population. It is the 

oldest gay student organization in the world, founded as the 

Student Homophile League in 1967 by students including 

lifelong activist Stephen Donaldson.  

Columbia University campus military groups include the U.S. 

Military Veterans of Columbia University and Advocates for 

Columbia ROTC. In the 2005–06 academic year, the Columbia 

Military Society, Columbia's student group for ROTC cadets 

and Marine officer candidates, was renamed the Hamilton 

Society for "students who aspire to serve their nation through 

the military in the tradition of Alexander Hamilton".  

The largest student service organization at Columbia is 

Community Impact (CI). Founded in 1981, CI provides food, 

clothing, shelter, education, job training, and companionship 

for residents in its surrounding communities. CI consists of 
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about 950 Columbia University student volunteers 

participating in 25 community service programs, which serve 

more than 8,000 people each year.  

Columbia has several secret societies, including St. Anthony 

Hall, which was founded at the university in 1847, and two 

senior societies, the Nacoms and Sachems.  

Traditions 

Orgo Night 

In one of the school's longest-lasting traditions, begun in 

1975, at midnight before the Organic Chemistry exam—often 

the first day of final exams—the Columbia University Marching 

Band invaded and briefly occupied the main undergraduate 

reading room in Butler Library to distract and entertain 

studying students with some forty-five minutes of raucous 

jokes and music, beginning and ending with the singing of the 

school's fight song, "Roar, Lion, Roar". After the main show 

before a crowd that routinely began filling the room well before 

the announced midnight start time, the Band led a procession 

to several campus locations, including the residential 

quadrangle of Barnard College for more music and temporary 

relief from the stress of last-minute studying.  

In December 2016, following several years of complaints from 

students who said that some Orgo Night scripts and 

advertising posters were offensive to minority groups, as well 

as a The New York Times article on the Band's crass treatment 

of sexual assault on campus, University administrators banned 

the Marching Band from performing its Orgo Night show in the 
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traditional Butler Library location. Protests and allegations of 

censorship followed, but University President Lee Bollinger 

said that complaints and publicity about the shows had 

"nothing to do with" the prohibition. The Band instead 

performed—at midnight, as usual—outside the main entrance 

of Butler Library.  

The Band's official alumni organization, the Columbia 

University Band Alumni Association, registered protests with 

the administration, and an ad hoc group of alumni writing 

under the name "A. Hamiltonius" published a series of 

pamphlets addressing their dissatisfaction with the ban, but at 

the end of the spring 2017 semester the university 

administration held firm, prompting the Marching Band to 

again stage its show outside the building. For Orgo Night 

December 2017,  

Band members quietly infiltrated the library with their musical 

instruments during the evening and popped up at midnight to 

perform the show inside despite the ban. Prior to the spring 

2018 exam period, the administration warned the group's 

leaders against a repeat and restated the injunction, warning 

of sanctions; the Band again staged its Orgo Night show in 

front of the library.  

Tree Lighting and Yule Log ceremonies 

The campus Tree Lighting ceremony was inaugurated in 1998. 

It celebrates the illumination of the medium-sized trees lining 

College Walk in front of Kent Hall and Hamilton Hall on the 

east end and Dodge Hall and Pulitzer Hall on the west, just 

before finals week in early December. The lights remain on 
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until February 28. Students meet at the sun-dial for free hot 

chocolate, performances by a cappella groups, and speeches by 

the university president and a guest.  

Immediately following the College Walk festivities is one of 

Columbia's older holiday traditions, the lighting of the Yule 

Log. The Christmas ceremony dates to a period prior to the 

American Revolutionary War, but lapsed before being revived 

by President Nicholas Murray Butler in 1910. A troop of 

students dressed as Continental Army soldiers carry the 

eponymous log from the sun-dial to the lounge of John Jay 

Hall, where it is lit amid the singing of seasonal carols. The 

Christmas ceremony is accompanied by a reading of A Visit 

From St. Nicholas by Clement Clarke Moore and Yes, Virginia, 

There is a Santa Claus by Francis Pharcellus Church.  

The Varsity Show 

The Varsity Show is an annual musical written by and for 

students and was established in 1894, making it one of 

Columbia's oldest traditions. Past writers and directors have 

included Columbians Richard Rodgers and Oscar Hammerstein, 

Lorenz Hart, I.A.L. Diamond, Herman Wouk and Eric Garcetti. 

The show has one of the largest operating budgets of all 

university events.  

Notable people 

Alumni 

The university has graduated many notable alumni, including 

five Founding Fathers of the United States, an author of the 
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United States Constitution and a member of the Committee of 

Five. Three United States presidents have attended Columbia, 

as well as ten Justices of the Supreme Court of the United 

States, including three Chief Justices. As of 2011, 125 Pulitzer 

Prize winners and 39 Oscar winners have attended Columbia. 

As of 2006, there were 101 National Academy members who 

were alumni.  

In a 2016 ranking of universities worldwide with respect to 

living graduates who are billionaires, Columbia ranked second, 

after Harvard.  

Former U.S. Presidents Theodore Roosevelt and Franklin 

Delano Roosevelt attended the law school. Other political 

figures educated at Columbia include former U.S President 

Barack Obama, Associate Justice of the U.S. Supreme Court 

Ruth Bader Ginsburg, former U.S. Secretary of State Madeleine 

Albright, former chairman of the U.S. Federal Reserve Bank 

Alan Greenspan, U.S. Attorney General Eric Holder, and U.S. 

Solicitor General Donald Verrilli Jr. The university has also 

educated 26 foreign heads of state, including president of 

Georgia Mikheil Saakashvili, president of East Timor Jose 

Ramos Horta, president of Estonia Toomas Hendrik Ilves and 

other historical figures such as Wellington Koo, Radovan 

Karadžić, Gaston Eyskens, and T. V. Soong. The author of 

India's constitution Dr. B. R. Ambedkar was also an alumnus 

of Columbia.  

Alumni of Columbia have occupied top positions in Wall Street 

and the rest of the business world. Notable members of the 

Astor family attended Columbia, while other business 

graduates include investor Warren Buffett, former CEO of PBS 
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and NBC Larry Grossman, chairman of Wal-MartS. Robson 

Walton, Bain Capital Co-Managing Partner, Jonathan Lavine, 

Thomson Reuters CEO Tom Glocer, and AllianceBernstein 

Chairman and CEO Lewis A. Sanders. CEO's of top Fortune 

500 companies include James P. Gorman of Morgan Stanley, 

Robert J. Stevens of Lockheed Martin, Philippe Dauman of 

Viacom, Robert Bakish of ViacomCBS, Ursula Burns of Xerox, 

Devin Wenig of EBay, VikramPandit of Citigroup, Ralph Izzo of 

Public Service Enterprise Group, Gail Koziara Boudreaux of 

Anthem, and Frank Blake of The Home Depot. Notable labor 

organizer and women's educator Louise Leonard McLaren 

received her degree of Master of Arts from Columbia.  

In science and technology, Columbia alumni include: founder 

of IBMHerman Hollerith; inventor of FM radioEdwin Armstrong; 

Francis Mechner; integral in development of the nuclear 

submarineHyman Rickover; founder of Google ChinaKai-Fu 

Lee; scientists Stephen Jay Gould, Robert Millikan, Helium–

neon laser inventor Ali Javan and Mihajlo Pupin; chief-

engineer of the New York City Subway, William Barclay 

Parsons; philosophers Irwin Edman and Robert Nozick; 

economist Milton Friedman; psychologist Harriet Babcock; and 

sociologists Lewis A. Coser and Rose LaubCoser.  

Many Columbia alumni have gone on to renowned careers in 

the arts, including composers Richard Rodgers, Oscar 

Hammerstein II, Lorenz Hart, and Art Garfunkel; and painter 

Georgia O'Keeffe. Five United States Poet Laureates received 

their degrees from Columbia. Columbia alumni have made an 

indelible mark in the field of American poetry and literature, 

with such people as Jack Kerouac and Allen Ginsberg, pioneers 

of the Beat Generation; and Langston Hughes and Zora Neale 
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Hurston, seminal figures in the Harlem Renaissance, all having 

attended the university. Other notable writers who attended 

Columbia include authors Isaac Asimov, J.D. Salinger, Upton 

Sinclair, Ursula K. Le Guin, Danielle Valore Evans, and Hunter 

S. Thompson.  

University alumni have also been very prominent in the film 

industry, with 33 alumni and former students winning a 

combined 43 Academy Awards (as of 2011). Some notable 

Columbia alumni that have gone on to work in film include 

directors Sidney Lumet (12 Angry Men) and Kathryn Bigelow 

(The Hurt Locker ), screenwriters Howard Koch (Casablanca) and 

Joseph L. Mankiewicz (All About Eve), and actors James 

Cagney and Ed Harris. 

Faculty 

As of 2021, Columbia employs 4,381 faculty, including 70 

members of the National Academy of Sciences, 178 members of 

the American Academy of Arts and Sciences, and 65 members 

of the National Academy of Medicine. In total, the Columbia 

faculty has included 52 Nobel laureates, 12 National Medal of 

Science recipients, and 32 National Academy of Engineering 

members.  

Columbia University faculty played particularly important roles 

during World War II and the creation of the New Deal under 

President Franklin D. Roosevelt, who attended Columbia Law 

School. The three core members of Roosevelt's Brain Trust: 

Adolf A. Berle, Raymond Moley, and Rexford Tugwell, were law 

professors at Columbia. The Statistical Research Group, which 

used statistics to analyze military problems during World War 



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 5 

960 

II, was composed of Columbia researchers and faculty 

including George Stigler and Milton Friedman. Columbia 

faculty and researchers, including Enrico Fermi, Leo Szilard, 

Eugene T. Booth, John R. Dunning, George B. Pegram, Walter 

Zinn, Chien-Shiung Wu, Francis G. Slack, Harold Urey, 

Herbert L. Anderson, and Isidor Isaac Rabi, also played a 

significant role during the early phases of the Manhattan 

Project.  

Following the rise of Nazi Germany, the exiled Institute for 

Social Research at Goethe University Frankfurt would affiliate 

itself with Columbia from 1934 to 1950. It was during this 

period that thinkers including Theodor Adorno, Max 

Horkheimer, and Herbert Marcuse wrote and published some of 

the most seminal works of the Frankfurt School, including 

Reason and Revolution, Dialectic of Enlightenment, and Eclipse 

of Reason.  

Notable figures that have served as the president of Columbia 

University include 34thPresident of the United StatesDwight D. 

Eisenhower, 4thVice President of the United StatesGeorge 

Clinton, Founding Father and U.S. Senator from Connecticut 

William Samuel Johnson, Nobel Peace Prize laureate Nicholas 

Murray Butler, and First Amendment scholar Lee Bollinger. 

  



Chapter 38 

Siege of Fort William Henry 

The siege of Fort William Henry (3–9 August 1757, French: 

Bataille de Fort William Henry) was conducted by French 

General Louis-Joseph de Montcalm against the British-held 

Fort William Henry. The fort, located at the southern end of 

Lake George, on the frontier between the British Province of 

New York and the French Province of Canada, was garrisoned 

by a poorly supported force of British regulars and provincial 

militia led by Lieutenant Colonel George Monro. After several 

days of bombardment, Monro surrendered to Montcalm, whose 

force included nearly 2,000 Indians from various tribes. The 

terms of surrender included the withdrawal of the garrison to 

Fort Edward, with specific terms that the French military 

protect the British from the Indians as they withdrew from the 

area.  

In one of the most notorious incidents of the French and 

Indian War, Montcalm's Indian allies violated the agreed terms 

of surrender and attacked the British column, which had been 

deprived of ammunition, as it left the fort. They killed and 

scalped many soldiers, took as captives women, children, 

servants, and slaves, and slaughtered sick and wounded 

prisoners. Early accounts of the events called it a massacre 

and implied that as many as 1,500 people were killed, although 

it is unlikely more than 200 people (less than 10% of the 

British fighting strength) were actually killed in the massacre.  

The exact role of Montcalm and other French leaders in 

encouraging or defending against the actions of their allies, 
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and the total number of casualties incurred as a result of their 

actions, is a subject of historical debate. The memory of the 

killings influenced the actions of British military leaders, 

especially those of British General Jeffery Amherst, for the 

remainder of the war.  

Background 

The French and Indian War started in 1754 over territorial 

disputes between the North American colonies of France and 

Great Britain in areas that are now western Pennsylvania and 

upstate New York. The first few years of the war had not gone 

particularly well for the British. A major expedition by General 

Edward Braddock in 1755 ended in disaster, and British 

military leaders were unable to mount any campaigns the 

following year. In a major setback, a French and Indian army 

led by General Louis-Joseph de Montcalm captured the 

garrison and destroyed fortifications in the Battle of Fort 

Oswego in August 1756. In July 1756 the Earl of Loudoun 

arrived to take command of the British forces in North 

America, replacing William Shirley, who had temporarily 

assumed command after Braddock's death.  

British planning 

Loudoun's plan for the 1757 campaign was submitted to the 

government in London in September 1756, and was focused on 

a single expedition aimed at the heart of New France, the city 

of Quebec. It called for a purely defensive postures along the 

frontier with New France, including the contested corridor of 

the Hudson River and Lake Champlain between Albany, New 



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 5 

963 

York and Montreal. Following the Battle of Lake George in 

1755, the French had begun construction of Fort Carillon (now 

known as Fort Ticonderoga) near the southern end of Lake 

Champlain, while the British had built Fort William Henry at 

the southern end of Lake George, and Fort Edward on the 

Hudson River, about 16 miles (26 km) south of Fort William 

Henry (all three forts are in present-day New York). The area 

between William Henry and Carillon was a wilderness 

dominated by Lake George that historian Ian Steele described 

as "a military waterway that left opposing cannons only a few 

days apart."  

Loudoun's plan depended on the expedition's timely arrival at 

Quebec, so that French troops would not have the opportunity 

to move against targets on the frontier, and would instead be 

needed to defend the heartland of the province of Canada along 

the Saint Lawrence River. However, political turmoil in London 

over the progress of the Seven Years' War both in North 

America and in Europe resulted in a change of power, with 

William Pitt the Elder rising to take control over military 

matters. Loudoun consequently did not receive any feedback 

from London on his proposed campaign until March 1757. 

Before this feedback arrived he developed plans for the 

expedition to Quebec, and worked with the provincial 

governors of the Thirteen Colonies to develop plans for a 

coordinated defence of the frontier, including the allotment of 

militia quotas to each province.  

When William Pitt's instructions finally reached Loudoun in 

March 1757, they called for the expedition to first target 

Louisbourg on the Atlantic coast of Île Royale, now known as 

Cape Breton Island. Although this did not materially affect the 
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planning of the expedition, it was to have significant 

consequences on the frontier. The French forces on the Saint 

Lawrence would be too far from Louisbourg to support it, and 

would consequently be free to act elsewhere. Loudoun assigned 

his best troops to the Louisbourg expedition, and placed 

Brigadier General Daniel Webb in command of the New York 

frontier. He was given about 2,000 regulars, primarily from the 

35th and 60th (Royal American) Regiments. The provinces were 

to supply Webb with about 5,000 militia.  

French planning 

Following the success of his 1756 assault on Fort Oswego, 

Montcalm had been seeking an opportunity to deal with the 

British position at Fort William Henry, since it provided the 

British with a launching point for attacks against Fort Carillon 

(now known as Fort Ticonderoga). He was initially hesitant to 

commit his limited resources against Fort William Henry 

without knowing more about the disposition of British forces. 

Intelligence provided by spies in London arrived in the spring, 

indicating that the British target was probably Louisbourg. 

This suggested that troop levels on the British side of the 

frontier might be low enough to make an attack on Fort 

William Henry feasible. This idea was further supported after 

the French questioned deserters and captives taken during 

periodic scouting and raiding expeditions that both sides 

conducted, including one resulting in the January Battle on 

Snowshoes.  

As early as December 1756, New France's governor, the 

Marquis de Vaudreuil, began the process of recruiting Indians 

for the following summer's campaign. Fueled by stories 
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circulated by Indian participants in the capture of Oswego, 

this drive was highly successful, drawing nearly 1,000 warriors 

from the Pays d'en Haut (the more remote regions of New 

France) to Montreal by June 1757. Another 800 Indians were 

recruited from tribes that lived closer to the Saint Lawrence.  

British preparations 

Fort William Henry, built in the fall of 1755, was a roughly 

square fortification with bastions on the corners, in a design 

that was intended to repel Indian attacks but was not 

necessarily sufficient to withstand attack from an enemy that 

had artillery. Its walls were 30 feet (9.1 m) thick, with log 

facings surrounding an earthen filling. Inside the fort were 

wooden barracks two stories high, built around the parade 

ground. Its magazine was in the northeast bastion, and its 

hospital was located in the southeast bastion. The fort was 

surrounded on three sides by a dry moat, with the fourth side 

sloping down to the lake. The only access to the fort was by a 

bridge across the moat. The fort was capable of housing only 

four to five hundred men; additional troops were quartered in 

an entrenched camp 750 yards (690 m) southeast of the fort, 

near the site of the 1755 Battle of Lake George.  

During the winter of 1756–57, Fort William Henry was 

garrisoned by several hundred men from the 44th Foot under 

Major Will Eyre. In March 1757 the French sent an army of 

1,500 to attack the fort under the command of the governor's 

brother, Pierre de Rigaud. Composed primarily of colonial 

troupes de la marine, militia, and Indians, and without heavy 

weapons, they besieged the fort for four days, destroying 

outbuildings and many watercraft before retreating. Eyre and 
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his men were replaced by Lieutenant Colonel George Monro 

and the 35th Foot in the spring. Monro established his 

headquarters in the entrenched camp, where most of his men 

were located.  

French preparations 

The Indians that assembled at Montreal were sent south to 

Fort Carillon, where they joined the French regiments of Béarn 

and Royal Roussillon under François-Charles de Bourlamaque, 

and those of La Sarre, Guyenne, Languedoc, and la Reine 

under François de Gaston, Chevalier de Lévis. Combined with 

the troupes de la marine, militia companies, and the arriving 

Indians, the force accumulated at Carillon amounted to 8,000 

men.  

While at Carillon, the French leadership had difficulty 

controlling the behaviour of its Indian allies. Although they did 

stop one group from forcing a British prisoner to run the 

gantlet, a group of Ottawas were not stopped when it was 

observed that they were ritually cannibalizing another 

prisoner.  

French authorities were also frustrated in their ability to limit 

the Indians' taking of more than their allotted share of rations. 

Montcalm's aide, Louis Antoine de Bougainville, observed that 

attempts to curb this activity would have resulted in the loss 

of some of these forces. In another prelude of things to come, 

many prisoners were taken on 23 July in the Battle of Sabbath 

Day Point, some of whom were also ritually cannibalized before 

Montcalm managed to convince the Indians instead to send the 

captives to Montreal to be sold as slaves.  
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Prelude 

Webb, who commanded the area from his base at Fort Edward, 

received intelligence in April that the French were 

accumulating resources and troops at Carillon. News of 

continued French activity arrived with a captive taken in mid-

July. Following an attack by Joseph Marin de la Malgue on a 

work crew near Fort Edward on 23 July,  

Webb travelled to Fort William Henry with a party of 

Connecticut rangers led by Major Israel Putnam, and sent a 

detachment of them onto the lake for reconnaissance. They 

returned with word that Indians were encamped on islands in 

the lake about 18 miles (29 km) from the fort. Swearing 

Putnam and his rangers to secrecy, Webb returned to Fort 

Edward, and on 2 August sent Lieutenant Colonel John Young 

with 200 regulars and 800 Massachusetts militia to reinforce 

the garrison at William Henry. This raised the size of the 

garrison to about 2,500, although several hundred of these 

were ill, some with smallpox.  

Siege 

While Montcalm's Indian allies had already begun to move 

south, his advance force of French troops departed from 

Carillon on 30 July under Lévis' command, travelling overland 

along Lake George's western shore because the expedition did 

not have enough boats to carry the entire force. Montcalm and 

the remaining forces sailed the next day, and met with Lévis 

for the night at Ganaouske Bay. The next night, Lévis camped 

just 3 miles (4.8 km) from Fort William Henry, with Montcalm 
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not far behind. Early on the morning of 3 August, Lévis and 

the Canadians blocked the road between Edward and William 

Henry, skirmishing with the recently arrived Massachusetts 

militia. Montcalm summoned Monro to surrender at 11:00 am. 

Monro refused, and sent messengers south to Fort Edward, 

indicating the dire nature of the situation and requesting 

reinforcements. Webb, feeling threatened by Lévis, refused to 

send any of his estimated 1,600 men north, since they were all 

that stood between the French and Albany. He wrote to Monro 

on 4 August that he should negotiate the best terms possible; 

this communication was intercepted and delivered to 

Montcalm.  

Montcalm, in the meantime, ordered Bourlamaque to begin 

siege operations. The French opened trenches to the northwest 

of the fort with the objective of bringing their artillery to bear 

against the fort's northwest bastion. On 5 August, French guns 

began firing on the fort from 2,000 yards (1,800 m), a spectacle 

the large Indian contingent relished.  

The next day a second battery opened fire from 900 feet 

(270 m) further along the same trench, creating a crossfire. 

The effect of the garrison's return fire was limited to driving 

French guards from the trenches, and some of the fort's guns 

either were dismounted or burst owing to the stress of use. On 

7 August, Montcalm sent Bougainville to the fort under a truce 

flag to deliver the intercepted dispatch. By then the fort's walls 

had been breached, many of its guns were useless, and the 

garrison had taken many casualties. After another day of 

bombardment by the French, during which their trenches 

approached another 250 yards (230 m), Monro raised the white 

flag to open negotiations.  
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Massacre 

The terms of surrender were that the British and their camp 

followers would be allowed to withdraw, under French escort, 

to Fort Edward, with the full honours of war, on condition that 

they refrain from fighting for 18 months. They were allowed to 

keep their muskets and a single symbolic cannon, but no 

ammunition. In addition, British authorities were to release 

French prisoners within three months.  

Montcalm, before agreeing to these terms, tried to make sure 

that his Indian allies understood them, and that the chiefs 

would undertake to restrain their men. This process was 

complicated by the diversity within the Indian camp, which 

included some warriors who spoke languages not understood 

by any European present. The British garrison was then 

evacuated from the fort to the entrenched camp, and Monro 

was quartered in the French camp. The Indians then entered 

the fort and plundered it, butchering some of the wounded and 

sick that the British had left behind. The French guards posted 

around the entrenched camp were only somewhat successful at 

keeping the Indians out of that area, and it took much effort to 

prevent plunder and scalping there. Montcalm and Monro 

initially planned to march the prisoners south the following 

morning, but after seeing the Indian bloodlust, decided to 

attempt the march that night. When the Indians became aware 

that the British were getting ready to move, many of them 

massed around the camp, causing the leaders to call off the 

march until morning.  

The next morning, even before the British column began to 

form up for the march to Fort Edward, the Indians renewed 
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attacks on the largely defenceless British. At 5 am, Indians 

entered huts in the fort housing wounded British who were 

supposed to be under the care of French doctors, and killed 

and scalped them. Monro complained that the terms of 

capitulation had been violated, but his contingent was forced 

to surrender some of its baggage in order to be able even to 

begin the march.  

As they marched off, they were harassed by the swarming 

Indians, who snatched at them, grabbing for weapons and 

clothing, and pulling away with force those that resisted their 

actions, including many of the women, children, servants and 

slaves. As the last of the men left the encampment, a war 

whoop sounded, and a contingent of Abenaki warriors seized 

several men at the rear of the column.  

Although Montcalm and other French officers attempted to stop 

further attacks, others did not, and some explicitly refused to 

provide further protection to the British. At this point, the 

column dissolved, as some tried to escape the Indian 

onslaught, while others actively tried to defend themselves. 

Massachusetts Colonel Joseph Frye reported that he was 

stripped of much of his clothing and repeatedly threatened. He 

fled into the woods, and did not reach Fort Edward until 12 

August.  

At last with great difficulty the troops got from the 

Retrenchment, but they were no sooner out than the savages 

fell upon our rear, killing and scalping, which occasioned an 

order for a halt, done in great confusion at last, but, as soon 

as those in the front knew what was doing in the rear they 

again pressed forward, and thus the confusion continued 
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&encreased till we came to the advanced guard of the French, 

the savages still carrying away Officers, privates, women and 

children, some of which later they kill 'd&scalpt in the road. 

This horrid scene of blood and slaughter obliged our officers to 

apply to the French Guard for protection, which they refus'd 

told them they must take to the woods and shift for 

themselves. 

• —  Joseph Frye 

Estimates of the numbers killed, wounded, and taken captive 

during this time vary widely. Ian Steele has compiled estimates 

ranging from 200 to 1,500. His detailed reconstruction of the 

siege and its aftermath indicates that the final tally of British 

missing and dead ranges from 69 to 184, at most 7.5% of the 

2,308 who surrendered.  

Aftermath 

On the afternoon after the massacre, most of the Indians left, 

heading back to their homes. Montcalm was able to secure the 

release of 500 captives they had taken, but they still took with 

them another 200. The French remained at the site for several 

days, destroying what remained of the British works before 

leaving on 18 August and returning to Fort Carillon. For 

unknown reasons, Montcalm decided not to follow up his 

victory with an attack on Fort Edward. Many reasons have 

been proposed justifying his decision, including the departure 

of many (but not all) of the Indians, a shortage of provisions, 

the lack of draft animals to assist in the portage to the 

Hudson, and the need for the Canadian militia to return home 

in time to participate in the harvest.  
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Word of the French movements had reached the influential 

British Indian agent William Johnson on 1 August. Unlike 

Webb, he acted with haste, and arrived at Fort Edward on 6 

August with 1,500 militia and 150 Indians. In a move that 

infuriated Johnson, Webb refused to allow him to advance 

toward Fort William Henry, apparently believing a French 

deserter's report that the French army was 11,000 men strong, 

and that any attempt at relief was futile given the available 

forces.  

Return of captives 

On 14 August, Montcalm wrote letters to Loudoun and Webb, 

apologising for the behaviour of the Indians, but also 

attempting to justify it. Many captives that were taken to 

Montreal by the Indians were also eventually repatriated 

through prisoner exchanges negotiated by Governor Vaudreuil. 

On 27 September a small British fleet left Quebec, carrying 

paroled or exchanged prisoners taken in a variety of actions 

including those at Fort William Henry and Oswego. When the 

fleet arrived at Halifax, about 300 people captured at Fort 

William Henry were returned to the colonies. The fleet 

continued to Europe, where a few more former captives were 

released; some of these also eventually returned to the 

colonies.  

Consequences 

General Webb was recalled because of his actions; William 

Johnson wrote that Webb was "the only Englishman [I] ever 

knew who was a coward." Lord Loudoun was also recalled, 

although this occurred primarily because of the failure of the 
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Louisbourg expedition. Colonel Monro died in November 1757, 

of apoplexy that some historians have suggested was caused by 

anger over Webb's failure to support him.  

Lord Loudoun, upset over the event, delayed implementing the 

release of French prisoners promised as part of the terms of 

surrender. General James Abercrombie, who succeeded 

Loudoun as commander-in-chief, was asked by paroled 

members of the 35th Foot to void the agreement so that they 

would be free to serve in 1758; this he did, and they went on to 

serve under Jeffery Amherst in his successful British 

expedition against Louisbourg in 1758. Amherst, who also 

presided over the surrender of Montreal in 1760, refused the 

surrendering garrisons at Louisbourg and Montreal the normal 

honours of war, due in part to the French failure to uphold the 

terms of capitulation in this action.  

Legacy 

The British (and later Americans) never rebuilt anything on the 

site of Fort William Henry, which lay in ruins for about 200 

years. In the 1950s, excavation at the site eventually led to the 

reconstruction of Fort William Henry as a tourist destination 

for the town of Lake George.  

Many colonial accounts of the time focused on the plundering 

perpetrated by the Indians, and the fact that those who 

resisted them were killed, using words like "massacre" even 

though casualty numbers were uncertain. The later releases of 

captives did not receive the same level of press coverage. The 

events of the battle and subsequent killings were depicted in 

the 1826 novel The Last of the Mohicans by James Fenimore 
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Cooper and in film adaptations of the book. Cooper's 

description of the events contains numerous inaccuracies, but 

his work, and the sometimes lurid descriptions of the event by 

early historians like Benson Lossing and Francis Parkman, led 

to the belief that many more people died than actually did. 

Lossing wrote that "fifteen hundred [people] were butchered or 

carried into hopeless captivity", when many more were 

captured than killed, and even many of those captured were 

eventually freed.  

Historians disagree on where to assign responsibility for the 

Indian actions. Francis Jennings contends that Montcalm 

anticipated what was going to happen, deliberately ignored it 

when it did happen, and stepped in only after the atrocities 

were well under way. In his opinion, the account by 

Bougainville, who left for Montreal on the night of 9 August 

and was not present at the massacre, was written as a 

whitewash to protect Montcalm. Parkman is more vigorous in 

his defence of Montcalm, claiming that he and other French 

officers did what they could to prevent atrocities, but were 

powerless to stop the onslaught.  

Ian Steele notes that two primary accounts dominate much of 

the historical record. The first is the record compiled by 

Montcalm, including the terms of surrender and his letters to 

Webb and Loudoun, which received wide publication in the 

colonies (both French and British) and in Europe. The second 

was the 1778 publication of a book by Jonathan Carver, an 

explorer who served in the Massachusetts militia and was 

present at the siege. According to Steele, Carver originated, 

without any supporting analysis or justification, the idea that 

as many as 1,500 people had been "killed or made prisoner" in 
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his widely popular work. Yale College president Timothy 

Dwight, in a history published posthumously in 1822, 

apparently coined the phrase "massacre at Fort William 

Henry", based on Carver's work; his book and Carver's were 

likely influences on Cooper, and tended to fault Montcalm for 

the Indian transgressions. Steele himself adopts a more 

nuanced view of the underlying cause of the massacre. 

Montcalm and the French leaders repeatedly promised the 

Indians opportunities for the glory and trophies of war, 

including plunder, scalping, and the taking of captives. In the 

aftermath of the Battle of Sabbath Day Point, captives taken 

were ransomed, meaning the Indians had no visible trophies. 

The terms of surrender at Fort William Henry effectively denied 

the Indians appreciable opportunities for plunder: the war 

provisions were claimed by the French army, and personal 

effects of the British were to stay with them, leaving nothing 

for the Indians. According to Steele, this decision bred 

resentment, as it appeared that the French were conspiring 

with their enemies (the British) against their friends (the 

Indians), leaving them without any promised war trophies.  

Participating Indian nations 

According to historian William Nester, many tribal nations 

were present during the siege. Some were represented by only a 

few individual warriors. Some individuals were thought to have 

traveled 1,500 miles (2,400 km) to join the French, coming 

from as far away as the Mississippi River and Hudson Bay. 

Nester proposed that some of the atrocities, which included the 

murder and scalping of sick individuals and the digging up of 

bodies for plunder and scalping, resulted in many Indians 
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becoming infected with smallpox, which they then carried into 

their communities. The devastation wrought by the disease in 

the following years had a notable effect on Indian participation 

in the French campaigns of the following years. The tribes that 

Nester lists are:  

• Abenaki 

• Algonquin 

• Fox 

• Huron 

• Iowa 

• Kickapoo tribe 

• "Canadian" Iroquois 

• Menominee 

• Miami 

• Mi'kmaq 

• Mississauga 

• Nipissing 

• Ojibwe 

• Onondaga 

• Ottawa 

• Potawatomi 

• Sac 

• Atikamekw "Tetes-de-Boules" 

• Winnebago 

  



Chapter 39 

Siege of Louisbourg (1758) 

The siege of Louisbourg was a pivotal operation of the Seven 

Years' War (known in the United States as the French and 

Indian War) in 1758 that ended the French colonial era in 

Atlantic Canada and led to the subsequent British campaign to 

capture Quebec in 1759 and the remainder of French North 

America the following year. 

Background 

The British government realized that with the Fortress of 

Louisbourg under French control, the Royal Navy could not sail 

up the St. Lawrence River unmolested for an attack on Quebec. 

After an expedition against Louisbourg in 1757 led by Lord 

Loudon was turned back due to a strong French naval 

deployment, the British under the leadership of William Pitt 

resolved to try again with new commanders.  

Pitt assigned the task of capturing the fortress to Major 

General Jeffery Amherst. Amherst's brigadiers were Charles 

Lawrence, James Wolfe and Edward Whitmore, and command 

of naval operations was assigned to Admiral Edward Boscawen. 

The chief engineer was John Henry Bastide who had been 

present at the first siege of Louisbourg in 1745 and was chief 

engineer at Fort St Philip, Minorca, in 1756 when the British 

had surrendered the fort and island to the French after a long 

siege.  



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 5 

978 

As they had in 1757, the French planned to defend Louisbourg 

by means of a large naval build-up. However, the British 

blockaded the French fleet sailing from Toulon when it arrived 

in Cartagena, and defeated a French relief force at the Battle of 

Cartagena.  

The French consequently abandoned their attempt to reinforce 

Louisbourg from the Mediterranean, and only 11 ships were 

available to oppose the British off Louisbourg. Most of the 

cannons and men were moved inside the fort and five ships 

(Appolon, Fidèle, Chèvre, Biche, Diane) were sunk to block the 

entrance to the harbour. On 9 July, Echo tried to slip out of 

the harbour under the cover of a dense fog, but was 

intercepted and seized by HMS Scarborough and HMS Junon. 

This left the French with only five half-empty ships in the 

harbour :Célèbre (64), Entreprenant (74), Capricieux (64), 

Prudent (74) and Bienfaisant (64).  

British forces assembled at Halifax, Nova Scotia where army 

and navy units spent most of May training together as the 

massive invasion fleet came together. After a large gathering at 

the Great Pontack, on 29 May, the Royal Navy fleet departed 

from Halifax for Louisbourg.  

Order of battle 

The fleet consisted of 150 transport ships and 40 men-of-war. 

Housed in these ships were almost 14,000 soldiers, almost all 

of whom were regulars (with the exception of four companies of 

American rangers). The force was divided into three divisions: 

Red, commanded by James Wolfe, Blue, commanded by Charles 

Lawrence and White commanded by Edward Whitmore. On 2 
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June the British force anchored in Gabarus Bay, 3 miles 

(4.8 km) from Louisbourg.  

The French commander (and governor of Île-Royale (New 

France)), the Chevalier de Drucour, had at his disposal some 

3,500 regulars as well as approximately 3,500 marines and 

sailors from the French warships in the harbour. However, 

unlike the previous year, the French navy was unable to 

assemble in significant numbers, leaving the French squadron 

at Louisbourg outnumbered five to one by the British fleet. 

Drucour ordered trenches to be prepared and manned by some 

2,000 French troops, along with other defences, such as an 

artillery battery, at Kennington Cove.  

British forces 

British forces were commanded by General Jeffery Amherst 

(appx. 11,000 regulars and 200 american rangers (colonials)).  

• 3 companies of Rogers' Rangers 

• Goreham Rangers (only 1 company) – Colonial 

Massachusetts 

• Louisbourg Grenadiers (composite, made up of 

grenaiders from the 22nd, 45th, and 40th regiments) 

• Commander Artillery & Engineers 

• Captain Ord's Company, Royal Artillery 

• 11 Miners 

• 11 Engineers 

• 100 Carpenters 

• Royal Train of Artillery (324 men) 

• Brigadier Whitmore's Brigade under Brigadier 

General Edward Whitmore  
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• 1st Battalion, 1st Regiment of Foot 

• 22nd Regiment of Foot 

• 40th Regiment of Foot 

• 48th Regiment of Foot 

• 3rd Battalion, 60th (Royal American) Regiment of 

Foot 

• Brigadier Wolfe's Brigade under Brigadier General 

James Wolfe  

• 17th Regiment of Foot 

• 35th Regiment of Foot 

• 47th Regiment of Foot 

• 2nd Battalion, 60th (Royal American) Regiment of 

Foot 

• Brigadier Lawrence's Brigade under Brigadier 

General Charles Lawrence  

• 15th Regiment of Foot 

• 28th Regiment of Foot 

• 45th Regiment of Foot 

• 58th Regiment of Foot 

• Fraser's Highlanders (technically colonial, but on 

British establishment, therefore considered 

'regulars') 

French forces 

Ground troops 

The French garrison based within the Fortress of Louisbourg 

was commanded by Augustin de Boschenry, Chevalier de 

Drucour. Between 1755 and the time of the siege, the French 

garrison expanded from 1,200 troops to around 6,000 troops. 

Troops forming the garrison included:  
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• 2nd Battalion, Regiment of Artois — 2éme Bataillon 

du Régimentd'Artois (520 Troops) 

• 2nd Battalion, Regiment of Burgundy — 2éme 

Bataillon du Régiment de Bourgogne (520 Troops) 

• 2nd Battalion, Regiment of Cambis — 2éme Bataillon 

du Régiment de Cambis (650 Troops), Battalion 

arriving just before the siege, based in Port-Dauphin 

and marched to Louisbourg due to the town being 

blockaded by the Royal Navy 

• 2nd Battalion, Regiment of Foreign Volunteers — 

2éme Bataillon du Régiment des VolontairesÉtrangers 

(660 Troops0 

• 1,000 CompagniesDétachées (mostly from the 

CompagniesFranches de la Marine) 

• 120 gunners from Bombardiers de la Marine 

• 700 "burgher militia" 

• Tribe of unknown Natives 

• Crews from the French fleet 

Naval forces & reinforcements 

Many naval forces were sent from France to Louisbourg, but 

the majority of them didn't arrive in time. The divisions and 

squadrons sent to assist included:  

• Naval Division of the Marquis Charry des Gouttes 

(departed from Île-d'Aix on 9 March, arrival date in 

Louisbourg unknown)  

• 74 Gun Ship-of-the-Line Prudent — Captured then 

set on fire 26 July 

• 64 Gun SoLRaisonnable — Collided with Messager on 

13 March, captured after a brief fight 29 April 
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• 56 Gun SoLL'Apollon, only 20 or 22 cannons — 

Scuttled 28 June 

• 24 Gun Frigate Diane — Scuttled 29 June 

• 24 Gun Frigate Mutine — Fate unknown 

• 24 Gun Frigate Fidèle — Scuttled 28 June 

• 24 Gun Frigate Galatée — Captured in April by the 

English as it left Bordeaux, escorting a convoy of 

twelve transports to supply the town but all captured 

• 6 or 12 Gun FluytMessager — Collided 13 March 

with Raisonnable probably later returned to 

Rochefort 

• 10 Gun FluytChèvre — Scuttled 28 June 

• Naval Division of Beaussier de l'Isle (departed 

Brest 10 April, unknown arrival date)  

• 74 Gun Ship-of-the-Line Entreprenant — Burned 21 

July during the siege debris projected by the 

explosion of Celebre 

• 64 Gun SoLBizarre — Left Louisbourg on 8 June to 

help during the siege of Quebec to bring food and 

ammunition and joined Du Chaffault division. 

Separated from other ships on 24 September on 

return, returned to France alone, docked in Lorient 

• 64 Gun SoLCélèbre — Exploded 21 July after being 

hit by English bomb during siege 

• 64 Gun SoLCapricieux — Exploded 21 July by 

flaming debris from the explosion of Célèbre 

• 64 Gun SoLBienfaisant — Captured during the night 

of 25/26 July during raid, integrated into Royal Navy 

• 30 Gun Frigate Comtète — Left Louisbourg at start of 

the siege, then returned to France alone 
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• 28 Gun Frigate L'Echo — Sent to Quebec to advise 

arrival of the English squadron in front of 

Louisbourg, captured by two English frigates on 25 

May 

Siege 

Weather conditions in the first week of June made any landing 

impossible and the British were only able to mount a 

bombardment of the improvised shore defences of Gabarus Bay 

from a frigate. However, conditions improved, and at daybreak 

on 8 June Amherst launched his assault using a flotilla of 

large boats, organized in seven divisions, each commanded by 

one of his brigadiers. French defences were initially successful 

and after heavy losses, Wolfe ordered a retreat. However, at the 

last minute, a boatload of light infantry in Wolfe's division 

(i.e., members of Rogers Rangers) found a rocky inlet protected 

from French fire and secured a beachhead. Wolfe redirected the 

rest of his division to follow. Outflanked, the French retreated 

rapidly back to their fortress.  

Continuing heavy seas and the difficulty inherent to moving 

siege equipment over boggy terrain delayed the commencement 

of the formal siege. In the meantime, Wolfe was sent with 

1,220 picked men around the harbour to seize Lighthouse 

Point, which dominated the harbour entrance. This he did on 

12 June. After eleven days, on 19 June, the British artillery 

batteries were in position and the orders were given to open 

fire on the French. The British battery consisted of seventy 

cannons and mortars of all sizes. Within hours, the guns had 

destroyed walls and damaged several buildings. On 21 July a 

mortar round from a British gun on Lighthouse Point struck a 
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64-gun French ship of the line, Le Célèbre , and set it ablaze. A 

stiff breeze fanned the fire, and shortly after Le Célèbre caught 

fire, two other French ships, L'Entreprenant and Le Capricieux, 

had also caught fire. L'Entreprenant sank later in the day, 

depriving the French of the largest ship in the Louisbourg 

fleet.  

The next major blow to French morale came on the evening of 

23 July, at 10:00. A British "hot shot" set the King's Bastion 

on fire. The King's Bastion was the fortress headquarters and 

the largest building in North America in 1758. Its destruction 

eroded confidence and reduced morale in the French troops 

and their hopes to lift the British siege.  

Naval action 

Most historians regard the British actions of 25 July as the 

"straw that broke the camel's back". Using a thick fog as cover, 

Admiral Boscawen sent a cutting-out party to destroy the last 

two French ships in the harbour. The British raiders 

eliminated these two French ships of the line, capturing 

Bienfaisant and burning Prudent, thus clearing the way for the 

Royal Navy to enter the harbour. James Cook, who later 

became famous as an explorer, took part in this operation and 

recorded it in his ship's log book.  

Capitulation 

On 26 July the French surrendered. Having fought a spirited 

defence, the French expected to be accorded the honours of 

war, as they had given to the surrendering British at the Battle 

of Minorca. However, Amherst refused, tales of the atrocities 
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supposedly committed by France's native allies at the 

surrender of Fort Oswego and Fort William Henry probably 

fresh in his mind. The defenders of Louisbourg were ordered to 

surrender all of their arms, equipment and flags. These actions 

outraged Drucour, but because the safety of the non-

combatant inhabitants of Louisbourg depended upon him he 

reluctantly accepted the terms of surrender. The Cambis 

regiment refused to honour the terms of surrender, breaking 

its muskets and burning its regimental flags rather than hand 

them over to the British victors. Brigadier-General Whitmore 

was appointed the new Governor of Louisbourg, and remained 

there with four regiments.  

Aftermath 

Louisbourg had held out long enough to prevent an attack on 

Quebec in 1758. However the fall of the fortress led to the loss 

of French territory across Atlantic Canada. From Louisbourg, 

British forces spent the remainder of the year routing French 

forces and occupying French settlements in what is today New 

Brunswick, Prince Edward Island and Newfoundland. The 

second wave of the Acadian expulsion began. The British 

engaged in the St. John River Campaign, the Cape Sable 

Campaign, the Petitcodiac River Campaign, the Ile Saint-Jean 

Campaign, and the removal of Acadians in the Gulf of St. 

Lawrence Campaign (1758).  

The loss of Louisbourg deprived New France of naval 

protection, opening the Saint Lawrence to attack. Louisbourg 

was used in 1759 as the staging point for General Wolfe's 

famous siege of Quebec ending French rule in North America. 

Following the surrender of Quebec, British forces and 
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engineers set about methodically destroying the fortress with 

explosives, ensuring that it could not return to French 

possession a second time in any eventual peace treaty. By 

1760, the entire fortress was reduced to mounds of rubble. In 

1763 the Treaty of Paris saw France formally cede Canada, 

including Cape Breton Island, to the British. In 1768 the last 

of the British garrison departed along with most of the 

remaining civilian inhabitants.  

  



Chapter 40 

Battle of Fort Frontenac, Battle of 

Fort Duquesne and Baptists 

Battle of Fort Frontenac 

The Battle of Fort Frontenac took place on August 26–28, 1758 

during the Seven Years' War (referred to as the French and 

Indian War in the United States) between France and Great 

Britain. The location of the battle was Fort Frontenac, a 

French fort and trading post which is located at the site of 

present-day Kingston, Ontario, at the eastern end of Lake 

Ontario where it drains into the St. Lawrence River.  

British Lieutenant Colonel John Bradstreet led an army of over 

3,000 men, of whom about 150 were regulars and the 

remainder were provincial militia. The army besieged the 110 

people inside the fort and won their surrender two days later, 

cutting one of the two major communication and supply lines 

between the major eastern centres of Montreal and Quebec City 

and France's western territories (the northern route, along the 

Ottawa River, remained open throughout the war). The British 

captured goods worth 800,000 livres from the trading post.  

Background 

• The British military campaigns for the North

American theatre of the Seven Years' War in 1758

contained three primary objectives. Two of these
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objectives, captures of Fort Louisbourgand Fort 

Duquesne met with success. The third campaign, an 

expedition involving 16,000 men under the command 

of General James Abercrombie, was disastrously 

defeated on July 8, 1758, by a much smaller French 

force when it attempted the capture of Fort Carillon 

(known today as Fort Ticonderoga). Following that 

failure, many of Abercrombie's underlings sought to 

distance themselves from any responsibility for the 

disaster. 

Lieutenant Colonel John Bradstreet renewed an earlier 

proposal to capture Fort Frontenac, a French fort and trading 

post on the northern shore of Lake Ontario near where it 

empties into the St. Lawrence River.  

Abercrombie, who had first rejected the idea, citing the need 

for troops to attack Carillon, approved Bradstreet's plan to 

move up the Mohawk River valley to the site of Fort Oswego 

(captured and burned by the French in 1756), and then cross 

the lake to assault Frontenac.  

The British considered Fort Frontenac to be a strategic threat 

since it was in a position to command transportation and 

communications to other French fortifications and outposts 

along the St. Lawrence – Great Lakes water route and in the 

Ohio Valley. Although not as important as it once was, the fort 

was still a base from which the western outposts were 

supplied. The British reasoned that if they were to disable the 

fort, supplies would be cut off and the outposts would no 

longer be able to defend themselves. The Indian trade in the 

upper country (the Pays d'en Haut) would also be disrupted.  
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Fort Frontenac was also regarded as a threat to Fort Oswego, 

which was built by the British across the lake from Fort 

Frontenac in 1722 to compete with Fort Frontenac for the 

Indian trade, and later enhanced as a military establishment. 

General Montcalm had already used Fort Frontenac as a 

staging point to attack the fortifications at Oswego in August 

1756. The British also hoped that taking the well-known fort 

would boost troop morale and honour after their demoralizing 

battle defeat at Fort Ticonderoga (Fort Carillon) in July 1758.  

Bradstreet assembled an army at Schenectady consisting of 

just 135 regular army troops and about 3,500 militia, drawn 

from the provinces of New York, Massachusetts, New Jersey, 

and Rhode Island. By the time his army reached the ruins of 

Fort Oswego on August 21, Bradstreet had lost 600 men, 

primarily to desertion. The trek met with minimal opposition 

from French and Indian raiding parties, but the route to 

Oswego, which had been virtually unused since 1756, was 

overgrown, and some of the waterways had silted up, causing 

heavily laden bateaux to ground in the shallow waters. 

Bradstreet's flotilla of bateaux crossed Lake Ontario, landing 

without opposition about one mile (1.6 km) from Fort 

Frontenac on August 25.  

Fort Frontenac was an important trading center for Indian and 

French fur traders. The trade through the site was so 

successful that some Indians preferred to trade with the 

French there rather than the British outpost at Albany, New 

York, which provided more ready access to inexpensive British 

goods. The fortification, a crumbling limestone construction, 

was only minimally garrisoned, with about 100 French troops 

along with some militia and Indians under the command of 
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Pierre-Jacques Payen de Noyan et de Chavoy, an elderly 

veteran of King George's War. While the fort was normally 

garrisoned by a larger force, the limited means available for 

the defense of New France had forced French military leaders 

to reduce its size for the defense of other parts of Canada. 

Noyan was alerted to the expedition's advance when Indian 

scouts took some prisoners, and authorities in Montreal 

organized reinforcements. However, these forces would not 

arrive before the British.  

Battle 

The night after landing, Bradstreet's men established gun 

batteries and began to dig trenches toward the old fort. They 

also attempted, without success to board two of the French 

ships anchored before the fort. On the morning of August 26, 

the British guns opened fire. The French garrison returned fire 

with cannons and muskets, but made little impression on the 

British. The two sides continued to exchange fire on the 27th, 

with the British establishing gun batteries northwest of the 

fort, about 200 yards (180 m) from the fort. On the morning of 

the 28th, two French ships attempted to escape the harbor, 

but ran aground after persistent British fire against them. 

Following a brief council of war, Noyan raised the white flag.  

Aftermath 

With the capture of Frontenac, the British intercepted 

significant supplies destined for French forts in the Ohio 

Country. More than 60 cannons (some of them British cannons 

the French had captured at Fort Oswego) were found, as were 
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hundreds of barrels of provisions. To the many provincials in 

Bradstreet's army, the biggest prizes were bales of furs 

destined for shipment downstream to Montreal. In all, the 

value of the captured goods was estimated to be 800,000 

French livres. Since Bradstreet's orders were not to hold the 

fort but to destroy it, many of the provisions were burned 

before the army returned to Oswego, using some of the 

captured French ships to help carry the loot. Bradstreet 

released the French prisoners after Noyan promised to gain the 

release of an equal number of British prisoners, and the 

French began to make their way back to Montreal. They were 

met by the relief force from Montreal. The French established 

Fort de La Présentation (at present-day Ogdensburg, New York) 

as a base for supply and defense. Fort Frontenac was again 

lightly garrisoned in 1759, but was no longer a site of 

importance in the war, which ended with the fall of Montreal in 

September 1760.  

New France's governor, the Marquis de Vaudreuil, took full 

responsibility for the French loss, as he had believed that the 

British "would not dare to enter [Lake Ontario] on which [the 

French] had vessels." He did however force Noyan into 

retirement. Noyan returned to France, where he spent some 

time in the Bastille on charges that he misappropriated public 

funds, and was eventually fined six livres.  

Battle of Fort Duquesne 

The Battle of Fort Duquesne was British assault on the 

eponymous French fort (later the site of Pittsburgh) that was 

repulsed with heavy losses on 14 September 1758, during the 

French and Indian War.  
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The attack on Fort Duquesne was part of a large-scale British 

expedition with 6,000 troops led by General John Forbes to 

drive the French out of the contested Ohio Country (the upper 

Ohio River Valley) and clear the way for an invasion of Canada. 

Forbes ordered Major James Grant of the 77th Regiment to 

reconnoiter the area with 850 men. Grant, apparently on his 

own initiative, proceeded to attack the French position using 

traditional European military tactics. His force was out-

maneuvered, surrounded, and largely destroyed by the French 

and their native allies led by François-Marie Le Marchand de 

Lignery. Major Grant was taken prisoner and the British 

survivors retreated fitfully to Fort Ligonier.  

After repulsing this advance party the French, deserted by 

some of their native allies and vastly outnumbered by the 

approaching Forbes, blew up their magazines and burnt Fort 

Duquesne. In November the French withdrew from the Ohio 

Valley and British colonists erected Fort Pitt on the site.  

Forbes commanded between 5,000 and 7,000 men, including a 

contingent of Virginians led by George Washington. Forbes, 

very ill, did not keep up with the advance of his army, but 

entrusted it to his second in command, Lt. Col. Henry 

Bouquet, a Swiss officer commanding a battalion of the Royal 

American Regiment. Bouquet sanctioned a reconnaissance of 

Fort Duquesne by Major James Grant of Ballindalloch.  

Fort Duquesne 

On September 11, 1758, Grant led over 800 men to scout the 

environs of Fort Duquesne ahead of Forbes' main column. 

Bouquet believed the fort to be held by 500 French and 300 
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Indians, a force too strong to be attacked by Grant's 

detachment. Grant, who arrived in the vicinity of the fort on 

September 13, believed there were only 200 enemy within the 

fort, and sent a small party of 50 men forward to scout. These 

saw no enemy outside the fort; they burned a storehouse and 

returned to Grant's main position, two miles (3 km) from the 

fort.  

The next morning, Grant divided his force into several parts. A 

company of the 77th, under a Capt. McDonald, approached the 

fort with drums beating and pipes playing as a decoy. A force 

of 400 men lay in wait to ambush the enemy when they went 

out to attack McDonald, and several hundred more under the 

Virginian Maj. Andrew Lewis were concealed near the force's 

baggage train in the hope of surprising an enemy attack there 

...  

The French and Indian force was in fact much larger than 

anticipated, and moved swiftly. They overwhelmed McDonald's 

decoy force and overran the party that had been meant to 

ambush them. Lewis's force left its ambush positions and went 

to the aid of the rest of the force but the French and Indians 

had by then gained a point of high ground above them and 

forced them to retire.  

The Indians used the forest to their advantage; "concealed by a 

thick foliage, their heavy and destructive fire could not be 

returned with any effect". In the one-sided battle in the woods, 

the British and American force suffered 342 casualties, of 

whom 232 were from the 77th Regiment, including Grant, who 

was taken prisoner. Out of the eight officers in Andrew Lewis's 

Virginian contingent, 5 were killed, 1 was wounded and Lewis 
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himself was captured. Nevertheless, most of Grant's force 

escaped to rejoin the main army under Forbes and Bouquet. 

The Franco-Indian force suffered only 8 killed and 8 wounded.  

James Smith wrote "Notwithstanding their (the Indians') 

vigilance, Colonel Grant, with his Highlanders, stole a march 

upon them, and in the night took possession of a hill about 

eighty rod from Fort Du Quesne; this hill is on that account 

called Grant's Hill to this day. The French and Indians knew 

not that Grant and his men were there until they beat the 

drum and played upon the bagpipes, just at daylight. They 

then flew to arms, and the Indians ran up under cover of the 

banks of Allegheny and Monongahela, for some distance, and 

then sallied out from the banks of the rivers, and took 

possession of the hill above Grant; and as he was on the point 

of it in sight of the fort, they immediately surrounded him, and 

as he had his Highlanders in ranks, and in very close order, 

and the Indians scattered, and concealed behind trees, they 

defeated him with the loss only of a few warriors; most of the 

Highlanders were killed or taken prisoners."  

A plaque on the Allegheny County Courthouse, erected in 1901 

commemorates the site of the battle, and the hill where the 

battle was fought is today called Grant Street, in Pittsburgh.  

French retreat 

Though the French had beaten off the initial British attack, 

Lignery understood that his force of about 600 could not hold 

Fort Duquesne against the main British force of more than ten 

times that number. The French continued to occupy Fort 

Duquesne until November 26, when the garrison set fire to the 
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fort and left under the cover of darkness. As the British 

marched up to the smoldering remains, they were confronted 

with an appalling sight. The Indians had decapitated many of 

the dead Highlanders and impaled their heads on the sharp 

stakes on top of the fort walls, with their kilts displayed below. 

The British and Americans rebuilt Fort Duquesne, naming it 

Fort Pitt after the British prime minister William Pitt, who had 

ordered the capture of that strategic location.  

Baptists 

Baptists form a major branch of Protestant Christianity 

distinguished by baptizing professing Christian believers only 

(believer's baptism, as opposed to infant baptism), and doing 

so by complete immersion (as opposed to affusion or 

aspersion). Baptist churches also generally subscribe to the 

doctrines of soul competency (the responsibility and 

accountability of every person before God), sola fide (salvation 

by faith alone), sola scriptura (scripture alone as the rule of 

faith and practice) and congregationalist church government. 

Baptists generally recognize two ordinances: baptism and 

communion.  

Diverse from their beginning, those identifying as Baptists 

today differ widely from one another in what they believe, how 

they worship, their attitudes toward other Christians, and 

their understanding of what is important in Christian 

discipleship.  

Historians trace the earliest "Baptist" church to 1609 in 

Amsterdam, Dutch Republic with English Separatist John 

Smyth as its pastor. In accordance with his reading of the New 
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Testament, he rejected baptism of infants and instituted 

baptism only of believing adults. Baptist practice spread to 

England, where the General Baptists considered Christ's 

atonement to extend to all people, while the Particular Baptists 

believed that it extended only to the elect. Thomas Helwys 

formulated a distinctively Baptist request that the church and 

the state be kept separate in matters of law, so that 

individuals might have freedom of religion. Helwys died in 

prison as a consequence of the religious conflict with English 

dissenters under James I. In 1638, Roger Williams established 

the first Baptist congregation in the North American colonies. 

In the 18th and 19th centuries, the First and Second Great 

Awakening increased church membership in the United States. 

Baptist missionaries have spread their faith to every continent.  

Origins 

Baptist historian Bruce Gourley outlines four main views of 

Baptist origins:  

• the modern scholarly consensus that the movement 

traces its origin to the 17th century via the English 

Separatists, 

• the view that it was an outgrowth of the Anabaptist 

movement of believers baptism begun in 1525 on the 

European continent, 

• the perpetuity view which assumes that the Baptist 

faith and practice has existed since the time of 

Christ, and 

• thesuccessionist view, or "Baptist successionism", 

which argues that Baptist churches actually existed 

in an unbroken chain since the time of Christ. 
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English separatist view 

Modern Baptist churches trace their history to the English 

Separatist movement in the 1600s, the century after the rise of 

the original Protestant denominations. This view of Baptist 

origins has the most historical support and is the most widely 

accepted. Adherents to this position consider the influence of 

Anabaptists upon early Baptists to be minimal. It was a time of 

considerable political and religious turmoil. Both individuals 

and churches were willing to give up their theological roots if 

they became convinced that a more biblical "truth" had been 

discovered.  

During the Protestant Reformation, the Church of England 

(Anglicans) separated from the Roman Catholic Church. There 

were some Christians who were not content with the 

achievements of the mainstream Protestant Reformation. There 

also were Christians who were disappointed that the Church of 

England had not made corrections of what some considered to 

be errors and abuses. Of those most critical of the Church's 

direction, some chose to stay and try to make constructive 

changes from within the Anglican Church. They became known 

as "Puritans" and are described by Gourley as cousins of the 

English Separatists. Others decided they must leave the 

Church because of their dissatisfaction and became known as 

the Separatists.  

In 1579, Faustus Socinus founded the Unitarians in Poland, 

which was a tolerant country. The Unitarians taught baptism 

by immersion. When Poland ceased to be tolerant, they fled to 

Holland. In Holland, the Unitarians introduced immersion 

baptism to the Dutch Mennonites.  
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Historians trace the earliest Baptist church back to 1609 in 

Amsterdam, with John Smyth as its pastor. Three years earlier, 

while a Fellow of Christ's College, Cambridge, he had broken 

his ties with the Church of England. Reared in the Church of 

England, he became "Puritan, English Separatist, and then a 

Baptist Separatist," and ended his days working with the 

Mennonites. He began meeting in England with 60–70 English 

Separatists, in the face of "great danger." The persecution of 

religious nonconformists in England led Smyth to go into exile 

in Amsterdam with fellow Separatists from the congregation he 

had gathered in Lincolnshire, separate from the established 

church (Anglican). Smyth and his lay supporter, Thomas 

Helwys, together with those they led, broke with the other 

English exiles because Smyth and Helwys were convinced they 

should be baptized as believers. In 1609 Smyth first baptized 

himself and then baptized the others.  

In 1609, while still there, Smyth wrote a tract titled "The 

Character of the Beast," or "The False Constitution of the 

Church." In it he expressed two propositions: first, infants are 

not to be baptized; and second, "Antichristians converted are 

to be admitted into the true Church by baptism." Hence, his 

conviction was that a scriptural church should consist only of 

regenerate believers who have been baptized on a personal 

confession of faith. He rejected the Separatist movement's 

doctrine of infant baptism (paedobaptism). Shortly thereafter, 

Smyth left the group, and layman Thomas Helwys took over the 

leadership, leading the church back to England in 1611. 

Ultimately, Smyth became committed to believers' baptism as 

the only biblical baptism. He was convinced on the basis of his 

interpretation of Scripture that infants would not be damned 

should they die in infancy.  
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Smyth, convinced that his self-baptism was invalid, applied 

with the Mennonites for membership. He died while waiting for 

membership, and some of his followers became Mennonites. 

Thomas Helwys and others kept their baptism and their 

Baptist commitments.  

The modern Baptist denomination is an outgrowth of Smyth's 

movement. Baptists rejected the name Anabaptist when they 

were called that by opponents in derision. McBeth writes that 

as late as the 18th century, many Baptists referred to 

themselves as "the Christians commonly—though falsely—

called Anabaptists."  

Another milestone in the early development of Baptist doctrine 

was in 1638 with John Spilsbury, a Calvinistic minister who 

helped to promote the strict practice of believer's baptism by 

immersion.  

According to Tom Nettles, professor of historical theology at 

Southern Baptist Theological Seminary, "Spilsbury's cogent 

arguments for a gathered, disciplined congregation of believers 

baptized by immersion as constituting the New Testament 

church gave expression to and built on insights that had 

emerged within separatism, advanced in the life of John Smyth 

and the suffering congregation of Thomas Helwys, and matured 

in Particular Baptists."  

Anabaptist influence view 

A minority view is that early-17th-century Baptists were 

influenced by (but not directly connected to) continental 

Anabaptists. According to this view, the General Baptists 

shared similarities with Dutch Waterlander Mennonites (one of 
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many Anabaptist groups) including believer's baptism only, 

religious liberty, separation of church and state, and Arminian 

views of salvation, predestination and original sin. 

Representative writers including A.C. Underwood and William 

R. Estep. Gourley wrote that among some contemporary Baptist 

scholars who emphasize the faith of the community over soul 

liberty, the Anabaptist influence theory is making a comeback.  

However, the relations between Baptists and Anabaptists were 

early strained. In 1624, the then five existing Baptist churches 

of London issued a condemnation of the Anabaptists. 

Furthermore, the original group associated with Smyth and 

popularly believed to be the first Baptists broke with the 

Waterlander Mennonite Anabaptists after a brief period of 

association in the Netherlands.  

Perpetuity and succession view 

Traditional Baptist historians write from the perspective that 

Baptists had existed since the time of Christ. Proponents of the 

Baptist successionist or perpetuity view consider the Baptist 

movement to have existed independently from Roman 

Catholicism and prior to the Protestant Reformation.  

The perpetuity view is often identified with The Trail of Blood, a 

booklet of five lectures by J.M. Carrol published in 1931. Other 

Baptist writers who advocate the successionist theory of 

Baptist origins are John T. Christian, Thomas Crosby, G. H. 

Orchard, J. M. Cramp, William Cathcart, Adam Taylor and D. 

B. Ray This view was also held by English Baptist preacher, 

Charles Spurgeon as well as Jesse Mercer, the namesake of 

Mercer University.  
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In 1898 William Whitsitt was pressured to resign his 

presidency of the Southern Baptist Theological Seminary for 

denying Baptist successionism 

Baptist origins in the United Kingdom 

In 1612, Thomas Helwys established a Baptist congregation in 

London, consisting of congregants from Smyth's church. A 

number of other Baptist churches sprang up, and they became 

known as the General Baptists. The Particular Baptists were 

established when a group of Calvinist Separatists adopted 

believers' Baptism. The Particular Baptists consisted of seven 

churches by 1644 and had created a confession of faith called 

the First London Confession of Faith.  

Baptist origins in North America 

Both Roger Williams and John Clarke, his compatriot and 

coworker for religious freedom, are variously credited as 

founding the earliest Baptist church in North America. In 

1639, Williams established a Baptist church in Providence, 

Rhode Island, and Clarke began a Baptist church in Newport, 

Rhode Island. According to a Baptist historian who has 

researched the matter extensively, "There is much debate over 

the centuries as to whether the Providence or Newport church 

deserved the place of 'first' Baptist congregation in America. 

Exact records for both congregations are lacking."  

The Great Awakening energized the Baptist movement, and the 

Baptist community experienced spectacular growth. Baptists 

became the largest Christian community in many southern 

states, including among the enslaved Black population.  
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Baptist missionary work in Canada began in the British colony 

of Nova Scotia (present day Nova Scotia and New Brunswick) in 

the 1760s. The first official record of a Baptist church in 

Canada was that of the Horton Baptist Church (now Wolfville) 

in Wolfville, Nova Scotia on 29 October 1778.  

The church was established with the assistance of the New 

Light evangelist Henry Alline. Many of Alline's followers, after 

his death, would convert and strengthen the Baptist presence 

in the Atlantic region. Two major groups of Baptists formed the 

basis of the churches in the Maritimes. These were referred to 

as Regular Baptist (Calvinistic in their doctrine) and Free Will 

Baptists (Arminian in their doctrine).  

In May 1845, the Baptist congregations in the United States 

split over slavery and missions. The Home Mission Society 

prevented slaveholders from being appointed as missionaries. 

The split created the Southern Baptist Convention, while the 

northern congregations formed their own umbrella organization 

now called the American Baptist Churches USA (ABC-USA). The 

Methodist Episcopal Church, South had recently separated 

over the issue of slavery, and southern Presbyterians would do 

so shortly thereafter.  

Baptist origins in Ukraine 

The Baptist churches in Ukraine were preceded by the German 

Anabaptist and Mennonite communities, who had been living 

in the south of Ukraine since the 16th century, and who 

practiced adult believers baptism. The first Baptist baptism 

(adult baptism by full immersion) in Ukraine took place in 

1864 on the river Inhul in the Yelizavetgrad region (now 
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Kropyvnytskyi region), in a German settlement. In 1867, the 

first Baptist communities were organized in that area. From 

there, the Baptist movement spread across the south of 

Ukraine and then to other regions as well. One of the first 

Baptist communities was registered in Kyiv in 1907, and in 

1908 the First All-Russian Convention of Baptists was held 

there, as Ukraine was still controlled by the Russian Empire.  

The All-Russian Union of Baptists was established in the town 

of Yekaterinoslav (now Dnipro) in Southern Ukraine. At the end 

of the 19th century, estimates are that there were between 

100,000 and 300,000 Baptists in Ukraine.  

An independent All-Ukrainian Baptist Union of Ukraine was 

established during the brief period of Ukraine's independence 

in early 20th-century, and once again after the fall of the 

Soviet Union, the largest of which is currently known as the 

Evangelical Baptist Union of Ukraine.  

Baptist affiliations 

Many Baptist churches choose to affiliate with organizational 

groups that provide fellowship without control. The largest 

such group in the US is the Southern Baptist Convention. 

There also are a substantial number of smaller cooperative 

groups. Finally, there are Independent Baptist churches that 

choose to remain independent of any denomination, 

organization, or association. It has been suggested that a 

primary Baptist principle is that local Baptist Churches are 

independent and self-governing, and if so the term 'Baptist 

denomination' may be considered somewhat incongruous.  
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In 1905, Baptists worldwide formed the Baptist World Alliance 

(BWA). The BWA's goals include caring for the needy, leading 

in world evangelism and defending human rights and religious 

freedom.  

Membership 

Statistics 

In 2010, 100 million Christians identify themselves as Baptist 

or belong to Baptist-type churches. According to a 

denomination census released in 2020, it has 241 Baptist 

denominations members in 126 countries, 169,000 churches 

and 47,000,000 baptized members. In 2020, according to the 

researcher SébastienFath of the CNRS, the movement would 

have around 170 million believers in the world.  

Among the censuses carried out by the Baptist denominations 

in 2020, those which claimed the most members were on each 

continent:  

In Africa, the Nigerian Baptist Convention with 13,654 

churches and 8,000,637 members, the Baptist Convention of 

Tanzania with 1,300 churches and 2,660,000 members, the 

Baptist Community of the Congo River with 2,668 churches 

and 1,760,634 members.  

In North America, the Southern Baptist Convention with 

47,530 churches and 14,525,579 members, the National 

Baptist Convention, USA with 21,145 churches and 8,415,100 

members.  
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In South America, the Brazilian Baptist Convention with 9,018 

churches and 1,790,227 members, the Evangelical Baptist 

Convention of Argentina with 670 churches and 85,000 

members.  

In Asia, the Myanmar Baptist Convention with 5,319 churches 

and 1,710,441 members, the Nagaland Baptist Church Council 

with 1,615 churches and 610,825 members, the Convention of 

Philippine Baptist Churches with 2,668 churches and 600,000 

members.  

In Europe, the All-Ukrainian Union of Churches of Evangelical 

Christian Baptists with 2,272 churches and 113,000 members, 

the Baptist Union of Great Britain with 1,895 churches and 

111, 208 members, the Union of Evangelical Free Churches in 

Germany with 801 churches and 80,195 members.  

In Oceania, the Baptist Union of Papua New Guinea with 489 

churches and 84,000 members, the Australian Baptist 

Ministries with 1,021 churches and 76,046 members.  

Qualification for membership 

Membership policies vary due to the autonomy of churches, 

but the traditional method by which an individual becomes a 

member of a church is through believer's baptism (which is a 

public profession of faith in Jesus, followed by water baptism).  

Most baptists do not believe that baptism is a requirement for 

salvation, but rather a public expression of one's inner 

repentance and faith. Therefore, some churches will admit into 

membership persons who make a profession without believer's 

baptism.  
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In general, Baptist churches do not have a stated age 

restriction on membership, but believer's baptism requires that 

an individual be able to freely and earnestly profess their faith. 

(See Age of Accountability)  

Baptist beliefs and principles 

Baptists, like other Christians, are defined by school of 

thought—some of it common to all orthodox and evangelical 

groups and a portion of it distinctive to Baptists. Through the 

years, different Baptist groups have issued confessions of 

faith—without considering them to be creeds—to express their 

particular doctrinal distinctions in comparison to other 

Christians as well as in comparison to other Baptists. Baptist 

denominations are traditionally seen as belonging to two 

parties, General Baptists who uphold Arminian theology and 

Particular Baptists who uphold Reformed theology. During the 

holiness movement, some General Baptists accepted the 

teaching of a second work of grace and formed denominations 

that emphasized this belief, such as the Ohio Valley 

Association of the Christian Baptist Churches of God and the 

Holiness Baptist Association. Most Baptists are evangelical in 

doctrine, but Baptist beliefs can vary due to the congregational 

governance system that gives autonomy to individual local 

Baptist churches. Historically, Baptists have played a key role 

in encouraging religious freedom and separation of church and 

state. 

Many churches are also affiliated with Baptist Christian 

denominations and adhere to a common confession of faith and 

shared bylaws.  
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Shared doctrines would include beliefs about one God; the 

virgin birth; miracles; atonement for sins through the death, 

burial, and bodily resurrection of Jesus; the Trinity; the need 

for salvation (through belief in Jesus Christ as the Son of God, 

his death and resurrection); grace; the Kingdom of God; last 

things (eschatology) (Jesus Christ will return personally and 

visibly in glory to the earth, the dead will be raised, and Christ 

will judge everyone in righteousness); and evangelism and 

missions. Some historically significant Baptist doctrinal 

documents include the 1689 London Baptist Confession of 

Faith, 1742 Philadelphia Baptist Confession, the 1833 New 

Hampshire Baptist Confession of Faith, the Southern Baptist 

Convention's Baptist Faith and Message, and written church 

covenants which some individual Baptist churches adopt as a 

statement of their faith and beliefs.  

Most Baptists hold that no church or ecclesiastical 

organization has inherent authority over a Baptist church. 

Churches can properly relate to each other under this polity 

only through voluntary cooperation, never by any sort of 

coercion. Furthermore, this Baptist polity calls for freedom 

from governmental control.  

Exceptions to this local form of local governance include a few 

churches that submit to the leadership of a body of elders, as 

well as the Episcopal Baptists that have an Episcopal system.  

Baptists generally believe in the literal Second Coming of 

Christ. Beliefs among Baptists regarding the "end times" 

include amillennialism, dispensationalism, and historic 

premillennialism, with views such as postmillennialism and 

preterism receiving some support.  
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Some additional distinctive Baptist principles held by many 

Baptists:  

• The supremacy of the canonical Scriptures as a norm 

of faith and practice. For something to become a 

matter of faith and practice, it is not sufficient for it 

to be merely consistent with and not contrary to 

scriptural principles. It must be something explicitly 

ordained through command or example in the Bible. 

For instance, this is why Baptists do not practice 

infant baptism—they say the Bible neither 

commands nor exemplifies infant baptism as a 

Christian practice. More than any other Baptist 

principle, this one when applied to infant baptism is 

said to separate Baptists from other evangelical 

Christians. 

• Baptists believe that faith is a matter between God 

and the individual (religious freedom). To them it 

means the advocacy of absolute liberty of conscience. 

• Insistence on immersion as the only mode of 

baptism. Baptists do not believe that baptism is 

necessary for salvation. Therefore, for Baptists, 

baptism is an ordinance, not a sacrament, since, in 

their view, it imparts no saving grace. 

Beliefs that vary among Baptists 

Since there is no hierarchical authority and each Baptist 

church is autonomous, there is no official set of Baptist 

theological beliefs. These differences exist both among 

associations, and even among churches within the 

associations.  
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Some doctrinal issues on which there is widespread difference 

among Baptists are:  

• Eschatology 

• Arminianism versus Calvinism (General Baptists 

uphold Arminian theology while Particular Baptists 

teach Reformed theology). 

• The doctrine of separation from "the world" and 

whether to associate with those who are "of the 

world" 

• Belief in a second work of grace, i.e. entire 

sanctification (held by General Baptists in the 

Holiness tradition) 

• Speaking-in-tongues and the operation of other 

charismatic gifts of the Holy Spirit in the 

charismatic churches 

• How the Bible should be interpreted (hermeneutics) 

• The extent to which missionary boards should be 

used to support missionaries 

• The extent to which non-members may participate in 

the Lord's Supper services 

• Which translation of Scripture to use (see King-

James-Only movement in the English-speaking 

world) 

• Dispensationalism versus Covenant theology 

• The role of women in marriage. 

• The ordination of women as deacons or pastors. 

• Affirmation of LGBT people 

• Attitudes to, and involvement in the ecumenical 

movement. 
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Worship 

In Baptist churches, worship service is part of the life of the 

Church and includes praise (Christian music), worship, of 

prayers to God, a sermon based on Bible, offering, and 

periodically the Lord's Supper. In many churches, there are 

services adapted for children, even teenagers. Prayer meetings 

are also held during the week.  

Places of worship 

The architecture is sober and the latin cross is one of the only 

spiritual symbols that can usually be seen on the building of a 

Baptist church and that identifies the place where it belongs.  

Education 

Baptist churches established elementary and secondary 

schools, bible colleges, colleges and universities as early as the 

1680s in England, before continuing in various countries.  

Sexuality 

In matters of sexuality, several Baptist churches are promoting 

the virginity pledge to young Baptist Christians, who are 

invited to engage in a public ceremony at sexual abstinence 

until Christian marriage. This pact is often symbolized by a 

purity ring. Programs like True Love Waits, founded in 1993 by 

the Southern Baptist Convention have been developed to 
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support the commitments. In some Baptist churches, young 

adults and unmarried couples are encouraged to marry early in 

order to live a sexuality according to the will of God. Some 

books are specialized on the subject, such as the book The Act 

of Marriage: The Beauty of Sexual Love published in 1976 by 

Baptist pastor Tim LaHaye and his wife Beverly LaHaye who 

was a pioneer in the teaching of Christian sexuality as a gift 

from God and part of a flourishing Christian marriage.  

Controversies that have shaped 

Baptists 

Baptists have faced many controversies in their 400-year 

history, controversies of the level of crises. Baptist historian 

Walter Shurden says the word "crisis" comes from the Greek 

word meaning "to decide." Shurden writes that contrary to the 

presumed negative view of crises, some controversies that 

reach a crisis level may actually be "positive and highly 

productive." He claims that even schism, though never ideal, 

has often produced positive results. In his opinion crises 

among Baptists each have become decision-moments that 

shaped their future. Some controversies that have shaped 

Baptists include the "missions crisis", the "slavery crisis", the 

"landmark crisis", and the "modernist crisis".  

Missions crisis 

Early in the 19th century, the rise of the modern missions 

movement, and the backlash against it, led to widespread and 

bitter controversy among the American Baptists. During this 

era, the American Baptists were split between missionary and 
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anti-missionary. A substantial secession of Baptists went into 

the movement led by Alexander Campbell, to return to a more 

fundamental church.  

Slavery crisis 

United States 

Leading up to the American Civil War, Baptists became 

embroiled in the controversy over slavery in the United States. 

Whereas in the First Great Awakening Methodist and Baptist 

preachers had opposed slavery and urged manumission, over 

the decades they made more of an accommodation with the 

institution. They worked with slaveholders in the South to urge 

a paternalistic institution. Both denominations made direct 

appeals to slaves and free Blacks for conversion. The Baptists 

particularly allowed them active roles in congregations. By the 

mid-19th century, northern Baptists tended to oppose slavery. 

As tensions increased, in 1844 the Home Mission Society 

refused to appoint a slaveholder as a missionary who had been 

proposed by Georgia. It noted that missionaries could not take 

servants with them, and also that the board did not want to 

appear to condone slavery.  

The Southern Baptist Convention was formed by nine state 

conventions in 1845. They believed that the Bible sanctions 

slavery and that it was acceptable for Christians to own slaves. 

They believed slavery was a human institution which Baptist 

teaching could make less harsh. By this time many planters 

were part of Baptist congregations, and some of the 

denomination's prominent preachers, such as the Rev. Basil 
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Manly, Sr., president of the University of Alabama, were also 

planters who owned slaves.  

As early as the late 18th century, Black Baptists began to 

organize separate churches, associations and mission agencies. 

Blacks set up some independent Baptist congregations in the 

South before the American Civil War. White Baptist 

associations maintained some oversight of these churches.  

In the postwar years, freedmen quickly left the white 

congregations and associations, setting up their own churches. 

In 1866 the Consolidated American Baptist Convention, formed 

from Black Baptists of the South and West, helped southern 

associations set up Black state conventions, which they did in 

Alabama, Arkansas, Virginia, North Carolina, and Kentucky. In 

1880 Black state conventions united in the national Foreign 

Mission Convention, to support Black Baptist missionary work. 

Two other national Black conventions were formed, and in 

1895 they united as the National Baptist Convention. This 

organization later went through its own changes, spinning off 

other conventions. It is the largest Black religious organization 

and the second-largest Baptist organization in the world. 

Baptists are numerically most dominant in the Southeast. In 

2007, the Pew Research Center's Religious Landscape Survey 

found that 45% of all African Americans identify with Baptist 

denominations, with the vast majority of those being within the 

historically Black tradition.  

Caribbean islands 

A healthy Church kills error, and tears evil in pieces! Not so 

very long ago our nation tolerated slavery in our colonies. 
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Philanthropists endeavored to destroy slavery, but when was it 

utterly abolished? It was when Wilberforce roused the Church 

of God, and when the Church of God addressed herself to the 

conflict—then she tore the evil thing to pieces! -- C.H. 

Spurgeon an outspoken British Baptist opponent of slavery in 

'The Best War Cry' (1883) 

Elsewhere in the Americas, in the Caribbean in particular, 

Baptist missionaries and members took an active role in the 

anti-slavery movement. In Jamaica, for example, William 

Knibb, a prominent British Baptist missionary, worked toward 

the emancipation of slaves in the British West Indies (which 

took place in full in 1838). Knibb also supported the creation 

of "Free Villages" and sought funding from English Baptists to 

buy land for freedmen to cultivate; the Free Villages were 

envisioned as rural communities to be centredaround a Baptist 

church where emancipated slaves could farm their own land. 

Thomas Burchell, missionary minister in Montego Bay, also 

was active in this movement, gaining funds from Baptists in 

England to buy land for what became known as Burchell Free 

Village.  

Prior to emancipation, Baptist deacon Samuel Sharpe, who 

served with Burchell, organized a general strike of slaves 

seeking better conditions. It developed into a major rebellion of 

as many as 60,000 slaves, which became known as the 

Christmas Rebellion (when it took place) or the Baptist War. It 

was put down by government troops within two weeks. During 

and after the rebellion, an estimated 200 slaves were killed 

outright, with more than 300 judicially executed later by 

prosecution in the courts, sometimes for minor offenses.  



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 5 

1015 

Baptists were active after emancipation in promoting the 

education of former slaves; for example, Jamaica's Calabar 

High School, named after the port of Calabar in Nigeria, was 

founded by Baptist missionaries. At the same time, during and 

after slavery, slaves and free Blacks formed their own Spiritual 

Baptist movements - breakaway spiritual movements which 

theology often expressed resistance to oppression.  

Memory of slavery 

In the American South, the interpretation of the American Civil 

War, abolition of slavery and postwar period has differed 

sharply by race since those years. Americans have often 

interpreted great events in religious terms. Historian Wilson 

Fallin contrasts the interpretation of Civil War and 

Reconstruction in white versus Black memory by analyzing 

Baptist sermons documented in Alabama. Soon after the Civil 

War, most Black Baptists in the South left the Southern 

Baptist Convention, reducing its numbers by hundreds of 

thousands or more. They quickly organized their own 

congregations and developed their own regional and state 

associations and, by the end of the 19th century, a national 

convention.  

White preachers in Alabama after Reconstruction expressed the 

view that:  

God had chastised them and given them a special mission – to 

maintain orthodoxy, strict biblicism, personal piety, and 

"traditional" race relations. Slavery, they insisted, had not 

been sinful. Rather, emancipation was a historical tragedy and 

the end of Reconstruction was a clear sign of God's favor. 
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Black preachers interpreted the Civil War, Emancipation and 

Reconstruction as: "God's gift of freedom." They had a gospel of 

liberation, having long identified with the Book of Exodus from 

slavery in the Old Testament. They took opportunities to 

exercise their independence, to worship in their own way, to 

affirm their worth and dignity, and to proclaim the fatherhood 

of God and the brotherhood of man. Most of all, they quickly 

formed their own churches, associations, and conventions to 

operate freely without white supervision. These institutions 

offered self-help and racial uplift, a place to develop and use 

leadership, and places for proclamation of the gospel of 

liberation. As a result, Black preachers said that God would 

protect and help him and God's people; God would be their 

rock in a stormy land.  

The Southern Baptist Convention supported white supremacy 

and its results: disenfranchising most Blacks and many poor 

whites at the turn of the 20th century by raising barriers to 

voter registration, and passage of racial segregation laws that 

enforced the system of Jim Crow. Its members largely resisted 

the civil rights movement in the South, which sought to 

enforce their constitutional rights for public access and voting; 

and enforcement of midcentury federal civil rights laws.  

On 20 June 1995, the Southern Baptist Convention voted to 

adopt a resolution renouncing its racist principles and 

apologizing for its past defense of slavery. More than 20,000 

Southern Baptists registered for the meeting in Atlanta. The 

resolution declared that messengers, as SBC delegates are 

called, "unwaveringly denounce racism, in all its forms, as 

deplorable sin" and "lament and repudiate historic acts of evil 

such as slavery from which we continue to reap a bitter 
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harvest." It offered an apology to all African Americans for 

"condoning and/or perpetuating individual and systemic 

racism in our lifetime" and repentance for "racism of which we 

have been guilty, whether consciously or unconsciously." 

Although Southern Baptists have condemned racism in the 

past, this was the first time the convention, predominantly 

white since the Reconstruction era, had specifically addressed 

the issue of slavery.  

The statement sought forgiveness "from our African-American 

brothers and sisters" and pledged to "eradicate racism in all its 

forms from Southern Baptist life and ministry." In 1995 about 

500,000 members of the 15.6-million-member denomination 

were African Americans and another 300,000 were ethnic 

minorities. The resolution marked the denomination's first 

formal acknowledgment that racism played a role in its 

founding.  

Landmark crisis 

Southern Baptist Landmarkism sought to reset the 

ecclesiastical separation which had characterized the old 

Baptist churches, in an era when inter-denominational union 

meetings were the order of the day. James Robinson Graves 

was an influential Baptist of the 19th century and the primary 

leader of this movement. While some Landmarkers eventually 

separated from the Southern Baptist Convention, the 

movement continued to influence the Convention into the 20th 

and 21st centuries. For instance, in 2005, the Southern 

Baptist International Mission Board forbade its missionaries to 

receive alien immersions for baptism.  
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Modernist crisis 

The rise of theological modernism in the latter 19th and early 

20th centuries also greatly affected Baptists. The Landmark 

movement, already mentioned, has been described as a 

reaction among Southern Baptists in the United States against 

incipient modernism . In England, Charles Haddon Spurgeon 

fought against modernistic views of the Scripture in the 

Downgrade Controversy and severed his church from the 

Baptist Union as a result.  

The Northern Baptist Convention in the United States had 

internal conflict over modernism in the early 20th century, 

ultimately embracing it. Two new conservative associations of 

congregations that separated from the convention were founded 

as a result: the General Association of Regular Baptist 

Churches in 1933 and the Conservative Baptist Association of 

America in 1947.  

Following similar conflicts over modernism, the Southern 

Baptist Convention adhered to conservative theology as its 

official position. In the late 20th century, Southern Baptists 

who disagreed with this direction founded two new groups: the 

liberal Alliance of Baptists in 1987 and the more moderate 

Cooperative Baptist Fellowship in 1991. Originally both 

schisms continued to identify as Southern Baptist, but over 

time "became permanent new families of Baptists."  

In his 1963 book, Strength to Love, Baptist pastor Martin 

Luther King criticized some Baptist churches for their anti-

intellectualism, especially because of the lack of theological 

training among pastors.  
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In 2018, Baptist theologian Russell D. Moore criticized some 

American Baptist churches for their moralism emphasizing 

strongly the condemnation of certain personal sins, but silent 

on the social injustices that afflict entire populations, such as 

racism.  

  



Chapter 41 

Battle of the Plains of Abraham 

The Battle of the Plains of Abraham, also known as the Battle 

of Quebec (French: Bataille des Plaines d'Abraham, Première 

bataille de Québec), was a pivotal battle in the Seven Years' 

War (referred to as the French and Indian War to describe the 

North American theatre). The battle, which began on 13 

September 1759, was fought on a plateau by the British Army 

and Royal Navy against the French Army, just outside the walls 

of Quebec City on land that was originally owned by a farmer 

named Abraham Martin, hence the name of the battle. The 

battle involved fewer than 10,000 troops in total, but proved to 

be a deciding moment in the conflict between France and 

Britain over the fate of New France, influencing the later 

creation of Canada.  

The culmination of a three-month siege by the British, the 

battle lasted about an hour. British troops commanded by 

General James Wolfe successfully resisted the column advance 

of French troops and Canadian militia under General Louis-

Joseph, Marquis de Montcalm, employing new tactics that 

proved extremely effective against standard military formations 

used in most large European conflicts.  

Both generals were mortally wounded during the battle; Wolfe 

received three gunshot wounds that ended his life within 

minutes of the beginning of the engagement and Montcalm died 

the next morning after receiving a musket ball wound just 

below his ribs. In the wake of the battle, the French evacuated 

the city.  
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The French forces would attempt to recapture Quebec the 

following spring, and in the Battle of Sainte-Foy, they forced 

the British to retreat within the walls. However, the French 

would never retake the city, and in 1763 France ceded most of 

its possessions in eastern North America to Great Britain in 

the Treaty of Paris.  

The decisive success of the British forces on the Plains of 

Abraham and the subsequent capture of Quebec became part of 

what was known as the "Annus Mirabilis" of 1759 in Great 

Britain.  

Overview 

As the Seven Years' War entered its later stages through 1758 

and 1759, French forces and colonies in northeastern North 

America came under renewed attack from British armies. In 

1758 after their defeat in July at the Battle of Carillon, the 

British took Louisbourg in August, causing Atlantic Canada to 

fall into their hands, and opening the sea route to attack 

Quebec. The British also captured Fort Frontenac in the same 

month, costing the French supplies for the Ohio Valley 

campaign. When some of the Indian supporters of the French 

made peace with the British, France was forced to draw its 

troops back. French leadership, specifically Governor de 

Vaudreuil and General Montcalm, were unsettled by the British 

successes. However, Quebec was still able to protect itself as 

the British prepared a three-pronged attack for 1759.  

James Wolfe expected to lead 12,000 men, but was greeted by 

only approximately 7,000 regular troops, 400 officers, and 300 
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gunners. He was supported by a fleet of 49 ships and 140 

smaller craft led by Admiral Charles Saunders.  

In preparation for the fleet's approach to Quebec, James Cook 

surveyed a large portion of the river, including a dangerous 

channel known as The Traverse. Cook's ship was one of the 

first ships up the river, sounding the channel and guiding the 

fleet as it moved up; Wolfe and his men landed on the 

Îled'Orléans on 28 June. The French attempted to attack the 

fleet by sending seven fire ships downriver to disrupt the 

landing, but the ships were set afire too early and British 

sailors in longboats were able to pull the flaming craft clear of 

the fleet. The following day, Wolfe's troops landed on the south 

bank of the river at Point Levis, nearly directly across the river 

from Quebec; an artillery battery was established there in early 

July that nearly leveled the lower town by bombardment.  

Despite an air of defeatism among the leadership, the French 

troops and New French militia defenders focused their 

preparations for British attacks on the Beauport Shore. 

Montcalm and his staff, Major-General François de Gaston, 

Chevalier de Lévis, Colonel Louis Antoine de Bougainville, and 

Lieutenant-Colonel de Sennezergue, distributed some 12,000 

troops in a nine-kilometre-long collection of fortified redoubts 

and batteries from the Saint-Charles River to the Montmorency 

Falls, along the shallows of the river in areas that had 

previously been targeted by British attempts to land. Before 

the British arrived, a small fleet of supply ships had arrived in 

Quebec with much-needed supplies. Those supplies, along with 

500 reinforcements, likely aided French resistance during the 

lengthy siege.  
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Wolfe, on surveying the town of Beauport, found that the 

houses there had been barricaded and organized to allow for 

musket fire from within; they were built in an unbroken line 

along the road, providing a formidable barrier. In addition, a 

screen of trees along the Montmorency River made an approach 

on that route dangerous. On 31 July, the first serious attempt 

by Wolfe's troops to land on the northern shore led to the 

Battle of Beauport, also known as the Battle of Montmorency. 

Approximately 3,500 troops, supported by a heavy 

bombardment, attempted to land but were fired upon in the 

river shallows. Members of the Louisbourg Grenadiers, who 

reached the beach, attempted a generally undisciplined charge 

on the French positions, but came under heavy fire; a 

thunderstorm ended the fight and allowed Wolfe to pull his 

troops back after taking some 450 casualties to Montcalm's 60.  

Some French officers felt the Montmorency defeat would be the 

last British attack; Vaudreuil wrote afterward that "I have no 

more anxiety about Quebec. Wolfe, I assure you, will make no 

progress… He contented himself with losing about five hundred 

of his best soldiers." He predicted another attack would come 

within days. Others in the French camp felt the campaign was 

over.  

For the remainder of the summer, Wolfe's focus changed, 

possibly due to frustration with Montcalm's tactics. Wolfe's 

troops, along with American Rangers, attacked and destroyed 

small French settlements along the St. Lawrence. An estimated 

1,400 stone houses and manors were destroyed, and many 

colonists killed. The effort was likely an attempt to force 

Montcalm's army out of its fortifications, but was 

unsuccessful. However, the attacks did reduce the number of 
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suppliers available to the French, especially as the British 

navy, unable to control the St. Lawrence entirely, was 

successful in blockading the ports in France.  

Preparations 

Through the summer siege, illness spread through the British 

camps. In August, Wolfe himself was bedridden, causing 

already low morale to slump even further among the British 

troops. With many men in camp hospitals, British fighting 

numbers were thinned, and Wolfe personally felt that a new 

attack was needed by the end of September, or Britain's 

opportunity would be lost. In addition, his frustration with 

Montcalm's defensive stance continued to grow. In a letter to 

his mother, Wolfe wrote, "The Marquis of Montcalm is at the 

head of a great number of bad soldiers, and I am at the head of 

a small number of good ones that wish for nothing so much as 

to fight him; but the wary old fellow avoids an action, doubtful 

of the behaviour of his army." Montcalm also expressed 

frustration over the long siege, relating that he and his troops 

slept clothed and booted, and his horse was always saddled in 

preparation for an attack.  

After considering and rejecting a number of plans for landings 

on the north shore, a decision was made in late August by 

Wolfe and his brigadiers to land upriver of the city. If 

successful, such a landing would force Montcalm to fight, as a 

British force on the north shore of the St. Lawrence would cut 

his supply lines to Montreal. Initial suggestions for landing 

sites ranged as far as 32 kilometres (20 mi) up the St. 

Lawrence, which would have given the French troops one or 

two days to prepare for the attack. Following the failed British 
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assault on Montmorency, Montcalm altered his deployment, 

sending Bougainville and a column of approximately 1,500 

regular troops, 200 cavalry, and a group of New French 

militia—some 3,000 men in all—upriver to Cap-Rouge to 

monitor the British ships upstream. He further strengthened 

his defences of the Beauport shore following the abandonment 

of the British camp at Montmorency, which he regarded as 

preparations for a descent (amphibious attack) on Beauport. In 

spite of warnings from local commanders, he did not view an 

upstream landing as a serious possibility.  

The British, meanwhile, prepared for their risky deployment 

upstream. Troops had already been aboard landing ships and 

drifting up and down the river for several days when Wolfe on 

12 September, made a final decision on the British landing 

site, selecting L'Anse-au-Foulon. L'Anse-au-Foulon is a cove 

situated west of the city, three kilometres upstream from Cap 

Diamant. It lies at the bottom of a 53-metre (174 ft) high cliff 

leading to the plateau above, and was protected by a battery of 

guns. It is not known why Wolfe selected Foulon, as the 

original landing site was to be further up the river, in a 

position where the British would be able to develop a foothold 

and strike at Bougainville's force to draw Montcalm out of 

Quebec and onto the plains. Brigadier-General George 

Townshend wrote that "by some intelligence the General had, 

he has changed his mind as to the place he intended to land". 

In his final letter, dated HMS Sutherland, 8:30 p.m. 12 

September, Wolfe wrote:  

I had the honour to inform you today that it is my duty to 

attack the French army. To the best of my knowledge and 

ability, I have fixed upon that spot where we can act with most 
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force and are most likely to succeed. If I am mistaken I am 

sorry for it and must be answerable to His Majesty and the 

public for the consequences. 

Wolfe's plan of attack depended on secrecy and surprise. His 

plan required that a small party of men should land by night 

on the north shore, climb the Promontory of Quebec, seize a 

small road, and overpower the garrison that protected it, 

allowing the bulk of his army (5,000 men) to ascend the cliff by 

the small road and then deploy for battle on the plateau. Even 

if the first landing party succeeded in their mission and the 

army was able to follow, such a deployment would still leave 

his forces inside the French line of defense with no immediate 

retreat but the river. It is possible that Wolfe's decision to 

change the landing site was owing less to a desire for secrecy 

and more to his general disdain for his brigadiers (a feeling 

that was reciprocated); it is also possible that he was still 

suffering the effects of his illness and the opiates he used as 

painkillers. Historians believe Wolfe ordered the attack 

believing the advanced guard would be repulsed, and 

anticipated dying gallantly with his men rather than returning 

home in disgrace.  

Order of battle 

British forces 

British forces engaged in the battle were commanded by Major 

General James Wolfe who commanded appx. 8,000 troops, of 

which only 4,500 men and 1 gun were taken to the Plains of 

Abraham.  



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 5 

1027 

British Army 

• Enpotence on the right flank – 35th Regiment of Foot 

• In reserve – 48th Regiment of Foot 

• Protecting rear – The Light Infantry (80th Regiment 

of Light-Armed Foot) 

Main Line under Major General James Wolfe  

• Louisbourg Grenadiers (3 Companies) 

• 22nd Regiment of Foot (only grenadier and light 

infantry companies) 

• 40th Regiment of Foot (only grenadier and light 

infantry companies) 

• 45th Regiment of Foot 

Right Wing under Brigadier General Robert Monckton  

• 28th Regiment of Foot 

• 43rd Regiment of Foot 

• 1 Light field gun provided by Royal Artillery 

Centre under Brigadier General James Murray  

• 47th Regiment of Foot 

• 58th Regiment of Foot (also guarding the landing 

place) 

• 78th (Fraser's) Highlanders 

• 1 Light field gun provided by Royal Artillery 

Left Flank under Brigadier General George Townshend  

• 15th Regiment of Foot 
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• 2nd Battalion, 60th (Royal American) Regiment of 

Foot 

• 3rd Battalion, 60th (Royal American) Regiment of 

Foot 

Colonials 

• The Light Infantry (80th Regiment of Light-Armed 

Foot) (protecting the rear) 

• 6 Companies of American Rangers 

French forces 

French forces engaged in the battle were commanded by Major 

General Louis Joseph de Saint Véran, Marquis de Montcalm 

commanding appx. 1,900 regulars, 1,500 militia and natives, 

and 4 field guns.  

Right Wing commanded by General Dumas  

• 2nd Battalion, Régiment de la Sarre 

• Montréal and Québec Militia 

• 2 field guns 

Centre under Major General Louis Joseph de Saint Véran, 

Marquis de Montcalm  

• 2nd Battalion, Régiment de Languedoc 

• 2nd Battalion, Régiment de Béarn (deep order, 

meaning they were not spread out) 

Left Wing under General Senezergues 
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• 2nd Battalion, Régiment de Guyenne (deep order) 

• 2nd Battalion, Régiment Royal Roussillon 

• Montréal and Trois-Rivières Militia 

• 2 field guns 

Landing 

Bougainville, tasked with the defence of the large area between 

Cap Diamant and Cap Rouge, was upstream with his troops at 

Cap Rouge on the night of 12 September, and missed seeing 

numerous British ships moving downstream. A camp of 

approximately 100 militia led by Captain Louis Du Pont 

Duchambon de Vergor, who had unsuccessfully faced the 

British four years previously at Fort Beauséjour, had been 

assigned to watch the narrow road at L'Anse-au-Foulon which 

followed a streambank, the Coulée Saint-Denis. On the night of 

12 September and morning of 13 September, however, the 

camp may have contained as few as 40 men, as others were off 

harvesting. Vaudreuil and others had expressed their concern 

at the possibility of L'Anse-au-Foulon being vulnerable, but 

Montcalm dismissed them, saying 100 men would hold off the 

army until daylight, remarking, "It is not to be supposed that 

the enemies have wings so that they can in the same night 

cross the river, disembark, climb the obstructed acclivity, and 

scale the walls, for which last operation they would have to 

carry ladders."  

Sentries did detect boats moving along the river that morning, 

but they were expecting a French supply convoy to pass that 

night—a plan that had been changed without Vergor being 

notified. When the boats, loaded with the first wave of British 

troops, were challenged, a French-speaking officer, either a 
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Captain Fraser or Captain Donald McDonald of the 78th Fraser 

Highlanders, was able to answer the challenge in excellent 

French, allaying suspicion.  

The boats, however, had drifted slightly off course: instead of 

landing at the base of the road, many soldiers found 

themselves at the base of a slope. A group of 24 volunteers led 

by Colonel William Howe with fixed bayonets were sent to clear 

the picket along the road, and climbed the slope, a maneuver 

that allowed them to come up behind Vergor's camp and 

capture it quickly. Wolfe followed an hour later when he could 

use an easy access road to climb to the plain. Thus, by the 

time the sun rose over the Plains of Abraham, Wolfe's army 

had a solid foothold at the top of the cliffs of the promontory of 

Quebec.  

Battle 

• The plateau was undefended save for Vergor's camp, 

as Vaudreuil had ordered one of the French 

regiments to relocate to the east of the city not long 

before the landing. Had the immediate defenders 

been more numerous, the British might have been 

unable to deploy or even been pushed back. An 

officer who would normally have patrolled the cliffs 

regularly through the night was unable to on the 

night of the 12th because one of his horses had been 

stolen and his two others were lame. The first notice 

of the landing came from a runner who had fled from 

Vergor's camp, but one of Montcalm's aides felt the 

man was mad and sent him away, then went back to 

bed. Saunders had staged a diversionary action off 
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Montmorency, firing on the shore emplacements 

through the night and loading boats with troops, 

many of them taken from field hospitals; this 

preoccupied Montcalm. 

Montcalm was taken aback to learn of the British deployment, 

and his response has been regarded as precipitate. Though he 

might have awaited reinforcement by Bougainville's column 

(allowing simultaneous frontal and rear attacks on the British 

position) or avoided battle while he concentrated his forces, or 

even yielded the city to Wolfe, he instead elected to confront 

Wolfe's force directly. Had he waited, the British would have 

been entirely cut off—they had nowhere to go but back down 

the Foulon, and would have been under fire the entire way. To 

an artillery officer named Montbelliard, Montcalm explained 

his decision thus: "We cannot avoid action; the enemy is 

entrenching, he already has two pieces of cannon. If we give 

him time to establish himself, we shall never be able to attack 

him with the troops we have."  

First engagements 

In total, Montcalm had 13,390 regular troops, Troupes de la 

Marine, and militia available in Quebec City and along the 

Beauport shore, as well as 200 cavalry, 200 artillery (including 

the guns of Quebec), 300 native warriors (including many 

Odawa under Charles de Langlade), and 140 Acadian 

volunteers, but most of these troops did not participate in the 

action. Many of the militia were inexperienced; the Acadian, 

Canadian, and indigenous irregulars were more used to 

guerilla warfare. By contrast, the British 7,700 troops were 

almost all regulars.  
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On the morning of 13 September, Wolfe's army formed a line 

first with their backs to the river, then spread out across the 

Plains with its right anchored by the bluff along the St. 

Lawrence and its left by a bluff and thick wood above the St. 

Charles River. While the regular French forces were 

approaching from Beauport and Quebec, the Canadian militia 

and native sharpshooters engaged the British left flank, 

sheltering in the trees and scrub; the militia held these 

positions throughout the battle and fell back on this line 

during the general retreat, eventually holding the bridge over 

the St. Charles River.  

Of the British troops, approximately 3,300 formed into a 

shallow horseshoe formation that stretched across the width of 

the Plains, the main firing line being roughly one kilometre 

long. Two battalions were deployed, facing north, to cover the 

left flank and a further two formed a reserve. In order to cover 

the entire plain, Wolfe was forced to array his soldiers two 

ranks deep, rather than the more conventional three ranks. On 

the left wing, regiments under Townshend exchanged fire with 

the militia in the scrub and captured a small collection of 

houses and gristmill to anchor the line. The defenders pushed 

the British from one house, but were repelled and, in retreat, 

lit several houses on fire to keep them out of enemy hands. 

Smoke from these fires wound up masking the British left, and 

may have confused Montcalm as to the width of the lines. As 

Wolfe's men waited for the defenders, the steady fire became 

intense enough that Wolfe ordered his men to lie down amid 

the high grass and brush.  

As French troops arrived from Beauport, Montcalm, one of few 

mounted men on the field, decided that a swift assault was the 
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only way to dislodge the British from their position. 

Accordingly, he deployed the forces immediately available in 

and near Quebec City and prepared an immediate attack, 

without waiting for further reinforcements from the Beauport 

shore. He arrayed his approximately 3,500 soldiers into place, 

his best regulars three deep, others six deep and his poorest 

regiment in column. At approximately 10 a.m., Montcalm, 

riding his dark horse and waving his sword to encourage his 

men, ordered a general advance on the British line.  

As a European-trained military leader, Montcalm's instinct was 

for large, set-piece battles in which regiments and soldiers 

moved in precise order. Such actions required a disciplined 

soldiery, painstakingly drilled for as long as 18 months on the 

parade ground, trained to march in time, change formation at a 

word, and retain cohesion in the face of bayonet charges and 

musket volleys. Though his regular regiments (the "troupes de 

terre" or "metropolitans") were adept at such formal warfare, in 

the course of the campaign their ranks had been replenished 

by less professional militiamen, whose talents at forest warfare 

emphasised the individual: they tended to fire early and then 

drop to the ground to reload, thus reducing the effect of 

concentrated fire at close range.  

Main engagement 

As the French approached, the British lines held their fire. 

Wolfe had devised a firing method for stopping French column 

advances in 1755 that called for the centre—in this case, the 

43rd and 47th Foot regiments—to hold fire while waiting for 

the advancing force to approach within 30 yards (27 m), then 

open fire at close range.  
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The French held their fire and both armies waited for two or 

three minutes. The French finally fired two disorganized 

volleys.  

Wolfe had ordered his soldiers to charge their muskets with 

two balls each in preparation for the engagement. Captain 

John Knox, serving with the 43rd Foot, wrote in his journal 

that as the French came within range, the regiments "gave 

them, with great calmness, as remarkable a close and heavy 

discharge as I ever saw". After the first volley, the British lines 

marched forward a few paces towards the shocked French force 

and fired a second general volley that shattered the attackers 

and sent them into retreat.  

Wolfe, positioned with the 28th Foot and the Louisbourg 

Grenadiers, had moved to a rise to observe the battle; he had 

been struck in the wrist early in the fight, but had wrapped the 

injury and continued on. Volunteer James Henderson, with the 

Louisbourg Grenadiers, had been tasked with holding the hill, 

and reported afterwards that within moments of the command 

to fire, Wolfe was struck with two shots, one low in the 

stomach and the second, a mortal wound in the chest. Knox 

wrote that one of the soldiers near Wolfe shouted "They run, 

see how they run." Wolfe, on the ground, opened his eyes and 

asked who was running. Upon being told that the French had 

broken, he gave several orders, then turned on his side and 

said "Now, God be praised, I will die in peace", and died.  

With Wolfe dead and several other key officers injured, British 

troops fell into a disorganised pursuit of the retreating French 

troops. The 78th Fraser Highlanders were ordered by Brigadier-

General James Murray to pursue the French with their swords, 
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but were met near the city by a heavy fire from a floating 

battery covering the bridge over the St. Charles River as well 

as militia that remained in the trees. The 78th took the highest 

number of casualties of all British units in the battle.  

An eyewitness with the 78th Highlanders (Dr. Robert 

Macpherson) wrote three days after the battle:  

The Highlanders pursued them to the very Sally Port of the 

town. The Highlanders returned towards the main body. When 

the highlanders were gathered together, they lay'd on a 

separate attack against a large body of Canadians on our flank 

that were posted in a small village and a Bush of woods. Here, 

after a wonderful escape all day, we suffered great loss both in 

Officers and men but at last drove them under the cover of 

their cannon which likeways did us considerable loss. 

Townshend took charge of the British forces and realised that 

Bougainville's column was approaching from the British rear, 

having taken some time to arrive from Cap Rouge.  

He quickly formed up two battalions from the confused troops 

on the field and turned them to meet the oncoming French, a 

day-saving manoeuvre; instead of attacking with a well rested 

and ready force, Bougainville retreated while the rest of 

Montcalm's army slipped back across the St. Charles.  

During the retreat, Montcalm, still mounted, was struck by 

either canister shot from the British artillery or repeated 

musket fire, suffering injuries to the lower abdomen and thigh. 

He was able to make it back into the city, but his wounds were 

mortal and he died at the wee hours the next morning. A few 

moments before he drew his last breath, Montcalm asked his 
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surgeon how much time he had to live. "A few hours," he was 

answered. "All the better," he said, "I will not see the British in 

Quebec." He was buried in a shell crater left in the floor of the 

Ursuline chapel by a British shell. In terms of casualties the 

British suffered 658 killed or wounded, of these, sixty one 

officers and men were killed and 597 were wounded. The 

French, on the other hand, had suffered around 644 to 716 

killed or wounded, among those thirteen officers, and a further 

350 men were taken prisoner.  

Aftermath 

In the wake of the battle, a state of confusion spread through 

the French troops. Governor de Vaudreuil, who later wrote to 

his government and put the full blame for the French rout on 

the deceased Montcalm, decided to abandon Quebec and the 

Beauport shore, ordering all of his forces to march west and 

eventually join up with Bougainville, leaving the garrison in 

Quebec under the command of Jean-Baptiste Nicolas Roch de 

Ramezay.  

Meanwhile, the British, first under the command of Townshend 

and later with Murray in charge, settled in to besiege the city 

in conjunction with Saunders' fleet.  

Within days, on 18 September, de Ramezay, Townshend and 

Saunders signed the Articles of Capitulation of Quebec and the 

city was turned over to British control. The remaining French 

forces positioned themselves on the Jacques-Cartier River west 

of the city. The British Navy was forced to leave the St. 

Lawrence shortly after the capture of Quebec, lest pack ice 

close the mouth of the river.  
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The next April, before the ice left the rivers, the Chevalier de 

Lévis, Montcalm's successor as French commander, marched 

his 7,000 troops to Quebec. James Murray, the British 

commander, had experienced a terrible winter, in which scurvy 

had reduced his garrison to only 4,000. On 28 April, Lévis' 

forces met and defeated the British at the Battle of Sainte-Foy, 

immediately west of the city (near the site of Université Laval 

today). This battle proved bloodier than that of the Plains of 

Abraham, with about 850 casualties on the French side and 

1,100 on the British side. The French had defeated the British, 

but the British were able to withdraw within the walls of 

Quebec, to which the French laid siege. A lack of artillery and 

ammunition, combined with British improvements to the 

fortifications, meant that the French were unable to take the 

city by storm. Both sides awaited reinforcements from Europe. 

The first ships to arrive, in mid-May, were part of a British 

fleet which had defeated Levis' support ships. The success of 

the French army's offensive against Quebec in the spring of 

1760 had depended on the dispatch of a French armada, with 

fresh troops and supplies. A naval battle fought at Quiberon 

Bay, just off the coast of France, proved the decisive battle for 

this part of New France. The Royal Navy destroyed the French 

fleet, meaning France could not send a reserve force to save 

New France.  

At Montréal that September, Lévis and 2,000 troops were 

confronted with 17,000 British and American troops. The 

French capitulated on 8 September, and the British took 

possession of Montreal. The Treaty of Paris was signed in 1763 

to end the war and gave possession of parts of New France to 

Great Britain, including Canada and the eastern half of French 



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 5 

1038 

Louisiana—lying between the Mississippi River and the 

Appalachian Mountains.  

Legacy 

In 2009, a number of activities were proposed to commemorate 

the 250th anniversary of the Battle of the Plains of Abraham. A 

plan to hold a reenactment of the battle itself (as well as a 

reenactment of the subsequent French victory of 1760 at the 

Battle of Sainte-Foy) was cancelled due to threats of public 

disorder. Leaders of separatist parties described the event as a 

slap in the face for Quebecers of French ancestry and as an 

insult for the francophone majority.  

Some sovereigntist groups threatened or made indirect threats 

by stating that if the event took place, there could be violence. 

The movement against re-enactment and these threats of 

violence led the National Battlefields Commission to cancel the 

event.  

Another commemorative event was proposed for the 

anniversary, the Moulin à paroles. Thousands gathered on the 

Plains of Abraham to listen to recitations of 140 significant 

texts from Quebec history, including the 1970 FLQ Manifesto. 

The inclusion of that document in the event led to 

condemnations and a boycott from federalist politicians and 

the withdrawal of some government funding for the event. The 

Moulin à paroles took place without incident.  

During building within the Old City of Quebec, a cannonball 

was found which is believed to have been fired during the 

siege.  
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Trivia 

According to a myth, Wolfe sang the soldier song How Stands 

the Glass Around the night before the battle. Due to that myth, 

said song is also called General Wolfe’s Song.  


	Cover
	Title page
	Copyright
	Contents
	Chapter 33 French and Indian War
	Chapter 34 Seven Years' War
	Chapter 35 Battle of Jumonville Glen
	Chapter 36 Albany Congress
	Chapter 37 Columbia University 
	Chapter 38 Siege of Fort William Henry
	Chapter 39 Siege of Louisbourg (1758)
	Chapter 40 Battle of Fort Frontenac, Battle of Fort Duquesne and Baptists
	Chapter 41 Battle of the Plains of Abraham

